HEALTH SCIENCES

VUOKKO AARNIO

Functions of AHR-1 and CYP-35A Subfamily Genes in Caenorhabditis elegans

Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences



VUOKKO AARNIO

Functions of AHR-1 and CYP-35A Subfamily Genes in Caenorhabditis elegans

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland for public examination in Auditorium SN201, Snellmania building, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, on Tuesday, July 29th 2014, at 12 noon

> Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences Number 239

Department of Neurobiology, A. I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland Kuopio 2014 Grano Oy Kuopio, 2014

Series Editors: Professor Veli-Matti Kosma, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Pathology Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Hannele Turunen, Ph.D. Department of Nursing Science Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Olli Gröhn, Ph.D. A.I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Kai Kaarniranta, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Ophthalmology Faculty of Health Sciences

Lecturer Veli-Pekka Ranta, Ph.D. (pharmacy) School of Pharmacy Faculty of Health Sciences

> Distributor: University of Eastern Finland Kuopio Campus Library P.O.Box 1627 FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland http://www.uef.fi/kirjasto

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-1507-8 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-1508-5 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

Author's address:	Department of Neurobiology, A. I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Supervisors:	Research Director Garry Wong, Ph.D. Department of Neurobiology, A. I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Professor Hannu Raunio, M.D., Ph.D. School of Pharmacy University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Senior Scientist Risto Juvonen, Ph.D. School of Pharmacy University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Reviewers:	Professor Hilde Nilsen, Ph.D. Department of Clinical Molecular Biology University of Oslo NORDBYHAGEN NORWAY
	Professor Michael Denison, Ph.D. Department of Environmental Toxicology University of California, Davis DAVIS USA
Opponent:	Docent Carina Holmberg-Still, Ph.D. Research Programs Unit, Translational Cancer Biology & Institute of Biomedicine University of Helsinki HELSINKI FINLAND



Aarnio, Vuokko Maria Functions of AHR-1 and CYP-35A Subfamily Genes in *Caenorhabditis elegans* University of Eastern Finland, Faculty of Health Sciences Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences 239. 2014. 79 p.

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-1507-8 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-1508-5 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

ABSTRACT

Mammalian aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) is a transcription factor activated by aryl hydrocarbons including some environmental toxins. It regulates several important physiological processes. AHR target genes include members of the cytochrome P450 (CYP) protein superfamily. CYPs as a family metabolize a wide variety of substrates including drugs and toxins but also endogenous compounds such as steroids and fatty acids. The nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) is a simple multicellular model organism that can be used to study gene function. It has one AHR ortholog AHR-1 and 77 protein-coding *cyp* genes. While AHR responds to toxins only in vertebrates, the physiological roles of AHR and CYPs are likely evolutionarily conserved. The aim of the study was to investigate the basic physiological roles of AHR and CYPs in *C. elegans*. Loss-of-function mutants were studied using a combination of phenotyping, fatty acid profiling and transcriptomics. Another aim was to follow the development of transcriptomics methods and their usage.

The *ahr-1* mutant grew slower than wild-type and had defects in movement, egg laying and defecation. Its fatty acid compositions, as well as gene expression levels of the enzymes that control them, were altered. Gene expression profiles in the mutant supported the role for AHR in development and metabolism during the first larval stage and in regulation of neuronal function during the last larval stage. Loss of *cyp-35A* subfamily genes resulted in reduction of fat and altered expression of genes encoding enzymes that control fatty acid diversity. Fatty acid compositions showed small but statistically significant changes. The endocannabinoid N-arachidonoylethanolamine was increased in the *cyp-35A* subfamily genes. The use of microarrays for gene expression profiling in the neurosciences has grown until recently whereas RNA-seq is a new emerging method for this purpose.

In conclusion, the results indicate a role for AHR in neuronal development and function as well as in growth and metabolism. Both CYPs and AHR appear to be involved in the regulation of fatty acid diversity and possibly lipid signaling molecules. Many of the roles of AHR and CYPs are conserved between *C. elegans* and mammals. These physiological roles may help to understand the mechanisms of action of toxins and should be taken into consideration when assessing chemicals or before developing treatments against the adverse effects.

National Library of Medical Classification: QU 470, QU 475, QU 550.5.G4, QX 203, WH 190 Medical Subject Headings: Caenorhabditis elegans/genetics; Gene Expression Profiling; Transcription Factors; Aryl Hydrocarbon; Cytochrome P-450 Enzyme System; Fatty Acids; Microarray analysis



Aarnio, Vuokko Maria AHR-1:n ja CYP-35A5-aliperheen geenien toiminta *Caenorhabditis elegansissa* Itä-Suomen yliopisto, terveystieteiden tiedekunta Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences 239. 2014. 79 s.

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-1507-8 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-1508-5 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

TIIVISTELMÄ

Nisäkkäiden aryylihiilivetyreseptori (AHR) on transkriptiotekijä, joka aktivoituu aryylihiilivetyjen kuten eräiden ympäristömykkyjen vaikutuksesta. Se säätelee useita tärkeitä fysiologisia prosesseja. AHR:n kohdegeenejä ovat mm. sytokromi P450 (CYP) yläperheen jäsenet. CYP:t metaboloivat perheenä monenlaisia substraatteja kuten lääkkeitä ja toksiineja mutta myös endogeenisiä yhdisteitä kuten steroideja ja rasvahappoja. Nematodi Caenorhabditis elegans (*C*. elegans) on vksinkertainen monisoluinen malliorganismi, jota voi käyttää geenien toiminnan tutkimiseen. Sillä on yksi AHR-ortologi AHR-1 ja 77 proteiinia koodaavaa cyp-geeniä. Vaikka AHR reagoi toksiineihin vain selkärankaisissa, AHR:n ja CYP:ien fysiologiset roolit ovat todennäköisesti evoluutiossa säilyneitä. Tutkimuksen tavoite oli tutkia AHR:n ja CYP:ien fysiologisia perustehtäviä C. puuttui geeni, elegansissa. Mutantteja, joilta toimiva tutkittiin vhdistämällä fenotyyppianalyysiä, rasvahappoprofilointia ja transkriptomiikkaa. Toinen tavoite oli seurata transkriptomiikan menetelmien kehitystä ja käyttöä.

ahr-1-mutantti kasvoi hitaammin kuin villityyppi, ja sillä oli häiriöitä liikkumisessa, munimisessa ja ulostamisessa. Sen rasvahappokoostumukset ja niitä säätelevien entsyymien olivat geenien ilmenemistasot muuttuneet. Mutantin geenien ilmenemisprofiilit tukivat AHR:n roolia kehityksessä ja metaboliassa ensimmäisen toukkavaiheen aikana ja neuronien toiminnan säätelyssä viimeisen toukkavaiheen aikana. geenien *cyp-35A*-aliperheen puuttuminen aiheutti rasvan vähentymistä sekä ilmenemismuutoksia geeneissä, jotka koodaavat rasvahappokoostumuksia sääteleviä entsyymejä. Rasvahappokoostumuksissa näkyi pieniä mutta tilastollisesti merkitseviä muutoksia. Endokannabinoidi N-arakidonoyylietanolamiinin määrä oli kasvanut cyp-35A5mutantissa. Rasvahappojen 18:n9cis ja -trans syöttäminen vähensi cyp-35A-aliperheen geenien ilmenemistasoja. Mikrosirujen käyttö geenien ilmenemisen profilointiin neurotieteissä on kasvanut viime aikoihin saakka, kun taas RNA-seq on uusi kasvava menetelmä tähän tarkoitukseen.

Loppupäätelmänä tulokset osoittavat, että AHR:llä on rooli hermosolujen kehityksessä ja toiminnassa sekä kasvussa ja metaboliassa. Sekä AHR että CYP:t näyttävät liittyvän rasvahappojen moninaisuuden ja mahdollisesti rasvasignaalimolekyylien säätelyyn. Monet AHR:n ja CYP:ien rooleista ovat säilyneet *C. elegansin* ja nisäkkäiden välillä. Nämä fysiologiset roolit voivat auttaa ymmärtämään toksiinien toimintamekanismeja, ja ne pitäisi ottaa huomioon arvioitaessa kemikaaleja tai ennen kuin kehitetään hoitoja haitallisia vaikutuksia vastaan.

Luokitus: QU 470, QU 475, QU 550.5.G4, QX 203, WH 190

Acknowledgements

The work of this thesis was carried out during the years 2004-2014 at A. I. Virtanen Institute Department of Neurobiology and at Department of Biosciences, University of Eastern Finland (formerly called University of Kuopio).

This has been a long trek for me. The publication number I was my very first own science project, before I had even started my Master's thesis and long before I knew I would become a Ph.D. student. Officially I started in the beginning of 2007 at the Finnish Graduate School in Toxicology that funded me during 2007-2010 enabling the work for publications II and III (including many unpublished trials and errors, of course). After that, publication IV was supposed to be an easy piece but ended up taking the following three years. During this time I was lucky to receive grants from Finnish Cultural Foundation / North Savo Regional Fund, Emil Aaltonen Foundation and Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland all of which helped me to finish the last publication and finally write the thesis.

I am grateful to many people without whom this would not have been possible.

First and foremost I want to thank my principal supervisor Research Director Garry Wong, Ph.D., for carrying on with me all these years, being always available and having such a positive and caring nature. Whatever the problem, Garry has found a way to deal with it. Many of the ideas for this work also came from Garry.

I also thank my other supervisors Professor Hannu Raunio, M.D., Ph.D., and Senior Scientist Risto Juvonen, Ph.D., for support and providing a pharmacologist/toxicologist point of view in our helpful discussions.

I value the input of also the other members of my follow-up group for the Graduate School: Senior Researcher Merja Lakso, Ph.D., Docent Markus Storvik, Ph.D., and (during the early years) Docent Sami Väisänen, Ph.D.

Merja was also a key person in the laboratory. Thank you for being so hard-working and always ready to help. You have taught me a lot about many things and I could not have managed all the wet lab work without you.

Thank you Professor Hilde Nilsen, Ph.D., and Professor Michael Denison, Ph.D., for prereviewing the thesis under tight time constraints and for raising important questions.

I am honored that Docent Carina Holmberg-Still, Ph.D., accepted to act as the opponent in my thesis defense.

I greatly appreciate the contributions of all the co-authors (listed here in alphabetical order): Suvi Asikainen, Ph.D., James Callaway, Ph.D., Gundars Goldsteins, Ph.D., Liisa Heikkinen, Ph.D., Merja Lakso, Ph.D., Marko Lehtonen, M.Sc., Jussi Paananen, Ph.D., Juhani Peltonen, M.Sc., Kaja Reisner, Ph.D., Martina Rudgalvyte, M.Sc., Markus Storvik, Ph.D., and (again last but not least) Garry Wong, Ph.D.

During these ten years, there have been many members and visitors in the group of Functional Genomics and Bioinformatics. I am sorry I cannot mention all of you by name. Anyway, thank you each and everyone, you have all been collaborative co-workers and fun company.

Those of you who finished your Ph.D. before me (Markéta, Markus, Suvi V., Petri P., Suvi A., Miia, Kaja, Jussi, Mitja and Liisa), I enjoyed reading your theses and they helped me to get going with my own writing process. And best of luck to those of you who are still working on yours (especially Martina), I'm sure I won't be the last one!

Some of you have become close friends to me and the closest had to take the most. Markus, you deserve credit for your many different roles and your straight-talking contribution for the work. You will always have a special place in my heart somehow. Suvi A., thank you for first listening to my worries in the office and then staying as a friend and sharing my music enthusiasm. Actually, I feel like thanking the Kuopio music life I attended so persistently during the last few years for the good vibe although I don't really see how the "music life" would read any of this.

Finally I want to thank my family and relatives for being there despite the distances and supporting me in so many ways.

I also thank all my friends from childhood, studies, hobbies (the University choir and Paraboloidi) or through any other connections, for giving me other things to think about and creating balance in my life.

Kuopio, July 2014

Vuokko

List of the original publications

This dissertation is based on the following original publications:

- I Aarnio V, Paananen J and Wong G. Analysis of microarray studies performed in the neurosciences. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience* 27(3): 261-268, 2005.
- II Aarnio V, Storvik M, Lehtonen M, Asikainen S, Reisner K, Callaway J C, Rudgalvyte M, Lakso M and Wong G. Fatty acid composition and gene expression profiles are altered in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-1 mutant *Caenorhabditis elegans. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C: Toxicology and Pharmacology* 151(3): 318-324, 2010.
- III Aarnio V, Lehtonen M, Storvik M, Callaway J C, Lakso M and Wong G. *Caenorhabditis elegans* mutants predict regulation of fatty acids and endocannabinoids by the CYP-35A gene family. *Frontiers in Pharmacology: Predictive Toxicology 2: 12, 2011.*
- IV Aarnio V, Heikkinen L, Peltonen J, Goldsteins G, Lakso M and Wong G. Transcriptional profiling reveals differential expression of a neuropeptide-like protein and pseudogenes in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-1 mutant *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part D: Genomics and Proteomics 9:* 40-48, 2014.

The publications were adapted with the permission of the copyright owners.

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION	1
2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
2.1 Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR)	3
2.1.1 Molecular mechanisms of action	3
2.1.2 Activation of AHR	4
2.1.3 Physiological roles of AHR	5
2.1.4 C. elegans AHR	7
2.2 Cytochromes P450 (CYPs)	10
2.2.1 Structure and general function	10
2.2.2 Evolution of CYPs	10
2.2.3 Physiological roles of CYPs	11
2.2.4 C. elegans CYPs	12
2.2.4.1 <i>C. elegans</i> CYP-35A subfamily	13
2.3 Caenorhabditis elegans (C. elegans)	14
2.3.1 Basic biology of <i>C. elegans</i>	14
2.3.2 <i>C. elegans</i> genetics, genomics and transcriptomics	15
2.3.3 Lipid storage and fatty acids in <i>C. elegans</i>	16
2.3.4 Endocannabinoid system in <i>C. elegans</i>	18
2.4 Transcriptomics	20
2.4.1 Regulation of transcription initiation	20
2.4.2 Transcriptomics methods	21
2.4.2.1 Microarrays in transcriptomics	22
2.4.2.2 RNA-seq	22
2.4.3 Transcriptomics data sharing and standards	23
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	25
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	29
5.1 Microarray studies in the neurosciences	29
5.1.1 Microarray field grew rapidly and was used in many types	
of studies	29
5.1.2 Source material	29
5.1.3 Experimental designs often lacked replicates	30
5.1.4 Platforms, imaging systems and analysis software	31
5.1.5 Microarray data was not effectively shared in the early year	S
of the technology	31
5.2 ahr-1 mutant C. elegans	32

5.2.1 Mutant alleles of <i>ahr-1</i>	32
5.2.2 Slow growth, movement, egg laying and defecation	32
5.2.3 Alterations in fatty acid compositions and expression levels	
of fatty acid elongase and desaturase genes	33
5.2.4 Gene expression profile in L1 larval stage using microarrays	34
5.2.5 Gene expression profile in L4 larval stage using RNA-seq	35
5.2.5.1 gcy and fbxa family genes and nlp-20 were under-	
expressed	35
5.2.5.2 Putative XRE sites upstream of the under-expressed	
genes	36
5.2.5.3 Two catalase genes were modestly over-expressed	37
5.3 <i>C. elegans</i> CYP-35A subfamily	37
5.3.1 Sequence alignments of human and <i>C. elegans</i> CYPs	37
5.3.2 Fat was reduced in <i>cyp-35A1</i> and <i>cyp-35A5</i> mutant <i>C. elegans</i>	38
5.3.3 Fatty acid compositions and gene expression levels of	
enzymes that regulate them were altered in the <i>cyp-35A</i> subfamily	y
mutants	38
5.3.4 The endocannabinoid AEA was increased in the cyp-35A5	
mutant	39
5.3.5 Feeding with oleic and elaidic acids decreased the	
expression of <i>cyp-35A</i> subfamily genes in wild-type <i>C. elegans</i>	40
6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	41
REFERENCES	43
APPENDIX: OKIGINAL PUBLICATIONS (I-IV)	

Abbreviations

acetyl-CoA	acetyl coenzyme A	cGMP	cyclic guanosine		
acs-2	fatty acid CoA synthetase-2		monophosphate		
AEA	N-arachidonoylethanolamine	ChIP-seq	chromatin		
2-AG	2-arachidonoylglycerol		immunoprecipitation		
AHA-1	aryl hydrocarbon receptor-		followed by high-throughput		
	associated protein-1		DNA sequencing		
AHR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor	CIBEX	Center for Information		
ARNT	AHR nuclear translocator		Biology gene EXpression		
ATP	adenosine triphosphate	COX	cyclo-oxygenase		
avr-15	altered avermectin	C. remanei	Caenorhabditis remanei		
	sensitivity-15	CRISPR	Clustered Regularly		
bHLH	basic Helix-Loop-Helix		Interspaced Short		
BODIPY	boron-dipyrromethene		Palindromic Repeats		
CAGE	cap analysis of gene	ctl-1	catalase-1		
	expression	СҮР	cytochrome P450		
cAMP	cyclic adenosine	daf	abnormal dauer formation		
	monophosphate	dsRNA	double-stranded RNA		
CAR	constitutive androstane	E. coli	Escherichia coli		
	receptor	EET	epoxyeicosatrienoic acid		
CARS	coherent anti-Stokes Raman	EET-EA	epoxyeicosatetraenoic		
	scattering		ethanolamide		
CB1/CB2	cannabinoid receptor type 1/2	2-EG	2-epoxyeicosatrienoyl		
C. briggsae	Caenorhabditis briggsae		glycerol		
cDNA	complementary DNA	egg-1	egg sterile (unfertilizable) -1		
C/EBP	CCAAT/enhancer binding	elo-1	fatty acid elongase-1		
	protein	FAAH	fatty acid amide hydrolase		
C. elegans	Caenorhabditis elegans	FACS	fluorescence-activated cell		
			sorting		

fat-1	fatty acid desaturase-1	HETE	hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid		
FBXA	F-box A protein	HETE-EA	hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid		
FXR	farnesoid X receptor		ethanolamide		
FGED	Functional Genomics Data	him	high incidence of males		
	Society	HSP90	heat schock protein 90		
FICZ	6-formylindolo[3,2-	ICZ	indolo[3,2-b]carbazole		
	<i>b</i>]carbazole	L1 / L4	larval stage 1 / larval stage 4		
FLP	FMRFamide-related	LDL	low-density lipoprotein		
	neuropeptide	let-767	lethal-767		
FMRF	(Phe-Met-Arg-Phe)	lim-6	LIM domain family (LIN-		
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid		11, ISL-1 and MEC-3) -6		
GCY	soluble guanylate cyclase	LXR	liver X receptor		
GEET	glycerated	LOX	lipoxygenase		
	epoxyeicosatrienoic acid	LRO	lysosome-related organelle		
GEO	Gene Expression Omnibus	MAGE-TA	3Microarray Gene Expressior		
GFP	green fluorescent protein		Tabular format		
GO BP	Gene Ontology Biological	MDT-15	Mediator subunit-15		
	Process	MGED	Microarray Gene Expression		
GP CC	Gene Ontology Cellular		Database Society		
	Compartment	MIAME	Minimum Information About		
GO MF	Gene Ontology Molecular		a Microarray Experiment		
	Function	MINSEQE	Minimum Information About		
GOA-1	Go α receptor subunit-1		a high-throughput		
GPR	G protein-coupled receptor		SEQuencing Experiment		
GR	glucocorticoid receptor	MosDEL	Mos1-mediated Deletion		
grl-1	GRound-Like-1	MosTIC	Mos1 excision-induced		
HNF	hepatic nuclear factor		transgene-instructed gene		
hpo-30	Hypersensitive to POre-		conversion		
	forming toxin-30	MPSS	massively parallel signature		
HAH	halogenated aromatic		sequencing		
	hydrocarbon	mRNA	messenger-RNA		

N2	C. elegans wild-type reference	RNA-seq	high	throughput	RNA	
	strain		sequenc	ing		
NAE	N-acylethanolamine	RXR	retinoid	X receptor		
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine	SAGE	serial	analysis of	gene	
	dinucleotide phosphate		expressi	on		
NAPE-PLD	N-acylphosphatidyl-	SBP-1	Sterol	regulatory e	lement	
	ethanolamine phospholipase		Binding	Protein-1		
	D	SCD1	stearoyl	-CoA desaturas	se 1	
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor к-В	TBP	TATA b	ox binding prot	tein	
NHR	nuclear hormone receptor	TCDD	2,3,7,8-te	etrachlorodiber	izo-p-	
NLP	neuropeptide-like protein		dioxin			
NPR	neuropeptide receptor	TFIIA/B/	transcrip	otion factor II A	A/B/	
OP50	a strain of <i>E. coli</i>	TGF-β	transforming growth factor β			
OSM	OSMotic avoidance abnormal	TRPV	transient receptor potential			
PAH	polyaromatic hydrocarbon		vanilloid	1		
PANTHER	Protein ANalysis THrough	VDR	vitamin	D receptor		
	Evolutionary Relationships	XAP2	immunc	philin-like	protein	
PAS	Per-Arnt-Sim		hepatitis	s B virus X-ass	ociated	
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator-		protein	2		
	activated receptor	XRE	xenobio	tic responsive e	lement	
РСВ	polychlorinated biphenyl					
PTENpg1	phosphatase and tensin					
	homolog pseudogene 1					
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acid					
qRT-PCR	quantitative real-time PCR					
PXR	pregnane X receptor					
Rb	retinoblastoma protein					
RIP-140	receptor-interacting protein-					
	140					
RNAi	RNA interference					

1 Introduction

The field of molecular toxicology studies the effects of chemicals on living systems with the ultimate aim to develop toxicity tests and treatments against the toxic effects of chemicals. In this process it is essential to understand the physiological functions of the molecules that interact with xenobiotics. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) is a transcription factor that regulates the expression of several genes by binding to specific DNA sequences in their regulatory areas. Human AHR is inappropriately activated by environmental toxic aryl hydrocarbons. Animal knockout studies show that AHR regulates the development and function of many systems in the body (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1995; Schmidt et al., 1996). Genes regulated by AHR include some cytochrome P450 (CYP) genes. CYPs are a superfamily of enzymes that metabolize various exogenous and endogenous compounds and synthesize important signaling molecules. Chemicals from the environment or food can affect gene expression or enzymatic activity of CYPs and thereby interfere with their physiological functions (Amacher, 2010).

Caenorhabditis elegans (*C. elegans*) is a good model organism to study functions of genes. It is a ~1 mm long nematode with 1031 cells and a lifespan of three weeks. It is a multicellular, yet simple organism that is easy to grow, handle and store. Functions of genes can be studied in *C. elegans* using e.g. loss-of-function mutants that lack the functional protein of interest. *C. elegans* was the first multicellular organism with its entire genome sequenced and genomic microarrays are available for it. *C. elegans* has about 20500 protein-coding genes, and about 38 % of them have been shown to have orthologs in human (Shaye and Greenwald, 2011). The AHR ortholog in *C. elegans* is AHR-1 (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). It is required for normal neuronal development (Huang et al., 2004; Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004) but the molecular mechanisms of its function are not well understood. The nematode has 77 functional CYPs but a lot remains to be known about their function. According to earlier RNA interference (RNAi) studies, some CYPs are essential for survival and development in *C. elegans* (Piano et al., 2002; Kamath et al., 2003; Rual et al., 2004; Sönnichsen et al., 2005). *C. elegans* can provide a model system also in molecular toxicology.

As the genomic sequence is known for an ever increasing number of organisms the current challenge is to elucidate the flow of information from sequence to phenotype. DNA is transcribed to RNA which is then translated to protein. These processes and their regulation are often studied using high throughput methods. One such approach is gene expression profiling which measures the levels of different RNA species in a tissue at a given time on the level of the whole transcriptome. The most used gene expression profiling method so far is microarray technology, whereas high throughput RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) is an upcoming method. Some proteins produce metabolites such as lipids that are also important to the function of the cell. There is a growing interest to study these metabolites on a global level, and methods such as mass spectrometry have facilitated the study of cellular lipids.

In this thesis, the functions of AHR-1 and CYP-35A subfamily members were investigated in *C. elegans*. Phenotypes were characterized in mutants lacking functional *ahr-1* or *cyp-35A* subfamily genes and the role of AHR-1 and CYP-35A subfamily members in fatty acid synthesis was demonstrated by measuring overall fatty acid compositions and gene expression alterations in enzymes that control them in the mutants (**II** and **III**). The effect of the *ahr-1* mutation on overall gene expression was studied by identifying differentially expressed genes using microarrays (**II**) and RNA-seq (**IV**). In addition, the state of the microarray field and availability of microarray data were investigated in a systematic review (**I**).



2 Review of the literature

2.1 ARYL HYDROCARBON RECEPTOR (AHR)

Mammalian aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) is a ligand-activated transcription factor that belongs to the basic Helix-Loop-Helix/Per-Arnt-Sim (bHLH/PAS) family. It was first found as the molecule that responds to treatment with toxic aryl hydrocarbons by inducing enzymes that metabolize them (reviewed by Nebert et al., 1993). AHR is also generally accepted as the main mediator of the toxic effects of these compounds through aberrant changes in the expression of not only the well known enzymes but also several other genes under its regulatory control. Knockout studies have shown that AHR clearly has physiological roles beyond the toxin response, and its original ligands are thought to be endogenous. Current research focuses on the physiological functions of AHR. The following subsections will first review the molecular mechanisms of gene expression regulation by AHR, ligands and other possible ways to activate AHR, physiological roles of AHR with the main focus on studies in knockout mice or cell lines, and finally the AHR ortholog in the nematode *C. elegans*.

2.1.1 Molecular mechanisms of action

The classical function of AHR is to facilitate transcription initiation of its target genes by binding to their regulatory sequences in DNA. Unactivated AHR is located in the cytosol in a protein complex that contains a dimer of the heat shock protein HSP90 (Denis et al., 1988; Perdew, 1988), the co-chaperone p23 (Kazlauskas et al., 1999), and immunophilin-like protein hepatitis B virus X-associated protein 2 (XAP2, Meyer et al., 1998; Ma and Whitlock, 1997; Carver and Bradfield, 1997). AHR is typically activated by a ligand that binds to its PAS-B domain (Fukunaga et al., 1995). The ligand binding leads to nuclear translocation and dissociation of the complex (reviewed by Beischlag et al., 2008). In the nucleus, AHR forms a heterodimer with the AHR nuclear translocator (ARNT, Reyes et al., 1992) through its PAS-A, PAS-B and HLH domains and the heterodimer binds to specific DNA sequences named xenobiotic responsive elements (XREs) through the "basic" (b) region of the bHLH domain (Fukunaga et al., 1995). AHR is exported from the nucleus and degraded via the 26S proteasome pathway (reviewed by Pollenz, 2002).

The XRE contains a core sequence to which the AHR:ARNT heterodimer binds. Denison et al. (1988) defined the core sequence as 5'-T[A/T]GCGTG-3' while Lusska et al. (1993) observed the sequence 5'-CGTGT-3' to be essential for AHR:ARNT binding and transcription enhancement. ARNT binds to the GTG nucleotides whereas AHR binds to the 5' portion of the XRE core (Bacsi et al., 1995). However, the core sequence, or the binding of the AHR:ARNT heterodimer to it, is not sufficient for the transcription enhancement function that also depends on the DNA sequence surrounding the core (Denison et al., 1988; Lusska et al., 1993). The most studied AHR target gene is CYP1A1 that contains multiple upstream XRE sites required for its transcription (reviewed by Whitlock, 1999).

The binding of AHR to the XRE in the CYP1A1 enhancer leads to nucleosome disruption that makes the promoter accessible for general transcription factors (Morgan and Whitlock, 1992). AHR and ARNT interact with general transcription factors such as TATA box binding protein (TBP) and TFIIF (Rowlands et al., 1996), subunits of the Mediator complex (Wang et al., 2004) and several coactivators that can be histone acetyltransferases (Kumar and Perdew, 1999; Beischlag et al., 2002), ATP-dependent histone modifiers (Wang and Hankinson, 2002) or other types of coactivators such as the receptor-interacting protein RIP-140 (Kumar et al., 1999; reviewed by Hankinson, 2005). Transcriptional activation by AHR requires a transactivation domain that is a large glutamine-rich area in the C terminal

region of AHR and contains several regions that function synergistically (Fukunaga et al., 1995; Rowlands et al., 1996; Ko et al., 1997).

AHR can also interact directly with other transcription regulator proteins to enhance or repress their target gene expression via binding to DNA. For example, AHR forms a complex with the retinoblastoma protein Rb (Ge and Elferink, 1998) and the complex represses transcription by another transcription factor E2F by binding to its promoters and displacing the coactivator p300 (Marlowe et al., 2004). AHR can also form a complex with E2F that induces E2F target gene expression (Watanabe et al., 2010). In addition, AHR can recruit unliganded estrogen and androgen receptors to their DNA binding sites and activate their target gene expression (Ohtake et al., 2003, 2008) while it has also been shown to repress the target genes of ligand-bound estrogen receptor (Klinge et al., 1999; Ohtake et al., 2003). Ligand-bound AHR forms a complex with the nuclear factor κB (NF- κB). This complex represses the target genes of both AHR and NF-kB (Tian et al., 1999) whereas unliganded AHR can form a complex with NF-KB that induces NF-KB target gene expression (Chen et al., 2012). In addition, AHR in a complex with ARNT acts as a ligandactivated coregulator with an unknown protein that binds to a specific DNA sequence termed XREII (Boutros et al., 2004; Sogawa et al., 2004). Similarly, other transcription factors can modulate the expression of AHR target genes.

AHR can also modulate intracellular signaling pathways without binding to DNA (reviewed by Marlowe and Puga, 2005 and Haarmann-Stemmann et al., 2009). Treatment with the environmental model toxin 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) leads initially to activation of cytosolic kinases before induction of AHR target genes but also these initial effects are AHR-dependent (Enan and Matsumura, 1995; Dong and Matsumura, 2008, 2009). Moreover, AHR without an exogenous ligand forms a complex with the D-cyclin-dependent kinase 4 that phosphorylates the retinoblastoma protein (Rb) preventing it from repressing E2F target genes (Barhoover et al., 2010).

Another function of AHR is that it promotes proteasomal degradation of specific target proteins such as estrogen and androgen receptors. Ligand-bound AHR recognizes the proteins to be degraded and functions in an ubiquitin ligase E3 complex. The complex recruits E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes that add ubiquitin molecules to the target proteins. The added ubiquitins are recognized by the 26S proteasome leading to protein degradation (Ohtake et al., 2007, 2008, 2009).

2.1.2 Activation of AHR

AHR has several ligands, some of which are synthetic, some endogenous and some dietary. The most classical ligands for AHR are the synthetic and exogenous planary compounds that contain benzene rings (reviewed by Denison and Nagy, 2003 and Nguyen and Bradfield, 2008). They include halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs) such as TCDD, 2,3,7,8'-tetrachlorodibenzofuran, 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene or 2,3,6,7-tetrachloronaphtalene; polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) such as, 3-methylcholantrene, benzo[*a*]pyrene or β -naphthoflavone; and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) such as 3,4,3',4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl. There are also "nonclassical" synthetic AHR ligands that typically also contain benzene rings but are somewhat different in structure (reviewed by Denison and Nagy, 2003). Among the known xenobiotic ligands, the HAHs are the most potent (pM to nM affinities) and TCDD is the most potent of them.

For a compound to be an endogenous AHR ligand it has to bind AHR at a relatively high affinity and also be present in high enough concentrations, at least locally, to activate the receptor. The local concentrations are not easy to assess and therefore most of the endogenous AHR ligands are still putative. The endogenous ligand with the highest affinity known is the tryptophan ultraviolet photoproduct 6-formylindolo[3,2-*b*]carbazole (FICZ) that binds AHR as well or even better than the prototypical xenobiotic AHR ligand TCDD (Rannug, et al., 1987, 1995). FICZ synthesis can be induced by UV-B light in a cell culture (Fritsche et al., 2007) and FICZ metabolites have been detected in human urine

(Wincent et al., 2009) suggesting that FICZ is present in the human body. FICZ is also a substrate of CYP1A1, an enzyme whose expression it induces through AHR, resulting in an autoregulatory loop (Wei et al., 2000). This resembles the "detoxification response" function of AHR in which xenobiotic AHR ligands induce genes that metabolize them. Other endogenous ligands include other tryptophan metabolites, indigoids, heme metabolites, 2-(1'H-indole-3'-carbonyl)-thiazole-4-carboxylic acid methyl ester, equilenin (horse estrogen), and the arachidonic acid metabolites lipoxin A4 and prostaglandin G (reviewed by Denison and Nagy, 2003 and Nguyen and Bradfield, 2008).

In addition, many of the naturally occurring AHR ligands are obtained from diet. These include carotinoids, flavonoids, 7,8-dihydrocutacarbine, dibenzoylmethanes, curcumin and indolo-3-carbinol that is metabolized to e.g. indolo[3,2-*b*]carbazole (ICZ) that resembles FICZ and binds AHR almost as well as TCDD (reviewed by Denison and Nagy, 2003 and Nguyen and Bradfield, 2008). Also the naturally occurring AHR ligands typically contain benzene rings but they can vary in their molecular structure (reviewed by Denison and Nagy, 2003). Some natural compounds such as certain flavonoids, resveratrol (Casper et al., 1999) or 7-ketocholesterol (Savouret et al., 2001) bind to AHR but are antagonists rather than agonists.

There is discussion whether AHR can also be activated without binding to any ligand. Suspension of cell cultures that reduces cell adhesion, alters cell shape and influences differentiation (Sadek and Allen-Hoffmann, 1994a and b; Monk et al., 2001), sparse cell density (Ikuta et al., 2004) or disruption of cell-cell contact (Cho et al., 2004) can activate AHR and its target gene expression. In addition, shear stress-modified low-density lipoprotein (LDL) can activate AHR (McMillan and Bradfield, 2004) although it is very different in structure and many times larger than all of the known AHR ligands. AHR is also activated by high glucose in a culture of endothelial cells and forms a complex with other glucose-activated transcription factors that have putative binding sites near the binding sites of AHR (Dabir et al., 2008). The activation of the complex involves glycosylation of at least one of the proteins. Moreover, cAMP has been shown to induce nuclear translocation of AHR and formation of a complex somewhat different than when AHR is activated by TCDD (Oesch-Bartlomowicz et al., 2005). However, involvement of an unidentified endogenous ligand cannot be completely ruled out in any of these cases. Phosphorylation of AHR by kinases such as protein kinase C (Carrier et al., 1992) or mitogen-activated protein kinases (Tan et al., 2002) has been shown to be necessary for AHR activation although it may not be sufficient (reviewed by Puga et al., 2009).

2.1.3 Physiological roles of AHR

Studies in knock-out animals have demonstrated that AHR has many important physiological roles. The earliest studies reported slow growth, liver defects such as smaller size, fibrosis and fatty metamorphosis, increased formation of blood cells and lower basal expression or uninducibility of enzymes (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1995; Gonzalez et al., 1995; Schmidt et al., 1996). The liver defects may be due to accumulated retinoid levels caused by downregulation of CYP enzymes (Andreola et al., 1997, 2004a and b), increased levels of transforming growth factor β (TGF- β , Zaher et al., 1998) or abnormal liver vasculature development (Lahvis et al., 2000, 2005; Walisser et al., 2004; Harstad et al., 2006).

Abnormal angiogenesis has been reported in AHR knockouts also in ischemia (Ichihara et al., 2007) or tumorigenesis models (Fritz et al., 2007, 2008; Roman et al., 2009). In addition, AHR knockouts have cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1997, Thackaberry et al., 2002; Vasquez et al., 2003). It may be due to increased levels of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α , (Thackaberry et al., 2002) or endothelin-1 (Lund et al., 2006) that increases reactive oxygen species in the heart (Lund et al., 2005) or decrease in the proto-oncogene Vav3 (Sauzeau et al., 2011). AHR knockout also affects blood pressure. Studies report both hypertension (Lund et al., 2003, 2008; Villalobos-Molina et al., 2008) and

hypotension (Zhang et al., 2010; Agbor et al., 2011) depending on e.g. altitude (Lund et al., 2008) as well as on the levels and responsiveness to angiotensin II.

One of the two knockout strains also had neonatal lethality and immune system defects (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1995; Gonzalez et al., 1995). Several studies show that AHR knockouts have reduced numbers of some types of immune system cells due to impaired formation or increased apoptosis (Gasiewicz et al., 2000; Veldhoen et al., 2009; Jux et al., 2009; Elizondo et al., 2011; Kadow et al., 2011; Singh et al., 2011, 2014; Qiu et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2013) whereas other types of immune system cells are formed in excess in the knockouts (Singh et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2013; Qiu et al., 2013; Gasiewicz et al., 2014). Certain types of immune system cells secrete interleukins that promote the development of other cells of the immune system. In AHR knockouts, some interleukins are increased (Rodríguez-Sosa et al. 2005; Shi et al., 2007; Sekine et al., 2009; Elizondo et al., 2011) and some decreased (Veldhoen et al., 2009; Elizondo et al., 2011) and some interleukin genes are direct targets of AHR (Jeon and Esser, 2000). AHR knockouts are usually more susceptible to infections but in some cells the lack of AHR can protect from autoimmunity (Nakahama et al., 2011).

AHR knockout mice also have several reproductive defects. AHR knockout females have lesions in the uterus (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1997) and decreased survival during pregnancy or lactation. Many the knockout pups also die during pregnancy or lactation (Abbott et al., 1999). AHR knockout females have a larger number of primordial follicles after birth (Benedict et al., 2000; Robles, et al., 2000) but a smaller number of antral follicles later in life (Benedict et al., 2000, 2003). The AHR defieciency decreases follicular growth and ovulation (Benedict et al., 2003; Barnett et al., 2007a), levels of estrogen and its receptors and follicular expression of genes promoting cell cycle (Barnett et al., 2007a; Hernández-Ochoa et al., 2010). Ovaries of AHR knockouts are also less responsive to pituitary gonadotropins (Barnett et al., 2007b; Hernández-Ochoa et al., 2013). Male AHR knockout mice have impaired prostate and seminal vesicle development (Lin et al., 2002). AHR is also required in normal sperm development (Baba et al., 2008; Hansen et al., 2014). In addition, AHR knockouts exhibit age-dependent regression of seminal vesicles, low testosterone levels, abnormal vaginal plugs and low fertility (Baba et al., 2008).

AHR knockout also causes some defects in the development and function of the nervous system. The knockout has reduced GABA receptor subtype $A\alpha 6$ expression in the cerebellum (Collins et al., 2008) and decreased GABAergic neuron differentiation in the ventral telencephalon (Gohlke et al., 2009). AHR knockout mice display impaired hippocampal-dependent memory as well as decreased formation, survival and differentiation of neurons in the dentate gyrus (Latchney et al., 2013). AHR knockout also causes involuntary eye movements due to visual or visuo-motor defects (Chevallier et al., 2013).

The endogenous AHR ligand FICZ is formed by UV-B irradiation in skin cells. UV-B causes a stress response in keratinocytes (Fritsche et al., 2007), a tanning response in melanocytes (Jux et al., 2011) and local immunosuppression (Navid et al., 2013) through activation of AHR. AHR knockout keratinocytes are also more susceptible to UVB-induced apoptosis than wild-type cells (Frauenstein et al., 2013). In addition, activation of AHR by FICZ and other tryptophan photoproduct ligands may play a role in the circadian timing system in the brain, possibly by mediating a response to light. FICZ alters the circadian expression of clock genes in a suprachiasmatic nucleus cell line and inhibits glucose-induced shift in electrical activity rhythm in brain slices (Mukai and Tischkau, 2007). AHR knockout mice have an increased response to light (Xu et al., 2013) whereas xenobiotic AHR agonists decrease light-induced phase shifts in wild-type (Mukai et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2013).

Activation of AHR affects body weight and fat mass. HAHs such as TCDD typically cause a wasting syndrome with decreased weight and fat mass (reviewed by Poland and Knutson, 1982) whereas PCBs have been obesogenic in some studies (Arsenescu et al., 2008;

Rashid et al., 2013; Wahlang et al., 2013). AHR activation inhibits adipocyte differentiation and fat storage in mouse-derived cell culture systems (Phillips et al., 1995; Brodie et al., 1996; Alexander et al., 1998; Shimada et al., 2009). Another toxic effect of AHR activation is hepatic steatosis (reviewed by Poland and Knutson, 1982) through increased fatty acid uptake in the liver (Lee et al., 2010; Kawano et al., 2010, He et al., 2011; Angrish et al., 2012). AHR agonist treatment also alters lipid compositions in the liver, serum and adipose tissue (Angrish et al., 2011, 2013; Forgacs et al., 2012) as well as the expression of fatty acid transport, metabolism and synthesis genes (Boverhof et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2008; Forgacs et al., 2012; Wahlang et al., 2013). Moreover, mice with low-affinity AHR are less susceptible to diet-induced obesity than mice with a high-affinity AHR (Kerley-Hamilton et al., 2012).

AHR knockouts are often resistant to the toxic effects caused by treatment with xenobiotic AHR agonists (Fernandez-Salguero et al., 1996; Mimura et al., 1997; Dertinger et al., 1998; Peters et al., 1999; Shimizu et al., 2000; Vorderstrasse et al., 2001; Nakatsuru et al., 2004; Mulero-Navarro et al., 2005; Sagredo et al., 2006; Talaska et al., 2006; Curran et al., 2011, 2012; Lee and Riddick, 2012; Mejia-Garcia et al., 2013). However, AHR knockout affects many of the same biological processes as the xenobiotic ligands (reviewed by Poland and Knutson, 1982 and Bock and Köhle, 2006).

As a summary, the lack of functional AHR affects many systems in the body. This can be due to defects in other systems on the organ level, defects in cell cycle, differentiation or apoptosis, differential expression of AHR target genes, lack of metabolism of specific compounds, or interference with hormonal systems.

2.1.4 C. elegans AHR

The ortholog of AHR in *C. elegans* is AHR called AHR-1 (aryl hydrocarbon receptor-related, Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). The AHR-1 peptide is ~600 amino acids long and shares approximately 38 % identity with human AHR over the first 400 amino acids including the bHLH, PAS-A and PAS-B domains while the carboxyterminals are less similar. *C. elegans* AHR-1 does not have a similar glutamine-rich transcriptional activation domain as in mammalian AHR. However, carboxyterminal regions are likely required for transcriptional activation as suggested by experiments in a yeast expression system.

Orthologs for ARNT and HSP90 are also found in *C. elegans*, called AHA-1 (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998) and DAF-21 (Birnby et al., 2000), respectively. AHR-1 and AHA-1 bind as a dimer to the XRE core sequence TGCGTG *in vitro*. The binding is sequence-specific as the AHR-1-AHA-1 dimer does not bind to a modified XRE core sequence with one G nucleotide changed to A. Inter-species complex formation is also possible *in vitro*: *C. elegans* AHA-1 can form a complex with murine AHR and bind to DNA. Similarly, *C. elegans* AHR-1 can form a heterodimer with human ARNT that binds to the XRE. In addition, *C. elegans* AHR-1 binds to rabbit HSP90 (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998) but not to mouse XAP2 (Bell and Poland, 2000).

The main difference between the nematode and human AHR proteins is that *C. elegans* AHR-1 does not bind a TCDD analog ¹²⁵IN₃Br₂DD and is not activated by β -naphthoflavone in a yeast expression system (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). In fact, none of the known invertebrate AHR orthologs in *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Mya arenaria* (soft cell clam), appear to bind TCDD or β -naphthoflavone (Butler et al., 2001; Crews and Brenman, 2006). Moreover, a metabolic response to xenobiotics in the study by Jones et al. (2013) was not dependent on AHR-1. This suggests that the ancestral role of AHR is not in adaptive toxin response. Neither exogenous nor endogenous ligands are currently known for invertebrate AHR. *C. elegans* AHR-1 is not constitutively active in a yeast expression system unless the PAS domain is removed (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). This suggests that AHR-1 requires some kind of post-translational activation. However, it is not known whether the activation is achieved through a ligand or another mechanism. If there are ligands for *C. elegans* AHR-1 they are likely different from those in mammals.

The *ahr-1* gene is expressed in various neurons, blast cells and phasmid socket cells during embryogenesis and larval development (Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004). The neurons are of various types and utilize different neurotransmitters (**Table 1**). Blast cells are precursor cells destined to divide some time after hatching. Phasmid socket cells envelop sensory neurons in a posterior sensory structure called phasmid.

Table	1.	С.	elegans	neurons	that	express	ahr-1.	А	question	mark	indicates	that	the
neurot	rans	smit	ter has n	ot been co	onfirm	ed.							

Neuron	Location	Neurotransmitter	Туре
ALNR/ALNL	tail	acetylcholine	sensory (oxygen)
AQR/PQR	pharynx and tail	unknown	sensory (oxygen)
AVM/PVM	anterior body	glutamate	sensory (touch)
BDUR/BDUL	anterior body	neuropeptide-like proteins	interneurons
PLMR/PLML	tail	glutamate	sensory (touch)
PLNR/PLNL	tail	acetylcholine	interneurons
PHCL/PHCR	tail	dopamine	sensory (temperature)
PVWL/PVWR	tail	unknown	interneurons
RMEL/RMER	nerve ring	GABA	motor
SDQR	anterior body	unknown	interneuron
SDQL	posterior body	unknown	interneuron
URXR/URXL	head	neuropeptide-like proteins	sensory (oxygen)
M1	pharynx	acetylcholine?	motor
13	pharynx	neuropeptide-like protein?	interneuron
ASKL/ASKR	head	glutamate	sensory (chemo)
RIPL/RIPR	ring/pharynx	unknown	interneurons

Mutations of AHR-1 affect several aspects of neuronal development (Huang et al., 2004; Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004; Smith et al., 2013). For example, AHR-1 is required for the cell fate of GABAergic neurons in the L1 larval stage (Huang et al., 2004). The four GABAergic RME neurons in the nerve ring control head muscle movements in foraging behavior. AHR-1 is expressed in two of them, namely RMEL and RMER, but not in the other two, i.e. RMED and RMEV. These neurons can be distinguished based on their morphology and expression of marker genes: RMED and RMEV have posteriorly extending neuronal processes that RMEL and RMER do not have. Moreover, RMEL and RMER express *lim-6* and *glr-1* whereas RMED and RMEV express *avr-15*. In the *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant, RMEL and RMER have the neuronal processes and marker gene expression typical of RMED and RMEV. Ectopic expression of *ahr-1* in all RME neurons rescues the abnormalities seen in RMEL and RMER but in addition it causes RMED and RMEV to develop into cells with typical RMEL and RMER morphology and marker gene expression. The presence of AHA-1 is required for the AHR-1 function in specifying RME cell fate whereas DAF-12 is not required.

AHR also specifies the fate of AVM light touch sensory neuron (Smith et al., 2013). In *ahr-1* mutants the AVM neuron that normally has one simple unbranched process develops into a PVD-like nociceptor neuron with highly branched dendrites. AHR elevates the

expression of another transcription factor MEC-3 while simultaneously repressing MEC-3 target genes such as *hpo-30* that promotes denritic branching in PVD and in the abnormal AVM neuron. The *ahr-1* mutant has a weakened response to light touch of the anterior body. Instead, the abnormal AVM neuron responds to similar nociceptive stimuli as the PVD neuron and also evokes an escape response although it forms synapses with different neurons than PVD.

AHR-1 also appears to play a role in the regulation of cell and axon migration of certain neuron subtypes (Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004). In the *ahr-1(ia03)* mutant, AVM, SDQR and PLM neurons or their precursors fail to migrate to their correct position during the L1 larval stage more often than in wild-type. Qin and Powell-Coffman (2004) observed SDQR and AVM neurons to extend incorrectly projected axons and AVM to grow branched or too many axons in the *ahr-1(ia03)* mutant. This may be at least partially due to differentiation of these cells into PVD-like neurons as reported by Smith et al. (2013). In rare cases the *ahr-1(ia03)* mutant also has an extra neuron that expresses the PLM neuron marker *mec-18*:GFP, probably due to lineage defects or disrupted apoptosis in the mutant (Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004). Also AHA-1 function is required at least in SDQR migration. In addition, AHR-1 and AHA-1 are required for gap junction contact formation between BDU and PLM neurons (Zhang et al., 2013).

Qin et al. (2006) demonstrated that AHR-1 is involved in social feeding behavior in which nematodes form groups on the border of the bacterial lawn (de Bono and Bargmann, 1998). The *ahr-1* gene is expressed in four neurons that play a role in the regulation of social feeding behavior, namely URXR, URXL, AQR and PQR. Social feeding is regulated by nutrition and oxygen availability and inhibited by the neuropeptide receptor NPR-1 that suppresses the function of these neurons. Unlike wild-type N2 animals, *npr-1* loss-of-function mutants are social feeders in normal laboratory conditions. Loss-of-function of *ahr-1* or *aha-1* dramatically decreases social feeding in the *ahr-1* gene in only URX and two other neurons greatly increases social feeding in the *ahr-1; npr-1* double mutant suggesting that *ahr-1* is required mainly in the URX neurons to regulate social feeding but may also function in other neurons to modulate the behavior. Induction of the *ahr-1; npr-1* double mutant. This suggests that the suppression of social feeding in the *ahr-1; npr-1* double mutant. This suggests that the suppression of social feeding behavior in the double mutant is not due to irreversible developmental defects in URX neurons.

The URX neurons in the *ahr-1* mutant develop normal morphologies but express decreased levels of their specific marker genes *npr-1* and *gcy-32* as well as other *gcy* family genes gcy-34, gcy-35, gcy-36 and gcy-37 as seen with gcy::GFP reporter genes. The gcy family genes encode soluble guanylate cyclases that synthesize 3',5'-cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP). cGMP activates TAX-2/TAX-4 cGMP-gated sensory channels that promote social feeding in URX neurons (Coates and de Bono, 2002). Especially GCY-35 and GCY-36 may be key regulators of social feeding as GCY-35 likely acts as an oxygen sensor and functions as a heterodimer with GCY-36. However, transgenic expression of gcy-35 and gcy-36 in URX neurons is not sufficient to increase social feeding in the ahr-1; npr-1 double mutant. Thus, the regulation of these two genes is not the only mechanism through which AHR-1 regulates social feeding but AHR-1 may regulate other genes important for the behavior. Also the mechanism through which AHR-1 regulates the expression of gcy-35 and gcy-36 genes is unclear. The 5' flanking sequences of the gcy family genes contain putative XRE elements. However, even when mutations are induced in the XRE elements of gcy-35::GFP or gcy-36::GFP reporter constructs GFP is still expressed in wild-type background and under-expressed in *ahr-1* mutant background suggesting that the regulation of gcy-35 or gcy-36 by AHR-1 does not occur through the putative XRE sites.

In conclusion: AHR is an evolutionarily old protein that has been present before the divergence of vertebrates and invertebrates but toxin response is a relatively new function only seen in vertebrates. The old functions of AHR may include development but also

regulation of behavior in response to environmental cues as the study concerning social feeding suggests. The activation of AHR in invertebrates is still a mystery. *C. elegans* provides a simple model system for studying the evolutionarily old and possibly conserved functions of AHR.

2.2 CYTOCHROMES P450 (CYPS)

Cytochromes P450 (CYPs) are a superfamily of mono-oxygenase enzymes that are found in virtually all organisms including animals, plants, fungi, protists, bacteria, archaea and viruses (Gotoh, 2012). In eukaryotes they are expressed in mitochondrial membranes and endoplasmic reticulum whereas in prokaryotes they are soluble proteins. CYPs are known to oxidize a wide variety of both endogenous and exogenous compounds. From a toxicological perspective, understanding of the endogenous functions of CYPs is important as the induction of these enzymes with xenobiotics is likely to affect the physiological processes involving CYPs (Amacher, 2010). The following subsections will provide an overview of general CYP structure and function, evolutionarily prospects, role of CYPs in metabolizing endogenous compounds and *C. elegans* CYPs.

2.2.1 Structure and general function

The CYPs consist of an apoprotein and an iron protoporphyrin IX as a prosthetic group (reviewed by Werck-Reichhart and Feyereisen, 2000). The protoporphyrin has an iron ion in the middle whose oxidation-reduction cycle is involved in the catalysis of reactions. Cytochrome P450s were named after their absorbance maximum at 450 nm when the iron ion is in the Fe²⁺ form and the heme is in a complex with carbon monoxide. The core domain binding the protoporphyrin group located near the C terminus of the protein is highly conserved whereas other parts can vary greatly between different CYP proteins. A CYP protein contains several recognition sites for substrates. Even small mutations in these domains can result in the recognition of different substrates and the production of different metabolites. In addition, CYP proteins contain binding sites for the cytochrome b5 and NADPH-P450 reductase that provide electrons for the reactions catalyzed by CYPs, sites that can be phosphorylated by cAMP and a membrane insertion sequence through which the protein is attached to the endoplasmic reticulum or mitochondrial membrane.

General types of CYP-mediated reactions have been identified and include hydroxylations, epoxidations, demethylation, oxidative deamination, oxidation, oxidative dehalogenation and many others (reviewed by Guengerich, 2001). Generally, one atom of oxygen is incorporated into the substrate. CYPs perform phase I metabolism of drugs and toxins. In these reactions the substrate is prepared for Phase II metabolism enzymes. Sometimes the effect is detoxifying, sometimes bioactivating.

CYPs are regulated at the gene expression level by their substrates that activate transcription factors. Transcription factors known to activate CYPs include at least AHR, pregnane X receptor (PXR), constitutive androstane receptor (CAR), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR), farnesoid X receptor (FXR), liver X receptor (LXR), hepatic nuclear factors (HNF), glucocorticoid receptor (GR) and CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins (C/EBPs, reviewed by Tompkins and Wallace, 2007). The main xenobiotic-activated transcription factors that induce CYPs are AHR, CAR and PXR (Pelkonen et al., 2008; Amacher, 2010). Also endogenous substrates induce CYP gene expression through transcription factors. For example, steroid and growth hormones have been shown to regulate CYP gene expression (Waxman, 1988; Waxman et al., 1991) and retinoids activate retinoid X / vitamin D (RXR/VDR) receptors that induce CYP3A4 (Wang et al., 2008).

2.2.2 Evolution of CYPs

Currently more than 16000 CYP proteins are known (Gotoh, 2012). They are found in a wide variety of organisms including animals, plants, fungi, protists, bacteria, archaea and

viruses, although some species such as *Escherichia coli* bacteria lack them. The diversity of CYPs has arisen through gene duplications and probably gene amplifications, conversions, genome duplications, gene loss and lateral transfer (Werck-Reichhart and Feyereisen, 2000).

In CYP nomenclature, the first number denotes the CYP family and the following letter denotes the subfamily (Nelson, 2006). CYPs within the same family share 40 % identity in peptide sequence whereas CYPs within a subfamily have at least 55 % similarity (Gotoh, 2012). The last number identifies the CYP protein. CYP proteins may share as little as 16 % similarity according to an early review (Werck-Reichhart and Feyereisen, 2000). Humans have 57 functional CYPs and more than 59 CYP pseudogenes classified in 18 families and 43 subfamilies (Gotoh, 2012). The CYP battery in human is highly conserved among mammals and even among vertebrates. The largest CYP families in human are 2, 3 and 4, and some of these are even larger in other mammals such as mouse.

CYP families in different phyla, e.g. vertebrates, nematodes and insects, can be grouped into clans based on similarity (Nelson, 1998). CYPs within a clan may be derived from a single ancestor. Eleven animal CYP clans have been identified in total (Nelson et al., 2013). Humans likely have CYPs of the clans 2, 3, 4, 7, 19, 20, 26, 46, 51 and mitochondrial whereas nematodes and insects have CYPs belonging to clans 2, 3, 4 and mitochondrial (Baldwin et al., 2009). In human and nematodes, the largest CYP clan is 2, whereas in insects clan 3 is the largest. CYPs can also be classified on an even higher level into groups that contain similar CYP clans across e.g. animals, plants and bacteria (Gotoh, 2012). In addition, all CYPs belong to one of the two major classes, B and E. The class B is specific to prokaryotes and fungi, whereas CYPs of the class E are found in all organisms.

CYP families have emerged and been lost during evolution. One interesting CYP family is CYP51 required for one step of cholesterol synthesis. This family is evolutionarily old and found e.g. in bacteria, plants and human. However, it is not found in nematodes or insects that do not synthesize cholesterol *de novo*.

Some CYPs and transcription factors that control their expression or bind ligands synthesized by them may have evolved together. This has been shown for steroid hormone receptors and the CYP19A1 that synthesizes estrogen (reviewed by Gotoh, 2012). Whether it is true in the case of AHR and CYP1A1 is currently not known.

Some CYP families or subfamilies are phylogenetically stable typically having only one or a few members conserved across many species, whereas unstable CYP families have variable numbers of members in different species. It is believed that the stable CYP families are essential in the synthesis or degradation of endogenous substrates while the highly diverse CYP families metabolize xenobiotics or secondary metabolites (Thomas, 2007; Gotoh, 2012). CYPs that have endogenous substrates typically do not have many point mutations leading to amino acid alterations in their substrate recognition sites, whereas CYP families involved in xenobiotic metabolism such as CYP2 and CYP3 accumulate such mutations. There is evidence that CYPs originally metabolizing endogenous compounds have developed into CYPs that metabolize xenobiotics but Gotoh (2012) suggests that the opposite may be even more likely.

2.2.3 Physiological roles of CYPs

All mammalian CYP families metabolize endogenous substrates while xenobiotic metabolism is mainly carried out by families 1 to 4 (reviewed by Nebert et al., 2013). Generally, the substrates that CYPs biosynthesize, bioactivate, modify or catabolize are lipophilic. Some CYPs are essential for the production of endogenous compounds. For example, CYP51A1 is a lanosterol 14α -demethylase required in cholesterol biosynthesis (Strömstedt et al., 1996). Also several other steps in the production of different steroid hormones are dependent on CYPs (reviewed by Hu et al., 2010). CYP11A1 converts cholesterol to pregnenolone by side-chain cleavage and CYP17A1 catalyzes subsequent intermediate steps. CYP19A1 (aromatase) converts androgens to estrogens whereas CYP21A2 and CYP11B1 catalyze reactions in a different pathway leading to glucocorticoids

that CYP11B2 further converts to aldosterone. Sex steroids are also catabolized by members of the CYP3A subfamily (Waxman et al., 1988; Domanski et al., 2001). In addition, cholesterol is also a precursor of bile acids, and CYPs 7A1, 8B1, 27A1, 7B1, 46A1 and 39A1 are involved in the pathways of their synthesis (Lorbek et al., 2012). CYPs 27A1, 27B1 and 2R1 are required for the bioactivation of vitamin D (Wikvall, 2001) whereas CYP24A1 degrades it (reviewed by Jones et al., 2012). Some CYPs synthesize retinoic acid (Zhang et al., 2000) and others such as CYP26A1, CYP26B1 and CYP26C1 inactivate it by hydroxylation (Ross and Zolfaghari, 2011).

CYPs also metabolize fatty acids and lipid signaling molecules. Fatty acids released from membrane lipids by e.g. phopholipases can be converted into different classes of signaling molecules by e.g. cyclo-oxygenases (COXs), lipoxygenases (LOXs) and CYPs. CYPs typically metabolize fatty acids into hydroxyl and epoxy products that are called hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids (HETEs) and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs), respectively. CYPs have been shown to metabolize several fatty acids including at least arachidonic acid (20:4n6), docosahexaenoic acid (22:6n3), linoleic acid (18:2n6), α -linoleic acid (18:3n3), eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5n3) and adrenic acid (22:4n6, Konkel and Schunck, 2011). CYPs can also further metabolize the fatty acid-derived signaling molecules made by CYPs or other enzymes (reviewed by Nebert and Karp, 2008). CYP families responsible for the metabolism of fatty acids and their derivatives are CYP1, CYP2, CYP3 and CYP4, of which especially the subfamilies CYPs 1A1 and 1B1 are induced by AHR (reviewed by Nebert and Karp, 2008). The HETEs and EETs are potent signaling mediators and have a major role in cardiovascular and nervous systems (Iliff et al., 2010). They can activate ion channels, G protein-coupled receptors and PPAR nuclear receptors, some of which belong to the endocannabinoid system. For example, arachidonic acid can be epoxidized by CYPs into EETs that relax vascular smooth muscles through the activation of transient receptor potential vanilloid type 4 (TRPV4) receptors (Watanabe et al., 2003) or into 2epoxyeicosatrienoylglycerols (2-EG) that activate CB2 and CB2 cannabinoid receptors (Chen et al., 2008).

CYPs can also metabolize the endocannabinoid N-arachidonoylethanolamine (AEA) that is a fatty acid-containing signaling molecule derived from membrane phopholipids. Bornheim et al. (1995) found that liver and brain microsomes metabolize AEA into several unidentified products and the metabolism is carried out by at least CYPs from subfamilies 3A, 1A and 2C. Snider et al., (2007) demonstrated that CYP4F2 hydroxylates AEA into 20-HETE-ethanolamide (20-HETE-EA) in human liver and kidney microsomes, whereas CYP3A4 epoxidizes it into four different epoxyeicosatetraenoic ethanolamides (EET-EAs). Also the brain mitochondrial CYP2D6 metabolizes AEA into the same products (Snider et al., 2008). One of the products, 5,6-EET-EA is a potent agonist of CB2 cannabinoid receptors and more stable than AEA (Snider et al., 2009). Individuals have different alleles of the CYP3A4 gene, and proteins from the different alleles have been shown to oxidize AEA into different products (Pratt-Hyatt et al., 2010). In addition, CYP4X1 converts AEA into 14,15-EET ethanolamide (14,15-EET-EA, Stark et al., 2008). CYPs also metabolize another endocannabinoid, 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG), into glycerated epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (GEETs) that have vasodilatory functions (Awumey et al., 2008).

2.2.4 C. elegans CYPs

C. elegans has 83 *cyp* genes of which 77 are protein-coding and 5 are pseudogenes. The CYPs can be classified into 16 families and 26 subfamilies. Almost all of the *C. elegans* CYP families appear to be nematode-specific (Nelson, 1998) but they correspond to the clans 2, 3, 4 and mitochondrial found also in human (Baldwin et al, 2009). The clan 2 is highly expanded in *C. elegans* (Gotoh, 1998; Nelson, 1998) whereas only one *C. elegans cyp, cyp*-44A1, belongs to the mitochondrial clan. The same CYP clans are found also in other protostomes including insects (Feyereisen, 2006) supporting the theory that these CYP clans

diverged before the lines leading to nematodes and human (protostomes and deuterostomes) diverged about 670 million years ago (Ayala et al., 1998).

CYPs are required in several important physiological processes. The silencing of single *cyp* genes with RNAi causes alterations in survival, morphology, embryonic development, growth, larval development, dauer formation, life span, reproduction, movement, pharyngeal pumping, lawn leaving behavior, fat content, lipid composition and metabolism (Albert and Riddle, 1988; Jia et al., 2002; Piano et al., 2002; Ashrafi et al., 2003; Kamath et al., 2003; Murphy et al., 2003; Simmer et al., 2003; Rual et al., 2004; Sönnichsen et al., 2005; Kraemer et al., 2006; Ruaud and Bessereau, 2006; Ceron et al., 2007; Cui et al., 2007; Kim and Sun, 2007; Samuelson et al., 2007; Kinchen et al., 2008; Kleemann et al., 2008; Benenati et al., 2009; Coolon et al., 2009; Hannich et al., 2009; Schäfer et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2009; Jensen et al, 2010; Jeong et al., 2010; Karp and Ambros, 2011; Kashyap et al., 2012). For example, the silencing of the *cyp* genes 31A2 and 31A3 leads to failures in meiosis and embryonic development and they synthesize lipids that are essential for correct formation of eggshell (Benenati et al., 2009). In addition, CYP-31A2 is required in sperm motility (Kubagawa et al., 2006) and it negatively regulates the synthesis of prostaglandins (Hoang et al., 2013). CYPs are also involved in aging as several *cyp* genes are upregulated in dauer larvae and in long-lived *daf-2* mutants (McElwee et al., 2004).

One *C. elegans* CYP is known to be steroidogenic: CYP-22A1 a.k.a. DAF-9. It makes cholesterol-derived compounds such as dafachronic acids (Motola et al., 2006) and cholestenoic acids (Held et al., 2006) that act as ligands of the the nuclear hormone receptor DAF-12. CYP-22A1/DAF-9 plays in several pathways controlling e.g. dauer formation (Albert and Riddle, 1988), life span and gonadal migration (Gerisch et al., 2001; Jia et al., 2002).

Some *C. elegans* CYPs also synthesize fatty acid-derived signaling molecules (Kulas et al., 2008; Kosel et al., 2011). Especially CYP-29A3 and CYP-33E2 related to mammalian CYP2 and CYP2 families, respectively, metabolize the fatty acids eicosapentaenoic acid and arachidonic acid into hydroxyl and epoxy derivatives.

Various xenobiotics induce the expression of different *C. elegans cyp* genes (Menzel et al., 2001, 2005, 2007; Reichert and Menzel, 2005; Roh et al., 2006, 2007, 2010; Chakrapani et al., 2008; Hasegawa et al., 2008; Roh and Choi, 2011; Wren et al., 2011; Laing et al., 2012; Anbalagan et al., 2013; Peltonen et al., 2013) and the induction pattern is sometimes similar between the closest CYP homologs in *C. elegans* and human (Chakrapani et al., 2008). *C. elegans* CYPs have also been shown to metabolize xenobiotics such as PCB52 (Schäfer et al., 2009). It appears that CYPs can both eliminate toxins and mediate their toxic effects, as the silencing of *cyp* genes sometimes decreases and sometimes increases the sensitivity to toxic compounds (Menzel et al., 2005, 2007; Ruaud and Bessereau, 2006; Cui et al, 2007; Kim and Sun, 2007; Ayyadevara et al., 2009; Park et al., 2009; Leung et al., 2010; Roh et al., 2010; Roh and Choi, 2011).

2.2.4.1 C. elegans CYP-35A subfamily

Members of the *C. elegans cyp-35A* subfamily are induced by a wide range of xenobiotics (Menzel et al., 2001, 2005, 2007; Kwon et al., 2004; Reichert and Menzel, 2005; Roh et al. 2006, 2007, 2010; Chakrapani et al., 2008; Roh and Choi, 2011; Peltonen et al., 2013) suggesting that they are involved in xenobiotic response. The CYP-35A family members may also be targets for the toxicity of PCB52 that induces them as the RNAi knockdown of *cyp-35A1, cyp-35A3, cyp-35A5,* and *cyp-35C1* in a *cyp-35A2/cyp-35A4* double mutant background makes the nematodes more resistant to its reproductive toxicity (Menzel et al., 2005). Also the silencing of *cyp-35A2* makes the nematodes more resistant to the toxicity of fenitrothion (Roh and Choi, 2011) or nanoparticles (Roh et al., 2010). Although members of the *cyp-35A* subfamily have putative XRE sites in their 5' flanking sequences they are are not regulated by AHR-1 as they are expressed and induced by xenobiotics in *ahr-1(ju145)* mutants in similar levels as in wild-type nematodes (Menzel et al., 2005).

RNAi studies indicate that *cyp-35A2*, *3*, *4* and *5* are required for normal fat accumulation (Ashrafi et al., 2003; Menzel et al., 2007). Moreover, PCB increases fat accumulation in wild-type but not in *cyp-35A* subfamily mutants and this may be one of the mechanisms of its toxicity (Menzel et al., 2007). The *cyp-35A2* and *cyp-35A3* genes are expressed in the intestine which is a major location of fat stores. *cyp-35A2, cyp-35A3* and *cyp-35A4* may also play a part in dauer formation pathways as their silencing with RNAi leads to increased dauer formation (Jensen et al., 2010) and they are under-expressed in dauer-constitutive *daf-2* mutants (McElwee et al., 2003; Murphy et al., 2003).

2.3 CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS (C. ELEGANS)

Caenorhabditis elegans (*C. elegans*) is an about 1 mm long nematode widely used in research. Genome comparisons show that molecular and cellular pathways found in *C. elegans* are generally strongly conserved in higher organisms including human (Shaye and Greenwald, 2011). As a simple multicellular organism, *C. elegans* is especially well-suited to the study of gene functions and molecular and cellular pathways involving intercellular interactions of multiple cells. The nematode is also partially transparent which makes it good for live imaging experiments. In this thesis, *C. elegans* has been used in the study of gene function in e.g. the metabolism of fatty acids. Fat metabolism in *C. elegans* as a research model especially in genetics, as well as lipid homeostasis and a class of lipid signaling molecules called endocannabinoids in the nematode.

2.3.1 Basic biology of C. elegans

C. elegans consists of differentiated organs and tissues such as cuticle, hypodermis, muscles, nervous system, gonad and intestine. It is not parasitic like many other nematodes but naturally lives free in the soil in many parts of the world and feeds on micro-organisms. In the laboratory *C. elegans* is usually grown in room temperature on nematode growth medium agar plates and fed with bacteria. One commonly used food source is the OP50 strain of *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) that is auxotrophic for uracil and grows only in thin layers on nematode growth medium allowing the nematodes to grow, move, mate and be observed easily. Larger amounts of nematodes can be grown on plates or liquid media containing more nutrients and better growing bacteria such as the NA22 strain of *E. coli*. *C. elegans* also survives freezing at -70°C and can thus be stored for later use. As an invertebrate, it typically does not require legal permits for its use in research.

There are two sexes in *C. elegans*: hermaphrodite with sex chromosomes XX and male with one X chromosome. Hermaphrodites produce both oocytes and sperm and fertilize themselves but not each other. In self-fertilization, hermaphrodite progeny are about 500 times more frequent than males that arise spontaneously through an X-chromosome nondisjunction during meiosis. However, there are "high incidence of males" (*him*) mutant strains and the frequency of males can also be increased by incubating hermaphrodites at 30°C for 6 h and then allowing them to self-fertilized with the male's sperm and an equal amount of hermaphrodite and male progeny are produced. *C. elegans* clones established in the laboratory are genetically uniform (Brenner, 1974). Self-fertilization also enables the reproduction of mutants with severe behavioral or morphological defects that prevent mating.

The hermaphrodite lays eggs that hatch and develop through four larval stages, L1 to L4, each of which ends with molting. Each individual goes through the same cell divisions and apoptoses during embryonic and larval development finally resulting in 959 somatic cells in the adult hermaphrodite and 1031 in the adult male (Sulston et al., 1983). In case of limited food source, high population density, or high temperature the L2 larva may develop into an additional long-living larval stage, i.e. dauer larva, in which the living

functions are slowed down. The dauer larva can again develop into an L4 larva and adult. Normally the cycle from a newly laid egg to fertile adulthood takes about 2.5 days at 20°C and the development rate is highly dependent on temperature. One hermaphrodite has about 300 progeny through self-fertilization during its fertile period that last about 4 days. If the hermaphrodite mates with males the total number of progeny may be more than 1000. The entire life span of *C. elegans* is about 18 to 20 days at 20°C. The short reproductive cycle and life span make *C. elegans* well suited for studies that require assessment over an entire life span or several generations.

2.3.2 C. elegans genetics, genomics and transcriptomics

The use of *C. elegans* as a research organism gained momentum in the 1960's as Sydney Brenner saw its potential as a small, simple, rapidly propagating yet multicellular model organism for studying cellular development. He described its culturing and genetics methods in his classical article (Brenner, 1974) in which also about 100 genes that affect behavior or morphology were characterized.

In the traditional genetic experiments in C. elegans, gene function is studied by identifying and isolating loss-of-function mutants (reviewed by Kutscher and Shamam, 2014). In a forward genetics approach, mutations are induced randomly to the genome and phenotypes are scored before detecting the mutations causing them. Random mutations can be induced using a chemical mutagen, irradiation or insertion of transposons. In reverse genetics, mutations are identified before proceeding to phenotype assays. This approach can also start with random mutagenesis followed by screening for mutations e.g. with PCR. Targeted knockout of specific genes was initially not possible in C. elegans because homologous recombination via DNA injection to oocyte nuclei widely used in mammals is ineffective in the nematode. However, there are recently developed techniques for targeted gene deletion such as MosDEL (Frøkjaer-Jensen et al., 2010) and MosTIC (Robert and Bessereau, 2007) that utilize transposons, as well as systems based on zinc finger- or transcription activator-like effector nucleases (Wood et al., 2011) or the bacterial CRISPR-Cas9 endonuclease (Friedland et al., 2013). Also a technique using bombardment with DNA-coated gold particles (Berezikov et al., 2004) has been developed but not widely used. Mutant strains can be purchased from the Caenorhabditis Genetics Center.

A very feasible technique to silence specific target genes in *C. elegans* is RNA interference (RNAi) in which double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) leads to degradation of a target mRNA or blocks its translation (Fire et al., 1998). RNAi is systemic in *C. elegans* and can be induced by injecting, soaking or feeding the dsRNA to the nematodes (Tabara et al., 1998; Timmons and Fire, 1998). There are dsRNA libraries that represent a large fraction of all *C. elegans* genes and RNAi screens have been performed genome-wide to detect genes involved in specific phenotypes (reviewed by Lee et al., 2004; Kaletta and Hengartner, 2006). The disadvantage of RNAi is that it does not always silence the gene completely and some cell types, especially neurons, are resistant to it (Timmons et al., 2001).

Another way to study gene function is transgenesis that is relatively easy in *C. elegans*. Transgene expression can be directed to cells of interest using cell type-specific promoters. The traditional method is to inject the transgene to the gonad in a vector such as a plasmid (Stinchcomb et al., 1985; reviewed by Kadandale et al., 2009; Rieckher et al., 2009). To easily detect transgenenic animals, the transgene is often co-injected with a marker gene such as *rol-6* that causes abnormal movement or production of green fluorescent protein (GFP). The injected DNA is taken into oocyte nuclei where it replicates independently as an extrachromosomal array that is transmitted unevenly to progeny (Mello et al., 1991). To produce stable Mendelian inheritance of the transgene it has to be integrated into the genome by e.g. gamma or X ray irradiation. There are also new techniques that produce integrated transgenic lines that utilize microparticle bombardment (Praitis et al., 2001), transposons (Frøkjaer-Jensen et al., 2008) or the CRISPR-Cas9 system (Chen et al., 2013; Dickinson et al., 2013). Transgenesis can be used e.g. to model diseases by over-expressing a

disease-related gene (Kaletta and Hengartner, 2006), to rescue the function of a mutated gene in specific cells or to visualize the anatomic expression pattern of a gene of interest by combining its promoter to GFP (Chalfie et al., 1994; Dupuy et al., 2004).

C. elegans was the first multicellular organism with its entire genome sequenced (The *C. elegans* Sequencing Consortium, 1998). The relatively small genome of about 100 Mb is organized in six chromosomes including the X chromosome. *C. elegans* is predicted to have about 20500 protein-coding genes (WormBase, 2011). For comparison, the human genome is many times larger in size (3000 Mb) but the number of protein-coding genes (20700) is close to that in *C. elegans* (The ENCODE Project Consortium, 2012). However, the human genes produce a larger variety of mRNAs and proteins. Human orthologs have been identified for ~38 % of *C. elegans* genes (Shaye and Greenwald, 2011). Estimates about the proportion of human genes that have a *C. elegans* ortholog vary from 60 to 80 % but are not up to date (reviewed by Kaletta and Hengartner, 2006). An unusual feature of nematode genomes is that they contain polycistronic clusters of genes that are expressed under the control of one regulatory signal, resembling bacterial operons (Blumenthal and Gleason, 2003). About 15 % of *C. elegans* genes are estimated to be in such polycistronic clusters but these are typically genes that do not need to be regulated individually.

C. elegans has also been used in transcriptomics (Reisner et al., 2005). The early completion of the *C. elegans* genome project allowed the production of *C. elegans* gene expression profiling microarrays. Also other methods such as serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE) and more recently RNA-seq have been used. The main limitation of *C. elegans* in transcriptomics is that because of its small size, cell- or tissue-specific gene expression is difficult to assess. Typically, RNA for the experiment is derived from populations of whole animals. Specific cell types can be harvested by expressing GFP in them and subsequently isolating them with fluorescence-activated cell sorting (Christensen et al., 2002). Another technique is to co-immunoprecipitate poly(A)-RNA with a poly(A) binding protein expressed in specific cells (Roy et al., 2002). The use of single cells requires RNA amplification for which sophisticated methods have been developed (Hashimshony et al., 2012).

2.3.3 Lipid storage and fatty acids in C. elegans

C. elegans can also be used as a model to study lipids. It differs from mammals on a cellular level in that it does not have adipocytes. Instead, fat is stored as triacylglyceroles in intestinal lysosome-related organelles (Hermann et al., 2005) and in lipid droplets found in intestinal and epidermal skin-like cells (O'Rourke et al., 2009). Fat stores can be visualized with different methods such as Sudan black (Kimura et al., 1997, Ogg et al., 1997), Nile Red (Ashrafi et al., 2003; McKay et al., 2003), Oil-Red-O (O'Rourke et al., 2009; Soukas et al., 2009), boron-dipyrromethene (BODIPY) fluorescently labeled fatty acids (Mak et al., 2006; Klapper et al., 2011) or coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering (CARS) microscopy (Hellerer et al., 2007).

The fat stores are dynamically regulated and major regulatory pathways are conserved between *C. elegans* and human (reviewed by Jones and Ashrafi, 2009; Mullaney and Ashrafi, 2009). Fatty acids are taken up into the stores by diffusion and active transport, released by lipases and used for energy in a series of β -oxidation reactions (Zhang et al., 2010). An RNAi screen by Ashrafi et al. (2003) identified hundreds of genes that increase or reduce fat content in *C. elegans*. *C. elegans* responds to environmental signals such as availability of food. Neuroendocrine signaling systems regulate both behaviors and peripheral lipid metabolism in response to sensory cues. Such neuroendocrine systems include e.g. insulin (Kimura et al.; 1997, Ogg et al., 1997), serotonin (Srinivasan et al., 2008), TGF- β (Greer et al., 2008) and Tubby signaling (Mak et al., 2006). Other factors function directly at the sites of fat storage and can sometimes feed back to the nervous system. These include e.g. several transcription factors that regulate the expression of lipid metabolism genes (reviewed by Brey et al., 2009). Several classes of lipids contain fatty acids. Fatty acids vary in length and in the number and position of double bonds. In fatty acid nomenclature (Davidson and Cantrill, 1985), the first number refers to the number of carbons and the second to the number of double bonds. Saturated fatty acids do not contain double bonds, monounsaturated fatty acids contain one and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) more than one double bond. The denotion "n3" means that starting from the methyl end of the fatty acid chain the closest double bond is between the 3^{rd} and 4^{th} carbons, whereas in "n6" fatty acids it is between the 6^{th} and 7^{th} carbons. n3 can also be written as ω -3 (omega-3).

C. elegans takes up fatty acids from diet and synthesizes them *de novo* (Perez and Van Gilst, 2008). According to Zhang et al. (2010), the food source OP50 *E. coli* contains mainly palmitic (16:0) and stearic (18:0) acids. Palmitic acid can also be synthesized *de novo* from acetyl-CoA by acetyl-CoA carboxylase and fatty acid synthase (Rappleye et al., 2003). Unlike humans, *C. elegans* can create the long-chain PUFAs arachidonic acid (20:4n6) and eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5n3) from palmitic acid by modifying the fatty acids with desaturase and elongase enzymes that are sequentially named FAT-1 to 7 and ELO-1 to 8, respectively (Watts and Browse, 2002). **Figure 1** does not show all fatty acids in *C. elegans* but focuses on the steps required for the generation of arachidonic (20:4n6) and eicosapentaenoic (20:5n3) acids.



Figure 1. Synthesis of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids from fatty acid precursors by fatty acid desaturase and elongase enzymes in *C. elegans* (modified from Watts and Browse, 2002)

Palmitic acid (16:0) is elongated by ELO-2 to obtain stearic acid (18:0). The *elo-2* gene expression is required for e.g. normal growth, reproduction and biological rhythms (Kniazeva et al., 2003). Palmitic acid (16:0) can also be desaturated into palmitoleic acid (16:1n7) by FAT-5 (Watts and Browse, 2000). Stearic acid (18:0) is desaturated into oleic acid
(18:1n9) by the desaturases FAT-5, FAT-6 and FAT-7 that are functionally redundant. While single mutations of *fat-5*, *fat-6* and *fat-7* genes appear normal with only subtle alterations in fatty acid composition, the triple mutation is lethal (Brock et al., 2006).

Linoleic acid (18:2n6) is a precursor for n6 PUFAs and α -linoleic acid (18:3n3) for n3 PUFAs. While humans need to obtain these fatty acids from diet, *C. elegans* can synthesize them. Linoleic acid (18:2n6) is synthesized from oleic acid (18:2n6) by the desaturase FAT-2, and α -linoleic acid (18:3n6) from linoleic acid (18:2n6) by FAT-1. FAT-1 can also synthesize other n3 PUFAs from n6 percursors. *fat-2* mutants display slow growth, abnormal body shape, sluggish movement, cuticle defects and reduced brood sizes. *fat-1* mutants lack n3 PUFAs but are apparently normal in growth, morphology, reproduction and movement. The *C. elegans fat-1* gene has been transgenically expressed in mice, cattle and pig (Kang et al., 2004; Guo et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012). The decreased n6/n3 fatty acid ratio in the transgenic mice has been shown to e.g. have anti-inflammatory effects and protect against tumorigenesis and pathological angiogenesis (reviewed by Kang, 2007).

Linoleic (18:2n6) and α -linoleic (18:3n3) acids are further desaturated into γ -linoleic (18:3n6) and stearidonic (18:4n3) acids, respectively, by the desaturase FAT-3 (Watts and Browse, 2002). *fat-3* mutation causes embryonic lethality, abnormal morphology, small brood sizes and slow growth and movement (Watts et al., 2003). The γ -linoleic (18:3n6) and stearidonic (18:4n3) acids are elongated to dihomo- γ -linoleic (20:3n6) and eicosatetraenoic (20:4n3) acids, respectively, by the elongase ELO-1 and possibly also ELO-2. While *elo-1* mutants appear normal, suppression of *elo-2* in the *elo-1* mutants causes nearly total depletion of 20-carbon polyunsaturated fatty acids, abnormal body morphology, small brood sizes and death of some progeny in the first larval stage (Kniazeva et al., 2003). The final step of arachidonic and eicosapentaenoic acid synthesis is catalyzed by FAT-4. *fat-4* mutants appear normal despite the lack of these fatty acids. *fat-1; fat-4* double mutants have small abnormalities such as defects in TRPV receptor-mediated olfaction (Kahn-Kirby et al., 2004) or sensitivity to dihomo- γ -linoleic acid-induced sterility (Watts and Browse, 2006). Unlike human, *C. elegans* cannot synthesize 22-carbon or longer fatty acids from 20:4n6 and 20:5n3 (Watts and Browse, 2002).

In addition, *C. elegans* synthesizes other kinds of fatty acids such as monomethyl branched fatty acids that are important for its larval development (Kniazeva et al., 2004). The fatty acid desaturase and elongase genes are regulated by several transcription factors such as the nuclear hormone receptor NHR-49 (Van Gilst et al., 2005a, b) that functions together with the Mediator subunit MDT-15 (Taubert et al., 2006), as well as by NHR-80 (Brock et al., 2006) or the sterol regulatory element binding protein SBP-1 (Kamath et al., 2003; Kniazeva et al., 2008) some of which control also other aspects of lipid homeostasis.

Defects seen in the nematodes lacking fatty acid desaturase or elongase enzymes show the importance of the different fatty acids. Proportions of different fatty acids in membrane phospholipids affect the structure of the membranes and several cellular functions (reviewed by Spector and Yorek, 1985; Ibarguren et al., 2014). The normal appearance of *fat-1* and *fat-4* mutants at least in standard laboratory conditions is somewhat surprising considering the importance of arachidonic acid and n3 fatty acids in mammals.

2.3.4 Endocannabinoid system in C. elegans

The main psychoactive compound in cannabis, Δ (9)-tetrahydrocannabinol, acts via CB1type cannabinoid receptors in the mammalian brain (Devane et al., 1988; Matsuda et al., 1990). Endogenous ligands for these receptors were named endocannabinoids. The first found endocannabinoids were N-arachidonoylethanolamine (a.k.a. anandamide or AEA, Devane et al., 1992) and 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG, Mechoulam et al., 1995). The endocannabinoid system consists of the endocannabinoids themselves, their receptors and enzymes for their synthesis and degradation as well as other factors regulating their actions or transport. *C. elegans* has endocannabinoids but other components of its endocannabinoid system are not yet well defined. Endocannabinoids have a fatty acyl group linked to another chemical group that depends on the type of the endocannabinoid. The chemical group can be an ethanolamine in N- or O-acylethanolamines (NAEs and OAEs, Hanus et al., 1993; Porter et al., 2002; Hansen and Diep, 2009), glycerol in monoacylglycerols (Hanus et al., 2001) or dopamine in N-acyldopamines (Huang et al., 2002; Chu et al., 2003). AEA is a NAE and 2-AG a monoacylglycerol, and both have their fatty acyl moieties derived from arachidonic acid. There are likely also many other types of endocannabinoids that have not yet been identified. In *C. elegans*, several endocannabinoids have been identified including AEA, 2-AG, N-palmitoleoyl ethanolamine, N-eicosapentaenoyl ethanolamine, N-lineoyl ethanolamine, N-oleoyl ethanolamine and N-palmitoyl ethanolamine (Lehtonen et al., 2008, 2011; Lucanic et al., 2011).

In mammals, endocannabinoids are derived from membrane phospholipids through several routes. The most studied NAE synthesis pathway involves a hydrolysis by N-acylphosphatidylethanolamine phospholipase D (NAPE-PLD, Okamoto et al., 2004) but there are also other NAE synthesis pathways not dependent on NAPE-PLD (reviewed by Hansen and Diep, 2009). The *C. elegans* homolog of NAPE-PLD named NAPE-1 is not necessary for the synthesis of NAEs (Lucanic et al., 2011) but this may be due to the presence of alternative NAE synthesis routes as in mammals (Leung et al., 2006). In mammals 2-AG is made by diacylglycerol lipase (DAGL, Bisogno et al., 2003). Its homolog in *C. elegans* is F42G9.6 whose function is not known (McPartland et al., 2006).

AEA and other NAE-type endocannabinoids are catabolized mainly by fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH, Schmid et al., 1985; Cravatt et al., 1996). The *C. elegans* FAAH ortholog FAAH-1 appears to degrade NAEs since its silencing elevates and transgenic overexpression reduces NAE levels (Lucanic et al., 2011). In mammals, 2-AG is mainly catabolized by monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL, Dinh et al., 2002) although other enzymes such as cyclo-oxygenase 2 (COX2, Yu et al., 1997a), lipoxygenases and CYPs have also been shown to metabolize endocannabinoids (reviewed by Ueda et al., 2010). The closest homologs for MAGL and COX2 are F01D5.7 and C46A5.4, respectively, but it is not known whether they degrade 2-AG or not (McPartland et al., 2006). It is also possible that *C. elegans* CYPs metabolize endocannabinoids.

Mammalian receptors for endocannabinoids include the CB1, CB2 (Munro et al., 1993), the transient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 (TRPV1, Zygmunt et al., 1999), the G protein-coupled receptors GPR-55 (Baker et al., 2005) and GPR-119 (Overton et al., 2006) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) of subtypes α and γ (Fu et al., 2003; Bouaboula et al., 2005; Lo Verme et al., 2005; Rockwell et al., 2006). *C. elegans* has proteins with some homology to the CB1/CB2, TRPV1 and GPR-55 receptors (NPR-19, OSM-9 and NPR-9, respectively) but they are not very likely to function as cannabinoid receptors (McPartland et al., 2006). The CB1 homolog NPR-19 lacks many of the amino acid residues required for ligand binding or signal transduction (McPartland and Glass, 2001, 2003). The *C. elegans* homolog of TRPV1, OSM-9, appears insensitive to the exogenous TRPV1 ligand capsaicin (Tobin et al., 2002). Jordt and Julius (2002) identified amino acid residues that determine the sensitivity of the TRPV1 receptor to both capsaicin and AEA. The *C. elegans* OSM-9 has a substitution at T550 amino acid residue as do some other capsaicin-insensitive TRPV receptors (McPartland et al., 2006) suggesting that OSM-9 is not likely activated by AEA.

Although endocannabinoid receptors have not been identified in *C. elegans*, endocannabinoids do have functions in the nematode. Lucanic et al. (2011) demonstrated with a series of experiments that NAE-type endocannabinoids mediate the signal of nutrient availability which prevents dauer formation and dietary restriction-related lifespan extension in *C. elegans*. First they showed that NAEs are required for normal growth rate. In the presence of abundant food NAEs reach their highest levels in L2 stage during which the nematode commits to reproductive development instead of entering into dauer stage. In dauer-constitutive *daf-2* mutants, NAE levels are lower than in wild-type after the decision

to enter into dauer stage. Treatment with the major NAE, N-eicosapentaenoylethanolamine, prevents dauer formation in *daf-2* and other dauer-constitutive mutants. Moreover, NAEs are also low in starved animals and rise after refeeding. Dietary restriction increases lifespan (Klass, 1977), and the lowering of NAE levels by transgenic over-expression of *faah-1* has a similar effect. The lowering of NAE levels does not have an additive effect on lifespan in dietary restriction conditions suggesting that NAE reduction and dietary restriction are mechanistically equivalent. Correspondingly, EPEA treatment dramatically reduces the lifespan extension in dietary restriction. Another, different function of AEA is that it inhibits axon regeneration in mature *C. elegans* neurons through the Go α receptor subunit GOA-1 (Pastuhov et al., 2012).

The endocannabinoid system is related to energy metabolism also in mammals. Overactivity of the endocannabinoid system has been associated with obesity by acting through the cannabinoid receptor CB1 in several tissues such as brain, adipose tissue, liver, pancreas and skeletal muscle (Matias and Di Marzo, 2007; Maccarrone et al., 2010). CB1 antagonists alleviate obesity and improve the plasma lipid profile and insulin sensitivity in obese mice and rats (Cota et al., 2009; Jourdan et al., 2010). In mammals the endocannabinoid system has also many other functions playing a modulatory role in e.g. immune response, cognition, emotion, perception, behavioral reinforcement, motor coordination, body temperature, wake/sleep cycle, bone formation and resorption, and various aspects of hormonal control, pain, inflammation and reproductive functions (Wang et al., 2006; Fine and Rosenfeld, 2013; Robson, 2013).

2.4 TRANSCRIPTOMICS

The central dogma of molecular biology is that DNA directs the synthesis of RNA which then directs the assembly of proteins. Proteins present in a particular cell type determine its structure and functions by serving as structural proteins or enzymes that catalyze the synthesis of other classes of biological molecules. The process of decoding the genetic information into a functional gene product is called gene expression.

Gene expression must be regulated to determine which proteins are found in each cell at a given time point. This regulation generates the variety of cell types with different appearences and functions in an individual with the same genome in all its cells and makes it adaptable to environmental signals. Gene expression is regulated in several steps, such as transcription, mRNA processing and stability, translation and protein modification.

As genome sequences are known for more and more organisms, current research focuses on understanding the dynamic functions of the genomes. One approach is transcriptomics i.e. the study of transcriptomes that can also be called gene expression profiling. Transcriptome refers to the complete set of transcripts and their quantity in a cell for a specific developmental stage and physiological condition (Wang et al., 2009). Gene expression profiling experiments typically compare trancriptomes between e.g. different cell types or developmental stages, or study the effect of a disease or treatment, while advanced methods also allow the finding of new transcripts.

The transcriptome is greatly influenced by factors that regulate transcription initiation, including also AHR. The following subsections give a quick overview on the regulation of transcription initiation, as well as on some of the methods used in transcriptomics and initiatives to facilitate the sharing of datasets generated by the methods.

2.4.1 Regulation of transcription initiation

Transcription of eukaryotic protein-coding genes is catalyzed by RNA polymerase II. Other factors necessary for transcription initiation include general transcription factors such as TFIIA, TFIIB, TFIID, TFIIE, TFIIF and TFIIH some of which consist of several subunits, and the Mediator complex. These proteins form a transcription preinitiation complex and bind co-operatively to DNA regions called core promoters located near the transcription start

site (Maston et al., 2006). General transcription factors have many functions including promoter recognition, interaction with regulatory factors, DNA unwinding and RNA polymerase II regulation (Sikorski and Buratowski, 2009; Grünberg and Hahn, 2013).

The general transcription machinery drives only low levels of gene expression. Transcription is greatly activated or repressed by another class of transcription factors that bind to specific DNA sequences further away from the transcription start site (Maston et al., 2006). The human genome is predicted to have over a thousand such transcription factors and they can be classified based on the structure of their DNA binding domains (Vaquerizas et al., 2009). For example, AHR belongs to the bHLH class. Transcription factor binding sites in DNA are short (~6-12 bp) consensus sequences. Genes have regulatory elements that contain binding sites for several transcription factors acting synergistically (Maston et al., 2006). Regions up to a few hundred bp upstream of the core promoter are called proximal promoter elements, whereas enhancers and silencers can be located tens of kilobases upstream or downstream of the transcription start site and be brought close to the core promoter by DNA looping.

The specific transcription factors can recruit coactivators and corepressors that participate in the regulation of transcription without binding to DNA sequence-specifically (Maston et al., 2006). Several coactivators and corepressors can modify the structure of chromatin i.e. the complex formed of DNA and proteins, primarily histones. Some coactivators and corepressors covalently add chemical groups to histones or remove them (reviewed by Rosenfeld et al., 2006). Histone modifications include acetylations, phosphorylations, methylations, ubiquitylations, ribosylations and sumoylations. The activating or repressing function of these modifications depends on the chemical group, the amino acid residue modified and the context of other modifications (Berger, 2007). Histone modifications can directly alter chromatin structure or recruit effector proteins. Another class of coactivators are ATP-dependent chromatin remodelers that disassociate stretches of DNA from histones in various ways exposing binding sites for proteins of the transcription machinery (Clapier and Cairns, 2009; Tang et al., 2010). Activator transcription factors and coactivators can also facilitate the formation of the preinitiation complex and subsequent steps in transcription (reviewed by Lee and Young, 2000).

Repressor transcription factors can inhibit activation in many ways (Latchman, 1996; Lee and Young, 2000). They can block the binding of activator transcription factors by competing for binding sites, by binding to the activator transcription factor itself or by recruiting corepressors that modify chromatin. Repressor transcription factors may also interact with DNA-bound activator transcription factors inhibiting their function. They can also inhibit the assembly or activation of the preinitiation complex by binding directly to its components or upstream silencer elements in DNA. One transcription factor can have both activator and repressor roles depending on the presence of other factors.

While some transcription factors are constitutively active or regulated only on the level of their own expression, other transcription factors are post-translationally activated by a signal (Brivanlou and Darnell, 2002). The signal can be e.g. an extracellular ligand such as a steroid hormone or another lipid-soluble compound that enters the cell. Mammalian AHR is an example of a transcription factor activated this way. For some transcription factors, the activating ligand is intracellular. Also peptide hormones binding to cell surface receptors can activate transcription factors via intracellular signal transduction cascades. In addition, signal transduction pathways can regulate the composition and function of coactivator complexes (Rosenfeld et al., 2006).

2.4.2 Transcriptomics methods

The field of transcriptomics utilizes high-throughput methods that can measure thousands of transcripts simultaneously rather than a gene-by-gene approach. In the 1980's the first methods assaying large numbers of mRNA species included differential hybridization (reviewed by Liang and Pardee, 2003) and subtractive hybridization (Zimmermann et al.,

1980). These methods were followed by differential display PCR (Liang and Pardee, 1992) and serial analysis of gene expression (SAGE, Velculescu et al., 1995). Microarray technology started becoming popular in gene expression profiling in the late 1990's likely because it is very high-throughput, simple for the end-user and cheaper than the other methods. Newer methods based on sequencing have been developed, including massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS, Brenner et al., 2000), cap analysis of gene expression (CAGE, Shiraki et al., 2003) and newer variants of SAGE (Saha et al., 2002; Gowda et al., 2004; Matsumura et al., 2005). However, only the rather recent method high throughput RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) that utilizes next-generation sequencing technologies is challenging microarrays (Wang et al., 2009). Microarrays and RNA-seq are overviewed in the following subsections.

2.4.2.1 Microarrays in transcriptomics

Gene expression profiling microarrays consist of a series of DNA targets immobilized onto a solid surface in an ordered fashion so that the location of each target can be referenced. Their use in transcriptomics is based on hybridization of labeled complementary DNA or RNA probes derived from a sample.

There are many kinds of microarrays depending on the manufacturer. In the early DNA microarrays (Schena et al., 1995, 1996), the targets were hundreds of nucleotides long cDNA fragments spotted onto the surface. Several research groups and microarray core facilities have made their own custom microarrays this way. Another type of microarray consists of oligonucleotides (25-60 nt) that can be synthesized directly onto the platform, allowing a higher target density (Lockhart et al., 1996). In a newer technology, oligonucleotide targets are attached to beads that then assemble into arrays (Kuhn et al., 2004). The two latter types of microarrays can only be obtained from commercial sources.

In a microarray experiment, the RNA molecules isolated from a tissue of interest are converted to fluorescence-labeled cDNA or complementary RNA probes. The probes hybridize specifically to their complementary targets on the array and are detected by laser confocal microscopy. Signal intesities on the array are assumed proportional to the abundance of the corresponding RNA species in the original sample (Mirnics and Pevsner, 2004). The signals are quantified, filtered and normalized to remove non-biological variation between and within arrays (Wolkenhauer et al., 2002; Saviozzi and Calogero, 2003). Differentially expressed genes between conditions are determined from the normalized values using relative expression levels and statistical tests.

Although DNA microarrays can assay a very large number of transcripts in a single experiment, they also have limitations. Firstly, they require knowledge on the sequence to be assayed. Obtaining genome sequences is getting easier as genome projects are being completed for more and more organisms. However, the reliance on existing sequence data makes it difficult to find new transcripts. For this kind of purposes there are tiling arrays in which areas of the genome are represented at a high density (Kapranov et al., 2002) but they are expensive and have only a limited ability to distinguish between different isoforms (Wang et al., 2009). Another limitation of DNA microarrays is that they do not measure absolute levels of expression and comparing expression levels between different experiments is problematic. In addition, there are technical issues such as high background noise and saturation of signal that prevent the detection of transcripts with very low or high abundances.

2.4.2.2 RNA-seq

RNA-seq is a trascriptomics application that uses next-generation sequencing technologies (Wang et al., 2009). Next-generation sequencing refers to recent sequencing technologies that are dramatically faster and more affordable than the traditional Sanger sequencing (Sanger et al., 1977). The techniques are variable and constantly developing. The most used technologies in RNA-seq have so far been Illumina, Roche/454 and SOLiD.

In an RNA-seq experiment, a library of cDNAs is generated from the isolated RNA and the cDNAs are then sequenced to obtain short sequence reads (Wang et al., 2009). The details of library preparation, sequencing and intermediate steps vary between the different technologies. In all current platforms, mRNA or the reverse-transcribed cDNA needs to be fragmented into smaller pieces (200-500 nt). Small non-coding RNAs do not need fragmentation. Typically adapter sequences are ligated to both ends of the cDNAs and there can also be amplification steps before sequencing. The cDNA fragments are sequenced from one or both ends and the reads obtained are 30-400 nt in length depending on the sequencing technology. In data analysis, the sequence reads are either aligned to an existing reference genome or assembled *de novo* to identify the transcripts and their abundancies.

RNA-seq has several advantages compared to microarrays (Wang et al., 2009). RNA-seq does not require prior knowledge about the transcripts to be sequenced. Even a reference genome is not necessary although it can be utilized in read assembly. RNA-seq reveals the precise boundaries of transcripts as well as single-base variations. Thus, novel transcripts such as different isoforms or entirely new RNA classes can be found. RNA-seq expresses the amounts of different transcripts as absolute values, not as relative amounts. In addition, RNA-seq can detect transcripts expressed in very low and very high levels due to low background noise and no saturation of signal. Also the amount of RNA sample required is smaller compared to microarray. The older sequencing-based methods SAGE, CAGE and MPSS differ from RNA-seq in that they analyze only a part of the transcript and cannot distinguish between all isoforms. RNA-seq does not have this limitation as the short sequence reads generated should span the whole length of the transcript. What also makes RNA-seq more popular than the older sequencing-based methods is the significantly lower price. The prices of microarrays and RNA-seq are comparable. At the moment RNA-seq is a bit cheaper than tiling arrays while more old-fashioned microarrays are still cheaper than RNA-seq.

RNA-seq also has some challenges (Wang et al., 2009). The manipulation steps during the cDNA library construction, such as fragmentation and amplification, can cause bias. The experiment produces massive amounts of data. In data analysis, reads that span exon junctions or contain polyA have to be taken into account.

2.4.3 Transcriptomics data sharing and standards

Transcriptomics experiments produce large amounts of data. Public databases were started in order to store microarray data and make it available to the whole research community in an appropriate and usable format that would allow new data comparisons and the analysis of existing results with new methods and tools. The most used gene expression databases are Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO, Edgar et al., 2002) by National Center for Biotechnology Information and ArrayExpress (Brazma et a., 2003) by the European Bioinformatics Institute. Both databases accept array- and sequencing-based data. Another major gene expression database, Center for Information Biology gene EXpression (CIBEX) by the DNA DataBank of Japan (Ikeo et al., 2003), is currently being migrated to a new system.

Since gene expression profiling data is dynamic and highly dependent on the conditions in which it was generated it is necessary to record detailed description of how the expression values were obtained. The Minimum Information About a Microarray Experiment (MIAME) document was developed by the Microarray Gene Expression Database Society (MGED, now called Functional Genomics Data Society, FGED) to provide a standard on what information to record and report (Brazma et al., 2001). Similar guidelines have been developed for high-throughput sequencing data: Minimum Information About a high-throughput SEQuencing Experiment (MINSEQE, Brazma, 2009). The essential information to be presented according to both MIAME and MINSEQE include the complete raw data, the final processed data, description of the samples and experimental conditions, experimental design, and experimental and data processing protocols (Functional Genomics Data Society, 2014). Although the information can be in any format, standard data exchange formats have been developed to allow communication of MIAME-supportive data between different data systems. Currently FGED recommends the use of the standard format MAGE-TAB that is relatively simple and spreadsheet-based (Rayner et al., 2006). Also an MGED Ontology has been developed to provide a controlled vocabulary to describe a microarray experiment (Whetzel et al., 2006). The public repositories GEO, ArrayExpress and CIBEX are designed to accept, hold and distribute MIAME compliant data and several scientific journals (Functional Genomics Data Society, 2010) require submission of MIAME-compliant data to databases prior to publication.

3 Aims of the study

While the roles of AHR and CYPs in toxicology are well established the whole range of their physiological functions is not thoroughly understood. Most of the studies so far have been performed in mice and rats but the knowledge on the functions of AHR and CYPs in *C. elegans* is still very limited. Research in *C. elegans* can elucidate which functions of AHR and CYPs and CYPs are evolutionarily conserved, or result in finding novel functions not yet studied in higher organisms. Progress in genomics has lead to the development of methods such as microarrays that enable measuring entire transcriptomes. Therefore, the general aims of the present study were to investigate the basic physiological roles of AHR and CYPs in *C. elegans* using a combination of phenotyping, fatty acid profiling and transcriptomics approaches, and follow the development of transcriptomics methods and their usage.

The more detailed aims of the study were to:

1. Derive gene expression profiling microarray usage statistics from neuroscience publications in order to determine current trends and infer future directions in the application of microarrays (I)

2. Study the physiological function of AHR in *C. elegans*, focusing on its possible roles in neuronally controlled behaviors, development, regulation of fatty acid diversity and control of gene expression (**II** and **IV**)

3. Study the physiological function of CYP-35A subfamily members in *C. elegans*, focusing on their possible roles in the regulation of lipid homeostasis and endocannabinoid levels (**III**)



4 Materials and methods

The methods used in the original publications are summarized in **Table 2**.

<i>Table 2.</i> List	of methods	used in the	publications	I-IV.
----------------------	------------	-------------	--------------	-------

Method	Original publication
Systematic review on microarray studies	I
C. elegans strains and their growth	II, III, IV
Overall fatty acid compositions using Gas Chromatographic Mass Spectrometry	II, III
Gene expression using Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qRT-PCR)	II, III, IV
Phenotype assays (larval development, egg laying, embryonic lethality, movement, defecation, brood size)	п
Gene expression profiling using microarrays	п
Sequence alignments of human and C. elegans CYPs	III
Fat content using Oil-Red-O staining	III
Feeding of fatty acids in triglycerides to C. elegans	III
Endocannabinoid levels using Liquid Chromatographic Mass Spectrometry	III
Gene expression profiling using RNA-seq	IV
Search for putative XRE sites	IV



5 Results and discussion

5.1 MICROARRAY STUDIES IN THE NEUROSCIENCES

Microarrays were a relatively new and rapidly growing technology in 2004. The field of neuroscience had been thought to particularly benefit from it as nervous tissue is the most transcriptionally complex system and brain disorders involve interaction of many genetics factors (Mirnics and Pevsner, 2004). To determine overall usage statistics of microarrays in the neurosciences, data was collected on laboratories, source tissues, study designs, microarray platforms, analysis tools and availability of datasets from published literature.

5.1.1 Microarray field grew rapidly and was used in many types of studies

The literature search resulted in 2025 publications of which 502 fulfilled the criteria of being original gene expression profiling microarray studies on neural or glial material and published in peer-reviewed English language journals (**I**, **Table 1**). Of these, 448 could be accessed. The first five microarray studies in the neurosciences had been published in 1999 and the number of studies had increased every year being 283 in 2004 (**I**, **Figure 1A**). In the early years, the design and manufacture of microarray platforms for neuroscience applications had likely been limited by the lack of sequence data from higher organisms, while the completion of genome projects facilitated the growth of the field. The geographical distribution of publications was international although highly weighted towards the USA (**I**, **Figure 1B**).

The microarray articles represented different study types (**I**, **Table 2**). In many, disease had been studied using either animal models or post-mortem tissue from human patients. Fourty-four (44) different brain-related diseases had been studied using microarrays, most of them only in one or two studies (**I**, **Table 3**). The most studied disease was ischemic stroke (26 studies). Also age-related neurodegenerative diseases, mainly Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease, had been studied in several publications. There were also many publications that could be classified as physiology studies. These had investigated the effect of e.g. genetic manipulation, endogenous compound or development. Studies on the effect of an exogenous compound, either toxic or beneficial, were also common. In addition, there were some publications that had studied the effect of mechanically or chemically induced injury, infection or non-chemical treatment, or compared brain areas or species. Some studies had to be classified in more than one category.

A quick search in PubMed using the same words as in Publication I indicates that the number of neuroscience studies utilizing microarrays appears to have still grown reaching the top value in 2011 after which it has slightly decreased (data not shown). The use of RNA-seq is constantly growing (data not shown). It is not straightforward to compare the numbers of publications between the two methods as the use of synonyms in the search greatly influences the results. If only the words "microarray" or "RNA-seq" are used microarray appears the more used method in neuroscience although the numbers have been getting closer every year since the first RNA-seq neuroscience publication in 2008 (data not shown). In the future there may be a shift in the field towards RNA-seq. The early neuroscience studies utilizing RNA-seq also tend to answer different scientific questions, such as finding novel genes and isoforms, rather than being "traditional" gene expression comparisons between conditions as microarray experiments typically are.

5.1.2 Source material

The coverage of different animal species in the studies was rather limited. Mouse and rat studies constituted more than two thirds of all studies (**I**, **Table 4**). Studies utilizing human

tissues or cell lines made up approximately one fifth of the studies. Non-human primates were used in 21 studies. There were also some rarer model organisms each used in 1 to 5 studies, including honey bee, fruit fly, Siberian hamster, cat, cattle, channel catfish, guinea pig, planaria and rabbit. The use of other model organisms has likely been limited by the lack of microarray platforms available. Microarrays for mouse, rat and human were readily available from several sources. Non-human primates were studied using human microarrays because of a high sequence similarity, but these animals are not grown specifically for laboratory use. Also the focus on neuroscience may explain why most of the species used were relatively large vertebrates.

No studies in C. elegans found in the literature search fulfilled the criteria of being microarray studies on neuronal material because the nematodes are usually assayed as whole animals instead of using only neurons. Microarrays have already long been available for C. elegans, and Reisner et al. (2005) review 26 C. elegans microarray studies published before 2005. A study by Link et al. (2003) was related to neuroscience as it involved an Alheimer's disease model. However, also in this publication the nematodes were profiled as whole animals. Isolation of sufficient amounts of RNA from C. elegans neural tissue requires isolation of cells, that is not easy, and amplification of RNA (or cDNA) that can cause bias to the results. However, cell type-specific gene expression can be measured using mRNA tagging (Roy et al., 2002) or primary cell cultures obtained from dissociated embryos with fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS, Christensen et al., 2002). These methods have been used after the time of the survey (I) to find genes whose expression is enriched in neurons or specific neuron types (Colosimo et al., 2004; Cinar et al., 2005; Fox et al., 2005; Kunitomo et al., 2005; Von Stetina et al., 2007; Takayama et al., 2009; Smith et al., 2010; Spencer et al., 2011). The literature search (I) also missed an earlier study that compared gene expression profiles of isolated wild-type and mutant touch receptor neurons in *C. elegans* (Zhang et al., 2002).

In more than half of the studies (305) a discrete brain area was used, as different brain areas can vary greatly in their gene expression and diseases or functions involve specific brain areas. Microarray datasets have been created from a very wide range of brain regions. There were especially many studies on cerebral cortex and brain regions affected in common neurological disorders. For example, CA1 region of the hippocampus, amygdala, cingulate cortex and superior temporal gyrus that are associated with Alzheimer's disease were well represented in the literature. Hippocampus had been used in many physiology studies because of its role in e.g. learning and memory, whereas the striatum involved e.g. in the development of drug dependence was often used in pharmacology/toxicology studies. Cell cultures were used the second most often (94 studies). Whole brain was used in 57 studies although the use of whole brains may mask regional expression changes. Single isolated cells were used in only nine studies as the isolation requires special techniques and amplification of RNA. One study used voxelation in which the brains were cut into equal-sized cubical parts to be profiled separately.

5.1.3 Experimental designs often lacked replicates

About half of the studies did not state using any biological replicates. In the studies that did use biological replicates, there were usually 2 to 10, most typically 3 replicates. Each biological replicate was often an individual animal or cell culture but in about 38 % of the studies, samples derived from several animals were pooled likely to obtain a sufficient amount of RNA. It can also be argued that a sample pooled from several individuals represents the population better than a sample from a single animal if biological replicates are not used. Technical replicates were used even more rarely. About 72 % of the studies did not report to use them at all. Sometimes the sample was hybridized onto two replicate chips, more rarely onto three or four chips. However, some microarray platforms contain targets spotted on the array in duplicate, which provides a measure of the variation in

hybridization. The number of replicates or details in description of methods did not change over the years from 1999 to 2004.

Economical reasons may limit the number of replicates used, as the commercial microarrays have been relatively expensive. In some cases scarcity of tissue can also limit the use of replicates. Experimental designs were often complex involving several treatments, genotypes, time points etc. and the use of replicates would obviously have multiplied the already large number of microarrays required. However, the lack of biological replicates is surprising considering their necessity for the calculation of appropriate statistics. Technical replicates are not as important as biological replicates in order to obtain biologically relevant information although they help to handle possible variations arising from e.g. differential labelling efficiencies, uneven hybridizations or technical differences between microarrays.

5.1.4 Platforms, imaging systems and analysis software

Microarrays were obtained from commercial sources in 76 % of the studies. Among the 15 commercial platform manufacturers reported, the most commonly used was Affymetrix (184 studies) followed by Clontech (97 studies, **I**, **Figure 2A**). The non-commercial microarrays were mainly custom microarrays designed by the laboratories (105 studies). The distinction was not made whether they were produced by the laboratory itself or by a commercial or academic facility. The proportion of custom microarrays remained approximately the same over the years 1999-2004 and they were made for both commonly and rarely used model organisms. Microarrays were purchased directly from microarray core facilities located in non-profit academic institutions or organizations in only three studies despite the apparent cost advantage compared to commercial microarrays. This may be due to a more limited selection of microarray types available. Some microarrays contained probes for only a few selected genes whereas some represented entire genomes containing up to 65000 probes.

Several scanning systems and image quantification software (**I**, **Figure 2B**) as well as data analysis software were used. The scanning systems reported were by about 20 different manufacturers. There were about 50 different image quantification software and 100 data analysis software reported. As in the case of microarray platforms, mostly commercial software were used. The use of the same manufacturer's microarray platforms, analysis instruments and software was usually preferred when possible. The two most frequently mentioned companies Affymetrix and Clontech provided integrated tools for image and data analysis, which may be one reason for their popularity. The data shows that a leader on the market can become a generally accepted "standard". However, even when an integrated platform and analysis tool, e.g. one for calculating the fold change, one for statistical tests, one for clustering, one for visualization, and one for formatting the data to be imported from a software to another. Among the data analysis software, there were also about 20 non-commercial programs the most common of which was Michael Eisen's software "Cluster" used in 21 studies.

5.1.5 Microarray data was not effectively shared in the early years of the technology

Full data set containing information for all features measured in each condition was available for only 53 out of the 448 studies. The data was most often published on the author's or institute's website (29 studies) or as supplementary material of the journal (11 studies). In 13 studies the data was deposited in a public database that was GEO in 7 studies, Array Express in 3 studies, Neumetrix in 2 studies, or China Medical College database in one study. In two additional studies it was stated that the data was available upon request directly from the authors, which may apply to many other studies as well. In most studies, typically only the differentially expressed genes were listed although the

criteria of differential expression were not uniform making it difficult to compare the results between different studies.

Data on author's or institute's website is often available only for a limited time whereas journals and databases likely hold it longer. However, the Neumetrix and China Medical College databases are not available anymore. Full data sets were presented usually as output from software, either as raw data or processed data. The format depends on the software used. In rare cases even scanned microarray images were published.

In the beginning, MIAME referred only to the information on the microarray experiment and not to the data itself. Now also the data sets in both raw and processed forms are considered an essential part of MIAME. GEO and Array Express databases support and encourage the submission of MIAME compliant data. The ten studies in which data was deposited to either GEO or Array Express should be MIAME compliant and two of these are explicitly stated to be MIAME compliant. However, data in these studies is usually available either in raw or processed form, not both. Also the information directly accessed through the databases often lacks information such as descriptions of data analysis. Four studies contained a microarray experiment description in a MIAME-compliant format in a separate document but the whole data sets were not available. In other studies, including those with the datasets available on authors' websites or supplementary material, the only source of information on the experiment was the article itself. Public deposition of microarray data appears to have improved a great deal as the public databases GEO and Array Express currently have tens of thousands of datasets related to neuroscience.

5.2 AHR-1 MUTANT C. ELEGANS

The function of AHR-1 was investigated in *C. elegans* using mutants that lack the functional AHR-1 protein. First, effects of the mutation on growth and behavior were observed. The hypothesis was that AHR-1 might play a role in the regulation of fatty acid diversity in *C. elegans* as it had earlier been shown to be involved in the transcriptional regulation of fatt metabolism enzymes in mouse liver (Boverhof et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2008). The overall fatty acid compositions were measured as well as transcriptional alterations of genes that maintain fatty acid diversity. Finally, global transcriptomic alterations due to the lack of functional AHR-1 were investigated in the L1 larval stage using microarrays and in the L4 larval stage using RNA-seq.

5.2.1 Mutant alleles of *ahr-1*

Two available *C. elegans* strains carrying different mutant alleles of *ahr-1* were used, namely *ia03* and *ju145* (**IV, Figure 1**). The *ia03* allele has a 1517 bp deletion that removes exons 4 to 7 and causes a premature stop codon in exon 8, while the *ju145* allele has a C to T point mutation in exon 7 leading to a premature stop codon in place of the amino acid 302. If the mutant *ahr-1* alleles are translated into truncated proteins both of them contain the bHLH domain responsible for DNA binding and parts of the sequence that forms the PAS-B domain. The *ju145* mutant protein would contain the sequence for a full PAS-A domain whereas the *ia03* mutant protein would lack it completely. Any carboxyterminal transcriptional activation regions would be missing from both of the mutant proteins. Thus, the truncated proteins should lack the transcriptional activation function of AHR-1. However, there is still a possibility that they could bind DNA to repress transcription or function through some other mechanism resulting from protein-protein interactions. The remaining functions may differ between the two mutant proteins and explain the phenotypic and transcriptomic differences between the mutant strains.

5.2.2 Slow growth, movement, egg laying and defecation

The role of AHR-1 in neuronal development had been demonstrated earlier by Qin and Powel-Coffman (2004) and Huang et al. (2004) but little was known about other phenotypes

of the *ahr-1* mutant *C. elegans*. Development was studied in *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant (**II, Figure 3**) and behavioral phenotypes were characterized in both *ahr-1(ju145)* and *ahr-1(ia03)* mutants (**II, Table 1**). The *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant grew slower than wild-type as the time from L1 to L4 larval stage was 6 h longer. Both of the *ahr-1* mutants moved slower than wild-type. They also defecated in a slower rhythm and laid fewer eggs in 4 hours than wild-type and there was a small but significant increase in embryonic lethality. Brood sizes of the *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant were also slightly smaller than those of wild-type although the difference was not statistically significant.

Slow larval development or embryonic lethality had not been reported in earlier RNAi studies (Fraser et al., 2000; Rual et al., 2004; Sönnichsen et al., 2005). The differences may have been too subtle to be reported or detected in these genomic level screens, or RNAi may not have silenced the gene sufficiently. The involvement of AHR-1 in movement, defecation cycle or egg laying had not been studied before, except that the silencing of the *ahr-1* gene with RNAi had been shown to suppress the egg laying defect of another mutant (Gort et al., 2008).

Locomotion, egg laying and defecation behaviors are controlled by specific motor circuits in *C. elegans*. The well-characterized developmental defect in the GABAergic RME motor neurons in *ahr-1* mutant *C. elegans* (Huang et al., 2004) does not completely explain the behavioral phenotypes observed, as the affected behaviors are controlled by other classes of motor neurons. However, the *ahr-1* gene is mainly expressed in sensory neurons and interneurons (Qin and Powel-Coffman, 2004) that can modulate activities in the motor neurons as a response to environmental cues. For example, HSN motorneurons that control egg laying receive sensory input from PLM mechanosensory neurons (Schafer, 2005) that express *ahr-1*.

5.2.3 Alterations in fatty acid compositions and expression levels of fatty acid elongase and desaturase genes

Ligand-activation of AHR had earlier been shown to alter gene expression of fat metabolism enzymes in mouse liver (Boverhof et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2008) but a more precise role in the regulation of fatty acid composition had not been investigated. In **II**, relative amounts of different fatty acids were measured in *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant and wild-type *C. elegans* (**II, Figure 1**). The proportions of 15-methylpalmitic (17isoA), elaidic (18:1n9*trans*), dihomo- γ -linoleic (20:3n6) and arachidonic (20:4n6) acids were significantly increased, whereas the proportion of oleic acid (18:n9*cis*) was significantly decreased. The increased arachidonic acid (20:4n6) is a precursor of epoxy and hydroxyl products made by CYPs also in *C. elegans* (Kulas et al., 2008; Kosel et al., 2011).

The relative amounts of different fatty acids are controlled by desaturase and elongase enzymes that in *C. elegans* are named FAT and ELO, respectively (Watts and Browse, 2002). Gene expression of several fat metabolism-related genes is controlled e.g. by the nuclear hormone receptor NHR-49 and the Mediator subunit MDT-15 (Van Gilst et al., 2005a, b, Taubert et al. 2006). To understand the mechanisms underlying the changes in the fatty acid composition, the expression levels of the genes *fat-1*, *fat-2*, *fat-3*, *fat-4*, *fat-5*, *fat-6*, *fat-7*, *elo-1*, *elo-2*, *elo-5*, *elo-6*, *nhr-49* and *mdt-15* were measured in L4 larval stage *C. elegans* using qRT-PCR. The *elo-5*, *fat-7*, *nhr-49*, and *mdt-15* genes were over-expressed in the *ahr-1* mutant while the other genes studied were not altered significantly (**II**, **Figure 2A**). The increase in *elo-5* gene expression is consistent with the observed increase in 15-methylpalmitic acid (17isoA) observed in *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant (**II**, **Figure 1**) as ELO-5 catalyses the synthesis of 17iso from 15iso (**II**, **Figure 2C**). The expression of fatty acid desaturase and elongase genes was measured also in L1 stage using qRT-PCR. In this stage, the *elo-2*, *elo-5*, *fat-2*, and *fat-4* genes were over-expressed in the *ahr-1* mutant (**II**, **Figure 2B**).

Activation of AHR by TCDD has later been shown to alter fatty acid compositions and the expression levels of fatty acid-modifying genes also in mouse and rat liver (Angrish et al., 2011; Forgacs et al., 2012). In mouse this is partially due to over-expression and increased activity of the stearoyl-CoA desaturase SCD1 (Angrish et al., 2011) that catalyzes the desaturation of e.g. 18:0 into 18:1n9. In *C. elegans* this reaction is catalyzed by FAT-7, FAT-6 and FAT-5 that are also the closest homologs of mouse SCD1 in *C. elegans*. Chromatin immunoprecipitation high-throughput DNA sequencing (ChIP-seq) data and band shift assays suggest that AHR regulates SCD1 directly in mouse (Angrish et al., 2011). In *C. elegans*, however, anatomical expression patterns of the differentially expressed genes *fat-7*, *elo-5*, *nhr-49*, *mdt-15*, *elo-2*, *fat-2* and *fat-5* do not largely overlap with that of *ahr-1* (Kniazeva et al., 2003, 2004; Huang et al., 2004; Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004; Van Gilst et al. 2005a, b; Brock et al., 2006; Hunt-Newbury et al., 2007; McGhee et al., 2007) suggesting that the regulation of these genes in the *ahr-1* mutant is indirect. However, it should also be noted that these anatomical expression patterns obtained using promoter-GFP constructs may not be entirely accurate as the "promoter" areas in the constructs can lack regulatory elements located elsewhere in the genome (Hunt-Newbury et al., 2007).

Defects in fat metabolism affect several biological processes. Similar phenotypes as observed in the *ahr-1* mutant can be seen when the different genes required in fatty acid metabolism are silenced with RNAi. Earlier RNAi studies show that *nhr-49*, *mdt-15*, *fat-7*, *elo-5*, *elo-2*, *fat-2* and *fat-5* genes are required in normal growth rate (Gönczy et al., 2000; Kamath et al., 2003; Simmer et al., 2003; Kniazeva et al., 2003, 2004; Sönnichsen et al., 2005; Lehner et al., 2006; Horikawa et al., 2008), *nhr-49*, *fat-2* and *fat-7* genes in movement (Simmer et al., 2003; Yang et al., 2006; Horikawa et al., 2008), *nhr-49*, *mdt-15*, *fat-7*, *elo-2*, and *fat-2* genes in embryonic survival (Maeda et al., 2001; Kamath et al., 2003; Simmer et al., 2006; Horikawa et al., 2001; Kamath et al., 2003; Simmer et al., 2006; Horikawa et al., 2001; Kamath et al., 2003; Simmer et al., 2006; Horikawa et al., 2001; Kamath et al., 2003; Simmer et al., 2003; Rual et al., 2004; Lehner et al., 2006; Horikawa et al., 2008), *elo-2*, *fat-2* or *fat-7* genes in egg laying (Horikawa et al., 2008) and *elo-2* gene in the regulation of the defecation cycle (Kniazeva et al., 2003).

5.2.4 Gene expression profile in L1 larval stage using microarrays

Transcriptomic alterations due to the lack of functional AHR-1 protein were measured on a whole-genome level in L1 larval stage *C. elegans* using microarrays. In total, 238 genes were over-expressed and 324 genes under-expressed in the *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant compared to wild-type (**II**, **Supplementary Table 2**). While the *C. elegans* AHR homolog does not bind TCDD, the results from our microarray study surprisingly suggest that the *ahr-1* gene still affects the expression of genes related to xenobiotic metabolism and the direction of the expression change was also unexpected: the most over-expressed genes included the Phase I and II metabolic enzyme genes *cyp-13A4*, *ugt-19*, and *gst-21* (**II**, **Table 2**) and the over-expressed genes included also *cyp-35A5*, *ugt-20*, *ugt-29*, *ugt-33*, *ugt-38*, *ugt-41* and *gst-31* (**II**, **Supplementary Table 2**). However, a clear majority of the affected genes were not related to xenobiotic metabolism, but rather to physiological functions (**II**, **Supplementary Tables 2 and 3**). The most under-expressed genes included the fatty acid desaturase gene *fat-7* and the enoyl-CoA hydratase *ech-6* that is required for the catabolism of fatty acid to acetyl CoA and energy (**II**, **Table 2**).

Enriched Gene Ontology (GO) level 3 Biological Process (BP) and Molecular Function (MF) terms as well as PANTHER BP and MF terms were found for the over- and underexpressed genes (**II**, **Supplementary Table 3**). Enriched BP terms among the overexpressed genes were associated with carbohydrate metabolism or synaptic transmission. Enriched MF terms among the over-expressed genes were also mainly related to metabolism, such as transferase or oxidoreductase activity, but included also protein binding, calcium binding, mitochondrial carrier protein or cytoskeletal protein.

Among the under-expressed genes, many enriched BP terms were associated with growth and development (**II**, **Supplementary Table 3**), which is consistent with the slow larval development observed in the *ahr-1(ju145)* mutants (**II**, **Table 1**). One of the enriched GO BP terms was "locomotory behavior" consistent with the slow movement phenotype of the *ahr-1* mutant (**II**, **Table 1**). Also genes required in reproductive development were

under-expressed in the *ahr-1* mutant. Other enriched BP terms among the under-expressed genes were associated with cellular biosynthesis and catabolism, homeostasis, electron transport, cell surface receptor-mediated signaling, and metabolism of several types of compounds such as alcohols, organic acids, amines, amino acids, nitrogen compounds and pyrimidines. Most of the enriched MF terms were related to enzymatic activity such as peptidase, oxidoreductase, hydrolase, small GTPase, metalloprotease, transferase, and coenzyme or heme binding.

This data suggests that the loss of function of AHR affects similar processes in *C. elegans* as previously observed in mammals. Knockout of AHR has been shown to affect the expression of several genes, many of which have metabolic and enzymatic functions, in mouse liver (Tijet et al., 2006; Minami et al., 2008; Boutros et al., 2009; Reyes-Hernández et al., 2010), mouse kidney (Boutros et al., 2009), or rat liver (Boutros et al., 2011). Overall, the data reveals a widespread role for AHR-1 during early larval development.

5.2.5 Gene expression profile in L4 larval stage using RNA-seq

Gene expression profile alterations were also measured in L4 larval stage in *ahr-1(ia03)* and *ahr-1(ju145)* mutants compared to wild-type nematodes using RNA-seq. Initially, 51 to 61 million reads were obtained in each sample of which 85 to 88 % aligned directly to the *C. elegans* "virtual transcriptome" compiled based on known gene models in TopHat (Langmead et al., 2009, **IV**, **Table 1**). The expression levels were calculated for 45343 predicted transcripts as expected fragments per kilobase of transcript per million fragments sequenced (FPKM) using Cufflinks (Trapnell et al., 2010). Over 18000 transcripts were detected in each sample (**IV**, **Figure 2 A and B**).

Fourteen (14) transcripts were over-expressed and 125 transcripts under-expressed in both of the *ahr-1* mutants when compared to wild-type (**IV**, **Figure 2 C and D**, **Table 2**, **Supplementary files 1 and 2**). In total, 198 transcripts were over-expressed and 318 transcripts under-expressed in the *ahr-1(ia03)* mutant (**IV**, **Supplementary file 1**) while 41 transcripts were over-expressed and 487 transcripts under-expressed in the *ahr-1(ju145)* mutant compared to wild-type (**IV**, **Supplementary file 2**). There was only little overlap in the differentially expressed genes between the L1 and L4 stages (**II**, **IV**). This was expected since gene expression greatly depends on the developmental stage (Agarwal et al., 2010).

5.2.5.1 gcy and fbxa family genes and nlp-20 were under-expressed

The most under-expressed genes included the soluble guanylate cyclase genes *gcy*-32 and *gcy*-36, the neuropeptide-like protein gene *nlp*-20 and the F-box A protein genes *fbxa*-191, *fbxa*-192 and *fbxa*-193 (**IV**, **Table 2**). The under-expression of *gcy*-36, *nlp*-20 and *fbxa*-192 was confirmed with qRT-PCR in both mutant strains and that of *fbxa*-191 and *fbxa*-193 in the *ahr*-1(*ia*03) mutant (**IV**, **Figure 3**). *gcy*-32 was detected in only two replicates of the *ahr*-1(*ia*03) mutant and not at all in the *ahr*-1(*ju*145) mutant in qRT-PCR although it was detected in all of the four wild-type samples. This is likely due to a low level of expression in the mutant strains as observed in RNA-seq (**IV**, **Supplementary files 1 and 2**). In addition, *gcy*-33, *gcy*-35 and *gcy*-37 were significantly and over 2-fold under-expressed in the *ahr*-1(*ju*145) mutant which was also confirmed with qRT-PCR (**IV**, **Figure 3**).

The finding that several *gcy* family genes were significantly under-expressed is in agreement with previous studies performed with promoter-GFP fusion constructs showing that *gcy-32*, *gcy-34*, *gcy-35*, *gcy-36* and *gcy-37* are down-regulated in *ahr-1* mutants (Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004; Qin et al., 2006). All of the *gcy* genes altered in the *ahr-1* mutant, except *gcy-33*, are expressed in neurons that also express *ahr-1* (Yu et al., 1997b; Cheung et al., 2004; Gray et al., 2004; Qin et al., 2006). RNA-seq was sensitive enough to detect expression differences of these genes although they have been detected in only 2-20 cells in the promoter-GFP studies and total RNA for RNA-seq was extracted from whole animals. A similar sensitivity of *C. elegans* whole-animal RNA-seq to detect differences in expression

even for genes expressed in only a few cells was seen also in another study from our laboratory (Peltonen et al., 2013).

Another dramatically under-expressed gene in *ahr-1* mutants, *nlp-20*, encodes a neuropeptide-like protein whose receptor is unknown and whose knockdown by RNAi leads to embryonic lethality. *nlp-20* is expressed in four head neurons, four tail neurons, one pharyngeal neuron, spermatheca, and intestine (Nathoo et al., 2001). Although *ahr-1* modulates social feeding behavior in *npr-1* mutants (Qin and Powell-Coffman, 2004) it is not likely that NLP-20 is a ligand of NPR-1 since the two known ligands for NPR-1, FLP-18 and FLP-21, are FMRFamide-related neuropeptides, a neuropeptide class distinct from NLPs (Li et al., 1999; Rogers et al., 2003). NLP-20 may be part of another neuronal pathway that mediates social feeding or other AHR functions such as movement or neuronal development. Interestingly, among the most under-expressed genes in L1 stage *ahr-1* mutants there was another neuropeptide gene, *nlp-30* (**II**, **Table 2**), suggesting a role for AHR-1 in neuropeptide regulation also in the earliest larval stage. In addition, TCDD has been shown to affect the expression of neuropeptides in rat neurons through AHR (Fetissov et al., 2004; Solak et al., 2013).

A novel role for AHR-1 transcription is the regulation of proteins that contain F-box motifs. fbxa-191 and fbxa-193 are pseudogenes whereas fbxa-192 is protein-coding. Pseudogenes, mutated genes that no longer encode a functional protein, were originally considered to be junk DNA and to eventually degenerate due to accumulating mutations in the absence of selection pressure. More recent studies suggest that transcribed pseudogenes can regulate RNAs from the corresponding functional genes by binding to them as antisense RNAs, producing small interfering RNAs or competing for factors that regulate mRNA stability such as microRNAs (reviewed by Pink et al., 2011). The coordinate regulation of three similar *fbxa* genes of which two are pseudogenes and one is proteincoding may be due to a conserved regulatory sequence. Alternatively, the transcripts may affect the levels of each other. One such example is the phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) tumor suppressor gene that is regulated negatively and positively by different transcripts from its pseudogene PTENpg1 (Poliseno et al., 2010; Johnsson et al., 2013). The extent to which AHR-1 controls non-coding RNA expression remains to be determined. However, about 12 % of the under-expressed transcripts were pseudogenes or other noncoding RNAs (data not shown).

5.2.5.2 Putative XRE sites upstream of the under-expressed genes

The XRE core sequence GCGTG was searched in 2000 bp 5' flanking sequences of the *gcy*, *nlp-20* and *fbxa* genes. Putative XREs were found in front of *nlp-20*, *gcy-32*, *gcy-33*, *gcy-35*, *fbxa-191* and *fbxa-192* (**IV**, **Figure 4**) supporting the idea that AHR-1 induces these genes via binding to the conserved XRE sequence. The different known isoforms for the *nlp-20*, *gcy-33* and *gcy-35* genes have different transcription start sites and therefore the putative XREs are in different locations for them, sometimes in introns of the other isoforms (**IV**, **Supplementary file 3**). The closest putative XRE site for *fbxa-193* is 2164 bp upstream of the transcription start site (data not shown). *gcy-36* does not have a GCGTG pattern in its 2000 bp flanking sequence but has one in its 5'UTR (data not shown) which likely is the one found earlier by Qin et al. (2006).

In the study by Qin et al. (2006), a *gcy-35* 5' flanking sequence of 1250 bp as well as a *gcy-36* 5' flanking sequence of 1172 bp were sufficient to drive GFP transgene expression in wild-type background and the expression was significantly decreased in *ahr-1(ia03)* mutants. Similarly in **IV**, *nlp-20* 5' flanking sequence of ~1800 bp was sufficient for GFP transgene expression in the presence of wild-type *ahr-1*, and the expression was significantly reduced in *ahr-1(ia03)* mutant background. This suggests that AHR-1 regulates *nlp-20*, *gcy-35* and *gcy-36* genes through these flanking sequences. However, a point mutation of the XRE in the *gcy-35*::GFP or *gcy-36*::GFP transgenic constructs did not diminish the GFP transgene expression in wild-type, suggesting that the predicted XRE

sites are not necessary for transcriptional activation of *gcy-35* or *gcy-36* by AHR-1 (Qin et al., 2006). The point mutation used by Qin et al. (2006) may not be sufficient to abolish the binding of AHR-1:AHA-1 heterodimer *in vivo* although it does so *in vitro* (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998), or the regulation of *gcy-35* and *gcy-36* by AHR-1 may be indirect or involve another AHR-1 binding sequence.

5.2.5.3 Two catalase genes were modestly over-expressed

There were far fewer over-expressed than under-expressed genes in the ahr-1 mutants (IV, Figure 2 C and D). The over-expressed genes in both *ahr-1* mutant strains included two catalase genes ctl-1 and ctl-3. Over-represented GO level 5 terms among the 14 overexpressed genes were "cellular response to reactive oxygen species", "hydrogen peroxide catabolic process", "response to hydrogen peroxide" and "catalase activity", and each term involved only the two catalase genes (IV, Supplementary file 4). AHR has been previously associated with the induction of genes in the oxidative stress pathway in higher organisms (Nebert et al., 2000; Dalton et al., 2002). However, in IV only two genes in the pathway were differentially expressed, and their over-expression in the mutants suggests that AHR-1 represses rather than induces these genes. The over-expression of ctl-1 and ctl-3 was modest: 3.0 to 4.5-fold in RNA-seq and 1.3 to 1.8-fold in qRT-PCR (data not shown). Catalase activity was not significantly increased in either *ahr-1(ia03)* or *ahr-1(ju145)* mutants when compared to N2 (data not shown). The data does not strongly support activation of oxidative stress pathways via AHR-1 in C. elegans and it is therefore possible that the role of AHR in oxidative stress observed in higher organisms has evolved separately from C. elegans.

5.3 C. ELEGANS CYP-35A SUBFAMILY

Earlier studies have indicated a role of *cyp-35A* subfamily members 2, 3, 4 and 5 in the regulation of *C. elegans* fat storage (Ashrafi et al. 2003, Menzel et al. 2007). In **III**, the effect of the *cyp-35A* subfamily genes 1, 2, 4 and 5 on fatty acid regulation was studied at multiple levels using mutants lacking the functional CYP-35A proteins. First, fat content was visualized in the mutants and wild-type. To investigate the role of the *cyp-35A* subfamily genes on the regulation of the diversity of fatty acids molecules, relative amounts of several fatty acids as well as expression level alterations of genes that control their proportions were measured. Also the levels of the endocannabinoids AEA and 2-AG in the *cyp-35A* subfamily mutants and the effect of dietary fatty acids on the gene expression of *cyp-35A* subfamily members in wild-type *C. elegans* were measured. In addition, protein sequences of human and *C. elegans* CYPs were compared.

5.3.1 Sequence alignments of human and C. elegans CYPs

Peptide sequences of human and *C. elegans* CYPs were compared to construct a phylogenetic tree showing the relations of the different CYPs (**III, Figure 1**). The *C. elegans* CYPs clustered in four major sets that corresponded to the currently accepted clans found in nematodes, i.e. 2, 3, 4 and mitochondrial (Baldwin et al., 2009). As most *C. elegans* CYP families, the CYP-35 family is found in other nematode species such as *C. briggsae* and *C. remanei* but not in vertebrate-, insect-, plant-, fungi-, or bacterial species investigated to date (Nelson, 2009).

The *C. elegans* CYP-35 family belongs to clan 2 together with the human CYP1 and CYP2 families. This clan is diverse in both human and in *C. elegans*. The CYP-35 family and the CYP-35A subfamily are relatively large (ten and five members, respectively) and the *cyp-35* genes are located in a cluster in the genome. This suggests that the *cyp-35* genes have undergone frequent duplications and losses during evolution likely in response to changing xenobiotic exposure (Thomas, 2007). The role of CYP-35A members in xenobiotic metabolism is also supported by studies showing that the *cyp-35A* family genes are induced

by a number of xenobiotics (Menzel et al., 2001, 2005, 2007; Kwon et al., 2004; Roh et al., 2006, 2007, 2010; Chakrapani et al., 2008; Roh and Choi, 2011; Peltonen et al., 2013,). The human CYP1 and CYP2 families metabolize xenobiotics and also a wide variety of endogenous compounds including fatty acids and their derivatives (Nebert et al., 2013). The CYP-35 family is also somewhat related to the *C. elegans* CYP-33E2 that metabolizes fatty acids into signaling molecules (Kulas et al., 2008; Kosel et al., 2011).

The CYP-35A peptides are very similar to each other especially at the first 100 amino acids from the N terminus and from amino acid 300 to 400 (**III, Supplementary Figure 1**). Within the family, CYP-35A2 and CYP-35A3 are the most similar and CYP-35A1 the most different in sequence. CYP-35A1 is missing a 38 amino acid sequence that the other four CYPs have in the middle of the peptide chain (amino acids 254 to 291) while it has additional amino acids closer to the C terminus.

5.3.2 Fat was reduced in cyp-35A1 and cyp-35A5 mutant C. elegans

To investigate the role of *cyp-35A* subfamily members 2, 3, 4 and 5 in the regulation of *C. elegans* fat storage, fat content was visualized in *cyp-35A1, cyp-35A2, cyp-35A4,* and *cyp-35A5* mutants and wild-type using Oil-Red-O (Soukas et al., 2009; Horikawa and Sakamoto, 2010) instead of Nile Red used in earlier studies (Ashrafi et al., 2003; Menzel et al., 2007). Fat content was reduced in *cyp-35A1* and *cyp-35A5* mutants (**III, Figure 2**), which supports the role of the CYP-35A subfamily in fat storage. The reduced fat in the lack of CYP-35A1 had not been reported before, likely due to allelic differences. Fat content was reduced in the *cyp-35A1(ok2306)* mutant (**III**) but not in the *cyp-35A1(ok1414)* mutant (data not shown) that was also used by Menzel et al. (2007).

Unlike in the study by Menzel et al. (2007), any marked reduction in fat stores could not be seen in *cyp-35A2(gk317)* or *cyp-35A4(ok1393)* mutants. The difference is most likely due to the dyes that stain distinct, mostly nonoverlapping fat compartments. Nile Red stains the intestinal acidic lysosome-related organelles (LROs) whereas Oil-Red-O stains neutral lipid vesicles in the intestine, hypodermis, gonad, and eggs (O'Rourke et al., 2009). In fasting conditions and several mutants Oil-Red-O signal correlates with triglyceride mass measured with biochemical assays whereas Nile Red signal does not (O'Rourke et al., 2009). The *cyp-35A2* and *cyp-35A4* mutants may be depleted in Nile Red-positive LRO fat but not in Oil-Red-O-positive lipid droplet fat. More sensitive methods such as solid-phase chromatography followed by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (O'Rourke et al., 2009) could detect possible alterations in the total triglyceride content of the *cyp-35A2* and *cyp-35A4* mutants.

Our results suggest that CYP-35A1 and CYP-35A5 are necessary, but not sufficient to maintain fat storage. The molecular mechanism by which these CYPs act may be complex as fat storage is influenced by several processes such as food sensation, feeding, neuroendocrine control of metabolism, nutrient absorption and transport, *de novo* synthesis of fatty acids, triglyceride production, lipid droplet/LRO formation, lipolysis, and energy production from fats (Ashrafi, 2007). Genome-wide RNAi studies in *C. elegans* have revealed 305 gene inactivations that reduce Nile-Red-positive body fat (Ashrafi et al., 2003). These genes include metabolic enzymes, lipid interacting proteins, transcription factors, signal transduction molecules, receptors, channels and transporters, energy metabolism enzymes, cell surface molecules, vesicular transport proteins, protein degradation enzymes, cytoskeletal proteins, and general cellular machinery proteins.

5.3.3 Fatty acid compositions and gene expression levels of enzymes that regulate them were altered in the *cyp-35A* subfamily mutants

To investigate the possible role of the *cyp*-35A subfamily genes on the regulation of fatty acid diversity, relative amounts of several different fatty acids were measured in the *cyp*-35A subfamily mutants. Also gene expression levels of the fatty acid desaturase genes *fat*-1,

fat-2, fat-3, fat-4, fat-5, fat-6 and *fat-7* and the elongase genes *elo-1, elo-2, elo-5,* and *elo-6* that control the proportions of different fatty acids were measured in the mutants.

The fatty acid compositions showed modest but statistically significant changes (III, **Figure 3**). The most affected fatty acid profiles were seen in the *cyp-35A1* and *cyp-35A5* mutants in which also fat content was reduced. Also gene expressions were mostly altered in these two mutants (III, Figure 5A). The *cyp-35A5* mutant differed from the other mutants in the directions of the changes: its fatty acids were slightly shifted towards longer chain fatty acids whereas in the other mutants the trend was opposite. In addition, all of the genes measured appeared under-expressed in the *cyp-35A5* mutant (decreases in *fat-1* and *fat-3* being statistically significant) whereas in the other mutants, particularly *cyp-35A1*, the same genes were over-expressed.

The differentially expressed *fat* and *elo* genes are regulated by transcription factors such as NHR-49, SBP-1 or DAF-16 (Kamath et al., 2003; Murphy et al., 2003; Van Gilst et al., 2005a, b; Kniazeva et al., 2008). One possible mechanism for the altered gene expression is that the CYP-35A members synthesize or degrade ligands for such transcription factors.

Some of the gene expression changes of the enzymes appear to explain the alterations in the levels their fatty acid substrates or metabolites (**III, Figure 5B**). For example, γ -linoleic acid (18:3n6) is increased in the *cyp-35A1* mutant and the *fat-3* gene encoding the enzyme that synthesizes it is over-expressed. However, not all alterations appear concordant in the same sense. For example, the over-expression of the *fat* and *elo* genes in the *cyp-35A1* mutant would suggest a shift towards longer and more unsaturated fatty acids but this was not seen in its fatty acid composition. Alterations in gene expression levels of enzymes precede (and not always predict) alterations in their protein levels or enzyme activities. The fatty acids might also form feedback loops to control gene expression of the enzymes responsible for their synthesis or metabolism. Thus, the alterations seen in the assays may depend on timing issues.

Overall, the alterations in the fatty acid compositions were small considering the obvious reduction of fat in *cyp-35A1* and *cyp-35A5* mutants. Possible local alterations may be diluted, as whole animals were used and different tissues or subcellular fractions were not separated. Alternatively, the small changes might reflect a strong metabolic drive to maintain the diversity of fatty acids. It is possible that other factors, such as those that cause the reduced fat phenotype, also affect amounts of specific fatty acids and the gene expression alterations of the *fat* and *elo* enzymes are a homeostatic response to compensate these changes. Moreover, major changes in fatty acid composition profiles are typically seen only in *C. elegans* mutants lacking enzymes required for fatty acid desaturation or elongation (Watts and Browse, 2002; Kniazeva et al., 2004) while changes are more moderate in e.g. mutants lacking transcription factors that regulate genes in the fatty acid metabolism pathways (Van Gilst et al., 2005a, b; Taubert et al., 2006; **II**).

The *acs*-2 gene that encodes the fatty acid CoA synthetase 2 enzyme required in the first step of fatty acid β -oxidation was only slightly over-expressed in the *cyp*-35A2 mutant (fold change 1.7) and under-expressed in the *cyp*-35A5 mutant (fold change 0.8), and unaffected in *cyp*-35A1 and *cyp*-35A4 mutants. The results do not indicate increased usage of fatty acids for energy in β -oxidation in the *cyp*-35A mutants that would explain the depletion of fat stores.

5.3.4 The endocannabinoid AEA was increased in the *cyp*-35A5 mutant

The endocannabinoids AEA and 2-AG are arachidonic acid-containing signaling molecules that control e.g. food intake and fat synthesis in mammals. Levels of AEA and 2-AG were measured in the *cyp-35A* subfamily mutants. AEA was increased 4.6-fold in the *cyp-35A5* mutant when compared to wild-type, but unaltered in the other *cyp-35A* mutants (**III**, **Figure 4**). 2-AG was not significantly altered in any of the *cyp-35A* mutants tested.

One hypothesis is that CYP-35A5 could metabolize AEA as some mammalian CYPs have been shown to do in earlier studies (Bornheim et al., 1995; Snider et al., 2007, 2008; Stark et

al., 2008; Pratt-Hyatt et al., 2010). In *C. elegans*, the degradation of AEA depends on the FAAH ortholog FAAH-1 (Lucanic et al., 2011). Therefore it seems unlikely that AEA catabolism would also require CYP-35A5 as an AEA-metabolizing enzyme. Rather, enzymes of AEA synthesis and/or degradation could be regulated in the *cyp-35A5* mutant.

AEA signaling is also connected to the regulation of energy homeostasis. It increases feeding and fat content in mammals (Matias and Di Marzo, 2007; Maccarrone et al., 2010). In *C. elegans*, AEA and other NAEs mediate the signal of nutrient availability: Dietary restriction leads to a decrease in NAE levels that is necessary for metabolic alterations involved in dauer formation and longevity (Lucanic et al., 2011). Metabolic alterations during dauer formation include also fat accumulation (Watts, 2008). Whether the increased AEA could be a homeostatic response or part of an underlying mechanism causing the reduced internal fat stores observed in the *cup-35A5* mutant remains to be investigated.

5.3.5 Feeding with oleic and elaidic acids decreased the expression of *cyp-35A* subfamily genes in wild-type *C. elegans*

Gene expression of the CYP35A subfamily members was investigated in response to feeding of fatty acids. Diet affects CYP activities in mammals (Murray, 2006) and for example high-fat diet has been shown to lower the gene expression of a CYP in mouse liver (Yoshinari et al., 2006). Wild-type *C. elegans* were fed with oleic (18:n9*cis*) and elaidic (18:1n9*trans*) acids that are not present in the standard OP50 *E. coli* diet but have been detected in *C. elegans* (**II, Figure 1**). Feeding of oleic or elaidic acid in triglycerides lowered the expression levels of the *cyp-35A2, cyp-35A4*, and *cyp-35A5* genes whereas the *cyp-35A1* gene was not differentially expressed (**III, Table 1**). There was no difference between the effect of the *cis* and *trans* forms on *cyp-35A* subfamily gene expression.

Similar feeding of oleic and elaidic acids in triglycerides has been shown to result in an altered expression of some fat metabolism genes in *C. elegans*, including the fatty acid desaturase *fat-7*, the fatty acid β -oxidation gene *acs-2*, the transcriptional regulator genes *mdt-15* and *daf-16* and a steroid dehydrogenase gene *let-767* that is also involved in the production of fatty acids (Reisner et al., 2011). Our result supports the hypothesis that the CYP-35A subfamily members function in the same or parallel pathways with these genes to regulate fat metabolism in response to dietary fatty acids.

6 Summary and conclusions

The aims of the present study were to investigate the basic physiological roles of AHR and CYPs in *C. elegans* and follow the development of gene expression profiling methods and their usage. Loss-of-function mutants were studied using a combination of phenotyping, fatty acid profiling and transcriptomics approaches.

To summarize the main findings:

1. Systematic analysis of neuroscience publications between years 1999 and 2004 revealed a growing trend in the application of microarrays in gene expression profiling experiments that has continued until recent years (I). The use of RNA-seq is growing although microarrays may still be a more used method in neuroscience. Most of the animal species used were relatively large vertebrates. Neuron-specific gene expression can be profiled also in *C. elegans* with new techniques but it is far more challenging than the profiling of whole animals. Microarray data in the neurosciences was not shared effectively during 1999-2004. To date, the situation has improved as public databases contain tens of thousands of datasets related to neuroscience. However, the reporting of the experiments and especially data analysis steps as well as the inclusion of both raw and processed data could still be better.

2. The lack of functional AHR-1 affected neuromuscular behaviors including movement, egg laying and defecation (II), which is consistent with the role of AHR-1 in neuronal development. Fatty acid compositions suggest a role for AHR in regulating the synthesis of long-chain, unsaturated fatty acids, that eventually produce lipid signaling molecules. AHR was also required for normal larval development rate. This is consistent with the gene expression profile of L1 stage *ahr-1* mutants that supports a role of AHR in growth, and also in metabolism, homeostasis and signal transduction. In the L4 stage, AHR-1 regulates the expression of genes involved in neuronal function as well as transcribed pseudogenes or other noncoding RNAs (IV). Overall, the results suggest that many of the physiological roles of AHR-1 are conserved despite the apparently different activation of AHR in vertebrates and invertebrates.

3. Members of the highly xenobiotic-inducible CYP-35A subfamily were required for the normal accumulation of fat in *C. elegans* (III). They were demonstrated to have a role in the dynamic regulation of the variety of different fatty acid molecules in the nematode. In addition, the results suggest that CYP-35A5 plays a part in the regulation of the endocannabinoid AEA levels in *C. elegans*. These results provide a framework for future mechanistic studies to investigate fatty acid signaling using *C. elegans*. These findings also predict an elaborate role for CYPs overall in regulating signaling molecules in higher organisms.

Taken together, many of the roles of AHR and CYPs are conserved between *C. elegans* and mammals and *C. elegans* can be used as a model in molecular toxicology. This information on physiological roles of AHR and CYPs may help to understand the mechanisms of action of their altered activity caused by mutations or toxins and should be taken into consideration when assessing chemicals humans are exposed to or before developing treatments against the undesired effects.



References

- Abbott, B.D., Schmidt, J.E., Pitt, J.A., Buckalew, A.R., Wood, C.R., Held, G.A. and Diliberto, J.J., 1999. Adverse reproductive outcomes in the transgenic Ah receptor-deficient mouse. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 155(1), pp.62-70.
- Agarwal, A., Koppstein, D., Rozowsky, J., Sboner, A., Habegger, L., Hillier, L.W., Sasidharan, R., Reinke, V., Waterston, R.H. and Gerstein, M., 2010. Comparison and calibration of transcriptome data from RNA-Seq and tiling arrays. *BMC Genomics*, 11, p.383.
- Agbor, L.N., Elased, K.M. and Walker, M.K., 2011. Endothelial cell-specific aryl hydrocarbon receptor knockout mice exhibit hypotension mediated, in part, by an attenuated angiotensin II responsiveness. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 82(5), pp.514-523.
- Albert, P.S. and Riddle, D.L., 1988. Mutants of *Caenorhabditis elegans* that form dauer-like larvae. *Developmental Biology*, 126(2), pp.270-293.
- Alexander, D.L., Ganem, L.G., Fernandez-Salguero, P., Gonzalez, F. and Jefcoate, C.R., 1998. Aryl-hydrocarbon receptor is an inhibitory regulator of lipid synthesis and of commitment to adipogenesis. *Journal of Cell Science*, 111(Pt 22), pp.3311-3322.
- Amacher, D.E., 2010. The effects of cytochrome P450 induction by xenobiotics of endobiotic metabolism in pre-clinical safety studies. *Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods*, 20(4), pp.159-166.
- Anbalagan, C., Lafayette, I., Antoniou-Kourounioti, M., Gutierrez, C., Martin, J.R., Chowdhuri, D.K. and De Pomerai, D.I., 2013. Use of transgenic GFP reporter strains of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* to investigate the patterns of stress responses induced by pesticides and by organic extracts from agricultural soils. *Ecotoxicology*, 22(1), pp.72-85.
- Andreola, F., Fernandez-Salguero, P.M., Chiantore, M.V., Petkovich, M.P., Gonzalez, F.J. and De Luca, L.M., 1997. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor knockout mice (AHR-/-) exhibit liver retinoid accumulation and reduced retinoic acid metabolism. *Cancer Research*, 57(14), pp.2835-2838.
- Andreola, F., Hayhurst, G.P., Luo, G., Ferguson, S.S., Gonzalez, F.J., Goldstein, J.A. and De Luca, L.M., 2004a. Mouse liver CYP2C39 is a novel retinoic acid 4-hydroxylase. Its downregulation offers a molecular basis for liver retinoid accumulation and fibrosis in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-null mice. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(5), pp.3434-3438.
- Andreola, F., Calvisi, D.F., Elizondo, G., Jakowlew, S.B., Mariano, J., Gonzalez, F.J. and De Luca, L.M., 2004b. Reversal of liver fibrosis in aryl hydrocarbon receptor null mice by dietary vitamin A depletion. *Hepatology*, 39(1), pp.157-166.
- Angrish, M.M., Jones, A.D., Harkema J.R. and Zacharewski, T.R., 2011. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated induction of stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 alters hepatic fatty acid composition in TCDD-elicited steatosis. *Toxicological Sciences*, 124(2), pp.299-310.

- Angrish, M.M., Mets, B.D., Jones, A.D. and Zacharewski, T.R., 2012. Dietary fat is a lipid source in 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD)-elicited hepatic steatosis in C57BL/6 mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 128(2), pp.377-386.
- Angrish, M.M., Dominici, C.Y. and Zacharewski, T.R., 2013. TCDD-elicited effects on liver, serum, and adipose lipid composition in C57BL/6 mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 131(1), pp.108-115.
- Arsenescu, V., Arsenescu, R.I., King, V., Swanson, H. and Cassis, L.A., 2008. Polychlorinated biphenyl-77 induces adipocyte differentiation and proinflammatory adipokines and promotes obesity and atherosclerosis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 116(6), pp.761-768.
- Ashrafi, K., Chang, F.Y., Watts, J.L., Fraser, A.G., Kamath, R.S., Ahringer, J. and Ruvkun, G., 2003. Genome-wide RNAi analysis of *Caenorhabditis elegans* fat regulatory genes. *Nature*, 421(6920), pp.268-272.
- Ashrafi, K., 2007. Obesity and the regulation of fat metabolism. In: The *C. elegans* Research Community, ed., *WormBook*, Available at http://www.wormbook.org [Accessed 18 Mar 2014].
- Awumey, E.M., Hill, S.K., Diz, D.I. and Bukoski, R.D., 2008. Cytochrome P450 metabolites of 2-arachidonoyl glycerol play a role in Ca²⁺-induced relaxation of rat mesenteric arteries. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatury Physiology*, 294(5), pp.H2362-H2370.
- Ayala, F.J., Rzhetsky, A. and Ayala, F.J., 1998. Origin of the metazoan phyla: molecular clocks confirm paleontological estimates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(2), pp.606-611.
- Ayyadevara, S., Tazearslan, C., Bharill, P., Alla, R., Siegel, E. and Shmookler, R.J.R., 2009. *Caenorhabditis elegans* PI3K mutants reveal novel genes underlying exceptional stress resistance and lifespan. *Aging Cell*, 8(6), pp.706-725.
- Baba, T., Shima, Y., Owaki, A., Mimura, J., Oshima, M., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and Morohashi, K.I., 2008. Disruption of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) induces regression of the seminal vesicle in aged male mice. *Sex*, 2(1), pp.1-11.
- Bacsi, S.G., Reisz-Porszasz, S. and Hankinson, O., 1995. Orientation of the heterodimeric aryl hydrocarbon (dioxin) receptor complex on its asymmetric DNA recognition sequence. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 47(3), pp.432-438.
- Baker, D., Pryce, G., Davies, W.L. and Hiley, C.R., 2005. *In silico* patent searching reveals a new cannabinoid receptor. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 27(1), pp.1-4.
- Baldwin, W.S., Marko, P.B. and Nelson, D.R., 2009. The cytochrome P450 (CYP) gene superfamily in *Daphnia pulex*. *BMC Genomics*, 10, p.169.
- Barhoover, M.A., Hall, J.M., Greenlee, W.F. and Thomas, R.S., 2010. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates cell cycle progression in human breast cancer cells via a functional interaction with cyclin-dependent kinase 4. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 77(2), pp.195-201.

- Barnett, K.R., Tomic, D., Gupta, R.K., Miller, K.P., Meachum, S., Paulose, T. and Flaws, J.A., 2007a. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor affects mouse ovarian follicle growth via mechanisms involving estradiol regulation and responsiveness. *Biology of Reproduction*, 76(6), pp.1062-1070.
- Barnett, K.R., Tomic, D., Gupta, R.K., Babus, J.K., Roby, K.F., Terranova, P.F. and Flaws, J.A., 2007b. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is required for normal gonadotropin responsiveness in the mouse ovary. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 223(1), pp.66-72.
- Beischlag, T.V., Wang, S., Rose, D.W., Torchia, J., Reisz-Porszasz, S., Muhammad, K., Nelson, W.E., Probst, M.R., Rosenfeld, M.G. and Hankinson, O., 2002. Recruitment of the NCoA/SRC-1/p160 family of transcriptional coactivators by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor/aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator complex. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(12), pp.4319-4333.
- Beischlag, T.V., Luis Morales, J., Hollingshead, B.D. and Perdew, G.H., 2008. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex and the control of gene expression. *Critical Reviews in Eukaryote Gene Expression*, 18(3), pp.207-250.
- Bell, D.R. and Poland, A., 2000. Binding of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) to AhRinteracting protein. The role of Hsp90. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(46), pp.36407-36414.
- Benedict, J.C., Lin, T.M., Loeffler, I.K., Peterson, R.E. and Flaws, J.A., 2000. Physiological role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in mouse ovary development. *Toxicological Sciences*, 56(2), pp.382-388.
- Benedict, J.C., Miller, K.P., Lin, T.-M., Greenfeld, C., Babus, J.K., Peterson, R.E. and Flaws, J.A., 2003. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates growth, but not atresia, of mouse preantral and antral follicles. *Biology of Reproduction*, 68(5), pp.1511-1517.
- Benenati, G., Penkov, S., Müller-Reichert, T., Entchev, E.V. and Kurzchalia, T.V., 2009. Two cytochrome P450s in *Caenorhabditis elegans* are essential for the organization of eggshell, correct execution of meiosis and the polarization of embryo. *Mechanisms of Development*, 126(5-6), pp.382-393.
- Berezikov, E., Bargmann, C.I and Plasterk, R.H.A., 2004. Homologous targeting in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by biolistic transformation. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 32(4), p.e40.
- Berger, S.L., 2007. The complex language of chromatin regulation during transcription. *Nature*, 447(7143), pp.407-412.
- Birnby, D.A., Link, E.M., Vowels, J.J., Tian, H., Colacurcio, P.L. and Thomas, J.H., 2000. A transmembrane guanylyl cyclase (DAF-11) and Hsp90 (DAF-21) regulate a common set of chemosensory behaviors in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genetics*, 155(1), pp.71-94.
- Bisogno, T., Howell, F., Williams, G., Minassi, A., Maria Grazia Cascio, Alessia Ligresti, Isabel Matias, Aniello Schiano-Moriello, Paul, P., Emma-Jane Williams, Gangadharan, U., Hobbs, C., Di Marzo, V. and Doherty, P., 2003. Cloning of the first *sn*1-DAG lipases points to the spatial and temporal regulation of endocannabinoid signaling in the brain. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 163(3), pp.463-468.

- Blumenthal, T. and Gleason, K.S., 2003. *Caenorhabditis elegans* operons: form and function. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 4(2), pp.112-120.
- Bock, K.W. and Köhle, C., 2006. Ah receptor: dioxin-mediated toxic responses as hints to deregulated physiologic functions. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 72(4), pp.393-404.
- Bornheim, L.M., Kim, K.Y., Chen, B. and Correia, M.A., 1995. Microsomal cytochrome P450mediated liver and brain anandamide metabolism. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 50(5), pp.677-686.
- Bouaboula, M., Hilairet, S., Marchand, J., Fajas, L., Le Fur, G. and Casellas, P., 2005. Anandamide induced PPARγ transcriptional activation and 3T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 517(3), pp.174-181.
- Boutros, P.C., Moffat, I.D., Franc, M.A., Tijet, N., Tuomisto, J., Pohjanvirta, R. and Okey, A.B., 2004. Dioxin-responsive AHRE-II gene battery: identification by phylogenetic footprinting. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 321(3), pp.707-715.
- Boutros, P.C., Bielefeld, K.A., Pohjanvirta, R. and Harper, P.A., 2009. Dioxin-dependent and dioxin-independent gene batteries: comparison of liver and kidney in AHR-null mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 112(1), pp.245-256.
- Boutros, P.C., Moffat, I.D., Okey, A.B. and Pohjanvirta, R., 2011. mRNA levels in control rat liver display strain-specific, hereditary, and AHR-dependent components. *PLoS ONE*, 6(7), p.e18337.
- Boverhof, D.R., Burgoon, L.D., Tashiro, C., Chittim, B., Harkema J.R., Jump, D.B., Zacharewski, T.R., 2005. Temporal and dose-dependent hepatic gene expression patterns in mice provide new insights into TCDD-mediated hepatotoxicity. *Toxicological Sciences*, 85(2), pp.1048-1063.
- Brazma, A., Hingamp, P., Quackenbush, J., Sherlock, G., Spellman, P., Stoeckert, C., Aach, J., Ansorge, W., Ball, C.A., Causton, H.C., Gaasterland, T., Glenisson, P., Holstege, F.C.P., Kim, I.F., Markowitz, V., Matese, J.C., Parkinson, H., Robinson, A., Sarkans, U., Schulze-Kremer, S., Stewart, J., Taylor, R., Vilo, J. and Vingron, M., 2001. Minimum information about microarray experiment toward standards for microarray data. *Nature Genetics*, 29(4), pp.365-371.
- Brazma, A., Parkinson, H., Sarkans, U., Shojatalab, M., Vilo, J., Abeygunawardena, N., Holloway, E., Kapushesky, M., Kemmeren, P., Lara, G.G., Oezcimen, A., Rocca-Serra, P. and Sansone, S.A., 2003. ArrayExpress - a public repository for microarray gene expression data at the EBI. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 31(1), pp.68-71.
- Brazma A., 2009. Minimum Information About a Microarray Experiment (MIAME) successes, failures, challenges. *Scientific World Journal*, 9, pp.420-423.
- Brey, C.W., Nelder, M.P., Hailemariam, T., Gaugler, R. and Hashmi, S., 2009. Krüppel-like family of transcription factors: an emerging new frontier in fat biology. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 5(6), pp.622-636.
- Brivanlou, A.H. and Darnell, J.E.Jr., 2002. Signal transduction and the control of gene expression. *Science*, 295(5556), pp.813-818.

- Brock, T.J, Browse, J. and Watts, J.L., 2006. Genetic regulation of unsaturated fatty acid composition in *C. elegans. PLoS Genetics*, 2(7), p.e108.
- Brodie, A.E., Azarenko, V.A. and Hu, C.Y., 1996. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) inhibition of fat cell differentiation. *Toxicology Letters*, 84, pp. 55-59.
- Brenner, S., 1974. The genetics of Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics, 77(1), pp.71-94.
- Brenner, S., Johnson, M., Bridgham, J., Golda, G., Lloyd, D.H. Johnson, D. Luo, S. McCurdy, S., Foy, M., Ewan, M., Roth, R., George, D., Eletr, S., Albrecht, G., Vermaas, E., Williams, S.R., Moon, K., Burcham, T., Pallas, M., DuBridge, R.B., Kirchner, J., Fearon, K., Mao, J. and Corcoran, K., 2000. Gene expression analysis by massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) on microbead arrays. *Nature Biotechnology*, 18(6), pp.630-634.
- Butler, R.A., Kelley, M.L., Powell, W.H., Hahn, M.E. and Van Beneden, R.J., 2001. An aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) homologue from the soft-cell clam, *Mya arenaria*: evidence that in invertebrate homologues lack 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin and β-naphthoflavone binding. *Gene*, 278(1-2), pp.223-234.
- Carrier, F., Owens, R.A., Nebert, D.W. and Puga, A., 1992. Dioxin-dependent activation of murine *Cyp1a-1* gene transcription requires protein kinase C-dependent phosphorylation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 12(4), pp.1856-1863.
- Carver, L.A. and Bradfield, C.A., 1997. Ligand-dependent interaction of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor with a novel immunophilin homolog *in vivo*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(17), pp.11452-11456.
- Casper, R.F., Quesne, M., Rogers, I.M., Shirota, T., Jolivet, A., Milgrom, E. and Savouret, J.F., 1999. Resveratrol has antagonist activity on the aryl hydrocarbon receptor: implications for prevention of dioxin toxicity. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 56(4), pp.784-790.
- Ceron, J., Rual, J.F., Chandra, A., Dupuy, D., Vidal, M. and van den Heuvel, S., 2007. Largescale RNAi screens identify novel genes that interact with the *C. elegans* retinoblastoma pathway as well as splicing-related components with synMuv B activity. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 7, p.30.
- Chakrapani, B.P.S., Kumar, S. and Subramaniam, J.R., 2008. Development and evaluation of an *in vivo* assay in *Caenorhabditis elegans* for screening of compounds for their effect on cytochrome P₄₅₀ expression. *Journal of Biosciences*, 33(2), pp.269-277.
- Chalfie, M., Tu, Y., Euskirchen, G., Ward, W.W. and Prasher, D.C., 1994. Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. *Science*, 263(5148), pp.802-805.
- Chen, J.-K., Chen, J., Imig, J.D., Wei, S., Hachey, D.L., Jagadeesh Setti Guthi, J. S., Falck, J.R., Capdevila, J.H. and Harris, R.C., 2008. Identification of novel endogenous cytochrome P450 arachidonate metabolites with high affinity for cannabinoid receptors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(36), pp.24514-24524.
- Chen, P.-H., Chang, H., Chang, J.T. and Lin, P., 2012. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor in association with RelA modulates IL-6 expression in non-smoking lung cancer. *Oncogene*, 31(20), pp.2555-2565.

- Chen, C., Fenk, L.A. and de Bono M., 2013. Efficient genome editing in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by CRISPR-targeted homologous recombination. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(20), p.e193.
- Cheung, B.H.H., Arellano-Carbajal, F., Rybicki, I. and De, B.M., 2004. Soluble guanylate cyclases act in neurons exposed to the body fluid to promote *C. elegans* aggregation behavior. *Current Biology*, 14(12), pp.1105-1111.
- Chevallier, A., Mialot, A., Petit, J.M., Fernandez-Salguero, P., Barouki, R., Coumoul, X. and Beraneck, M., 2013. Oculomotor deficits in aryl hydrocarbon receptor null mouse. *PLoS ONE*, 8(1), p.e53520.
- Cho, Y.C., Zheng, W. and Jefcoate, C.R., 2004. Disruption of cell-cell contact maximally but transiently activates AhR-mediated transcription in 10T1/2 fibroblasts. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 199(3), pp.220-238.
- Christensen, M., Estevez, A., Yin, X., Fox, R., Morrison, R., McDonnell, M., Gleason, C., Miller, D.M.3rd and Strange, K., 2002. A primary culture system for functional analysis of *C. elegans* neurons and muscle cells. *Neuron*, 33(4), pp.503-514.
- Chu, C.J., Huang, S.M., De Petrocellis, L., Bisogno, T., Ewing, S.A., Miller, J.D., Zipkin, R.E., Daddario, N., Appendino, G., Di Marzo, V. and Walker J.M., 2003. N-oleoyldopamine, a novel endogenous capsaicin-like lipid that produces hyperalgesia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(16), pp.13633-13639.
- Cinar, H., Keles, S. and Jin, Y., 2005. Expression profiling of GABAergic motor neurons in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Current Biology*, 15(4), pp.340-346.
- Clapier, C.R. and Cairns, B.R., 2009. The biology of chromatin remodeling complexes. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 78, pp.273-304.
- Coates, J.C. and de Bono, M., 2002. Antagonistic pathways in neurons exposed to body fluid regulate social feeding in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature*, 419(6910), pp.925-929.
- Collins, L.L., Williamson, M.A., Thompson, B.D., Dever, D.P., Gasiewicz, T.A. and Opanashuk, L.A., 2008. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin exposure disrupts granule neuron precursor maturation in the developing mouse cerebellum. *Toxicological Sciences*, 103(1), pp.125-136.
- Colosimo, M.E., Brown, A., Mukhopadhyay, S., Gabel, C., Lanjuin, A.E., Samuel, A.D.T. and Sengupta, P., 2004. Identification of thermosensory and olfactory neuron-specific genes via expression profiling of single neuron types. *Current Biology*, 14(24), pp.2245-2251.
- Coolon, J.D., Jones, K.L., Todd, T.C., Carr, B.C. and Herman, M.A., 2009. *Caenorhabditis elegans* genomic response to soil bacteria predicts environment-specific genetic effects on life history traits. *PLoS Genetics*, 5(6), p.e1000503.
- Cota, D., Sandoval, D.A., Olivieri, M., Prodi, E., D'Alessio, D.A., Woods, S.C., Seeley, R.J. and Obici, S., 2009. Food intake-independent effects of CB1 antagonism on glucose and lipid metabolism. *Obesity*, 17(8), pp.1641-1645.

- Cravatt, B.F., Giang, D.K., Mayfield, S.P., Boger, D.L., Lerner, R.A. and Gilula, N.B., 1996. Molecular characterization of an enzyme that degrades neuromodulatory fatty-acid amides. *Nature*, 384(6604), pp.83-87.
- Crews, S.T. and Brenman, J.E., 2006. Spineless provides a little backbone for dendritic morphogenesis. *Genes & Development*, 20(20), pp.2773-2778.
- Cui, Y., McBride, S.J., Boyd, W.A., Alper, S. and Freedman, J.H., 2007. Toxicogenomic analysis of *Caenorhabditis elegans* reveals novel genes and pathways involved in the resistance to cadmium toxicity. *Genome Biology*, 8(6), p.R122.
- Curran, C.P., Nebert, D.W., Genter, M.B., Patel, K.V., Schaefer, T.L., Skelton, M.R., Williams, M.T. and Vorhees, C.V., 2011. *In utero* and lactational exposure to PCBs in mice: adult offspring show altered learning and memory depending on *Cyp1a2* and *Ahr* genotypes. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 119(9), pp.1286-1293.
- Curran, C.P., Altenhofen, E., Ashworth, A., Brown, A., Kamau-Cheggeh, C., Curran, M., Evans, A., Floyd, R., Fowler, J., Garber, H., Hays, B., Kraemer, S., Lang, A., Mynhier, A., Samuels, A. and Strohmaier, C., 2012. *Ahrd Cyp1a2(-/-)* mice show increased susceptibility to PCB-induced developmental neurotoxicity. *Neurotoxicology*, 33(6), pp.1436-1442.
- Dabir, P., Marinic, T.E., Krukovets, I. and Stenina, O.I., 2008. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor is activated by glucose and regulates the thrombospondin-1 gene promoter in endothelial cells. *Circulation Research*, 102(12), pp.1558-1565.
- Dalton, T.P., Puga, A. and Shertzer, H.G., 2002. Induction of cellular oxidative stress by aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 141(1-2), pp.77-95.
- Davidson, B.C. and Cantrill, R.C., 1985. Fatty acid nomenclature. A short review. South African Medical Journal, 67(16), pp.633-634.
- de Bono, M. and Bargmann, C.I., 1998. Natural variation in a neuropeptide Y receptor homolog modifies social behavior and food response in *C. elegans. Cell*, 94(5), pp.679-689.
- Denis, M., Cuthill, S., Wikström, A.C., Poellinger, L. and Gustafsson, J.A., 1988. Association of the dioxin receptor with the Mr 90,000 heat shock protein: a structural kinship with the glucocorticoid receptor. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 155(2), pp.801-807.
- Denison, M.S., Fisher, J.M. and Whitlock, J.P.Jr., 1988. The DNA recognition site for the dioxin-Ah receptor complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 236(33), pp.17221-17224.
- Denison, M.S. and Nagy, S.R., 2003. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor by structurally diverse exogenous and endogenous chemicals. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 43, pp.309-334.
- Dertinger, S.D., Silverstone, A.E. and Gasiewicz, T.A., 1998. Influence of aromatic hydrocarbon receptor-mediated events on the genotoxicity of cigarette smoke condensate. *Carcinogenesis*, 19(11), pp.2037-2042.

- Devane, W.A., Dysarz, F.A. 3rd, Johnson, M.R., Melvin, L.S. and Howlett, A.C., 1988. Determination and characterization of a cannabinoid receptor in rat brain. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 34(5), pp.605-613.
- Devane, W.A., Hanus, L., Breuer, A., Pertwee, R.G., Stevenson, L.A., Griffin, G., Gibson, D., Mandelbaum, A., Etinger, A. and Mechoulam, R., 1992. Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. *Science*, 258(5090), pp.1946-1949.
- Dickinson, D.J., Ward, J.D., Reiner, D.J. and Goldstein, B., 2013. Engineering the *Caenorhabditis elegans* genome using Cas9-triggered homologous recombination. *Nature Methods*, 10(10), pp.1028-1034.
- Dinh, T.P., Freund, T.F. and Piomelli, D., 2002. A role for monoglyceride lipase in 2arachidonoylglycerol inactivation. *Chemistry and Physics of Lipids*, 121(1-2), pp.149-158.
- Domanski, T.L., Finta, C., Halpert, J.R. and Zaphiropoulos, P.G., 2001. cDNA cloning and initial characterization of CYP3A43, a novel human cytochrome P450. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 59(2), pp.386-392.
- Dong, B. and Matsumura, F., 2008. Roles of cytosolic phospholipase A2 and Src kinase in the early action of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin through a nongenomic pathway in MCF10A cells. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 74(1), pp.255-263.
- Dong, B. and Matsumura, F., 2009. The conversion of rapid TCCD nongenomic signals to persistent inflammatory effects via select protein kinases in MCF10A cells. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 23(4), pp.549-558.
- Dupuy, D., Li, Q.R., Deplancke, B., Boxem, M., Hao, T., Lamesch, P., Sequerra, R., Bosak, S., Doucette-Stamm, L., Hope, I.A., Hill, D.E., Walhout, A.J.M. and Vidal, M., 2004. A first version of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* promoterome. *Genome Research*, 14(10B), pp.2169-2175.
- Edgar, R., Domrachev, M. and Lasha, A.E., 2002. Gene Expression Omnibus: NCBI gene expression and hybridization array data repository. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30(1), pp.207-210.
- Elizondo, G., Rodríguez-Sosa, M., Estrada-Muñiz, E., Gonzalez, F.J. and Vega, L., 2011. Deletion of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor enhances the inflammatory response to *Leishmania major* infection. *International Journal of Biological Sciences* 7(9), pp.1220-1229.
- Enan, E. and Matsumura, F., 1995. Evidence for a second pathway in the action mechanism of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD). Significance of Ah-receptor mediated activation of protein kinase under cell-free conditions. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 49(2), pp. 249-261.
- Fernandez-Salguero, P., Pineau, T., Hilbert, D.M., McPhail, T., Lee, S.S.T., Kimura, S., Nebert, D.W., Rudikoff, S., Ward, J.M. and Gonzalez, F.J., 1995. Immune system impairment and hepatic fibrosis in mice lacking the dioxin-binding Ah receptor. *Science*, 268(5211), pp.722-726.
- Fernandez-Salguero, P.M., Hilbert, D.M., Rudikoff, S., Ward, J.M. and Gonzalez, F.J., 1996. Aryl-hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice are resistant to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzodioxin-induced toxicity. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 140(1), pp.173-179.

- Fernandez-Salguero, P.M., Ward, J.M., Sundberg, J.P. and Gonzalez, F.J., 1997. Lesions of aryl-hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice. *Veterinary Pathology*, 34(6), pp.605-614.
- Fetissov, S.O., Huang, P., Zhang, Q., Mimura, J., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Rannug, A., Hökfelt, T. and Ceccatelli, S., 2004. Expression of hypothalamic neuropeptides after acute TCDD treatment and distribution of Ah receptor repressor. *Regulatory Peptides*, 119(1-2), pp.113-124.
- Feyereisen, R., 2006. Evolution of insect P450. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 34(Pt 6), pp.1252-1255.
- Fine, P.G. and Rosenfeld, M.J., 2013. The endocannabinoid system, cannabinoids, and pain. *Rambam Maimonides Medical Journal*, 4(4), p.e0022.
- Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M.K., Kostas, S.A., Driver, S.E. and Mello, C.C., 1998. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature*, 391(6669), pp.806-811.
- Forgacs, A.L., Kent, M.N., Makley, M.K., Mets, B., DelRaso, N., Jahns, G.L., Burgoon, L.D., Zacharewski, T.R. and Reo, N.V., 2012. Comparative metabolomic and genomic analyses of TCDD-elicited metabolic disruption in mouse and rat liver. *Toxicological Sciences*, 125(1), pp.41-55.
- Fox, R.M., Von Stetina, S.E., Barlow, S.J., Shaffer, C., Olszewski, K.L., Moore, J.H., Dupuy, D., Vidal, M. and Miller, D.M., 2005. Gene expression fingerprint of *C. elegans* embryonic motor neurons. *BMC Genomics*, 6, p.42.
- Fraser, A.G., Kamath, R.S., Zipperlen, P., Martinez-Campos, M., Sohrmann, M. and Ahringer, J., 2000. Functional genomic analysis of *C. elegans* chromosome I by systematic RNA interference. *Nature*, 408(6810), pp.325-330.
- Frauenstein, K., Sydlik, U., Tigges, J., Majora, M., Wiek, C., Hanenberg, H., Abel, J., Esser, C., Fritsche, E., Krutmann, J. and Haarmann-Stemmann, T., 2013. Evidence for a novel anti-apoptotic pathway in human keratinocytes involving the aryl hydrocarbon receptor, E2F1, and checkpoint kinase 1. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 20(10), pp.1425-1434.
- Friedland, A.E., Tzur, Y.B., Esvelt, K.M., Colaiácovo, M.P., Church, G.M. and Calarco, J.A., 2013. Heritable genome editing in *C. elegans* via a CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Nature Methods*, 10(8), pp.741-743.
- Fritsche, E., Schäfer, C., Calles, C., Bernsmann, T., Bernshausen, T., Wurm, M., Hübenthal, U., Cline, J.E., Hajimiragha, H., Schroeder, P., Klotz, L.O., Rannug, A., Fürst, P., Hanenberg, H., Abel, J. and Krutmann, J., 2007. Lightening up the UV response by identification of the arylhydrocarbon receptor as a cytoplasmatic target for ultraviolet B radiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(21), pp.8851-8856.
- Fritz, W.A., Lin, T.M., Cardiff, R.D. and Peterson, R.E., 2007. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor inhibits prostate carcinogenesis in TRAMP mice. *Carcinogenesis*, 28(2), pp.497-505.

- Fritz, W.A., Lin, T.M. and Peterson, R.E., 2008. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) inhibits vanadate-induced vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) production in TRAMP prostates. *Carcinogenesis*, 29(5), pp.1077-1082.
- Frøkjaer-Jensen, C., Davis, M.W., Hopkins, C.E., Newman, B.J., Thummel, J.M., Olesen, S.P., Grunnet, M. and Jorgensen, E.M., 2008. Single-copy insertion of transgenes in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature Genetics*, 40(11), pp.1375-1383.
- Frøkjaer-Jensen, C., Davis, M.W., Hollopeter, G., Taylor, J., Harris, T.W., Nix, P., Lofgren, R., Prestgard-Duke, M., Bastiani, M., Moerman, D.G. and Jorgensen, E.M., 2010. Targeted gene deletions in *C. elegans* using transposon excision. *Nature Methods*, 7(6), pp.451-453.
- Fu, J., Gaetani, S., Oveisi, F., Lo Verme, J., Serrano, A., Rodríguez De Fonseca, F., Rosengarth, A., Luecke, H., Di Giacomo, B., Tarzia, G. and Piomelli, D., 2003. Oleylethanolamide regulates feeding and body weight through activation of the nuclear receptor PPAR-α. *Nature*, 425(6953), pp.90-93.
- Functional Genomics Data Society, 2010. A non-exhaustive list of journals requiring MIAME compliant data as a condition for publishing microarray based papers. Available at: http://www.mged.org/Workgroups/MIAME/journals.html [Accessed 15 Jan 2014].
- Functional Genomics Data Society, 2014. FGED homepage. Available at http://www.fged.org [Accessed 16 Apr 2014].
- Fukunaga, B.N., Probst, M.R., Reisz-Porszasz, S. and Hankinson, O., 1995. Identification of functional domains of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270, pp.29270-29278.
- Gasiewicz, T.A., Thurmond, T.S., Staples, J.E., Murante, F.G. and Silverstone, A.E., 2000. Use of bone marrow chimeras to identify cell targets in the immune system for the actions of chemicals. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 919, pp.300-303.
- Gasiewicz, T.A., Singh, K.P. and Bennett, J.A., 2014. The Ah receptor in stem cell cycling, regulation, and quiescence. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1310(1), pp.44-50.
- Ge, N.-L. and Elferink, C.J., 1998. A direct interaction between the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and retinoblastoma protein. Linking dioxin signaling to the cell cycle. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(35), pp.22708-22713.
- Gerisch, B., Weitzel, C., Kober-Eisermann, C., Rottiers, V. and Antebi, A., 2001. A hormonal signaling pathway influencing *C. elegans* metabolism, reproductive development, and life span. *Developmental Cell*, 1(6), pp.841-851.
- Gohlke, J.M., Stockton, P.S., Sieber, S., Foley, J. and Portier, C.J., 2009. AhR-mediated gene expression in the developing mouse telencephalon. *Reproductive Toxicology*, 28(3), pp.321-328.
- Gönczy, P., Echeverri, C., Oegema, K., Coulson, A., Jones, S.J., Copley, R.R., Duperon, J., Oegema, J., Brehm, M., Cassin, E., Hannak, E., Kirkham, M., Pichler, S., Flohrs, K., Goessen, A., Leidel, S., Alleaume, A.M., Martin, C., Ozlü, N., Bork, P. and Hyman, A.A., 2000. Functional genomic analysis of cell division in *C. elegans* using RNAi of genes on chromosome III. *Nature*, 408(6810), pp.331-336.

- Gonzalez, F.J., Fernandez-Salguero, P., Lee, S.S., Pineau, T. and Ward, J.M., 1995. Xenobiotic receptor knockout mice. *Toxicology Letters*, 82-83, pp.117-121.
- Gort, E.H., van Haaften, G., Verlaan, I., Groot, A.J., Plasterk, R.H., Shvarts, A., Suijkerbuijk, K.P., van Laar, T., van der Wall, E., Raman, V., van Diest, P.J., Tijsterman, M. and Vooijs, M., 2008. The TWIST oncogene is a direct target of hypoxia-inducible factor-2α. *Oncogene*, 27(11), pp.1501-1510.
- Gotoh, O., 1998. Divergent structures of *Caenorhabditis elegans* cytochrome P450 genes suggest the frequent loss and gain of introns during the evolution of nematodes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 15(11), pp.1447-1459.
- Gotoh, O., 2012. Evolution of cytochrome p450 genes from the viewpoint of genome informatics. *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 35(6), pp.812-817.
- Gowda, M., Jantasuriyarat, C., Dean, R.A. and Wang, G.L., 2004. Robust-LongSAGE (RL-SAGE): a substantially improved LongSAGE method for gene discovery and transcriptome analysis. *Plant Physiology*, 134(3), pp.890-897.
- Gray, J.M., Karow, D.S., Lu, H., Chang, A.J., Chang, J.S., Ellis, R.E., Marletta, M.A. and Bargmann, C.I., 2004. Oxygen sensation and social feeding mediated by a *C. elegans* guanylate cyclase homologue. *Nature*, 430(6997), pp.317-322.
- Greer, E.R., Perez, C.L., Van Gilst, M.R., Lee, B.H. and Ashrafi, K., 2008. Neural and molecular dissection of a *C. elegans* sensory circuit that regulates fat and feeding. *Cell Metabolism*, 8(2), pp.118-131.
- Grünberg, S. and Hahn, S., 2013. Structural insights into transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 38(12), pp.603-611.
- Guengerich, F.P., 2001. Common and uncommon cytochrome P450 reactions related to metabolism and chemical toxicity. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 14(6), pp.611-650.
- Guo, T., Liu, X.F., Ding, X.B., Yang, F.F., Nie, Y.W., An, Y.J. and Guo, H., 2011. *Fat-1* transgenic cattle as a model to study the function of ω -3 fatty acids. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, 10, p.244.
- Haarmann-Stemmann, T., Bothe, H. and Abel, J., 2009. Growth factors, cytokines and their receptors as downstream targets of arylhydrocarbon receptor (AhR) signaling pathways. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 77(4), pp.508-520.
- Hankinson, O., 2005. Role of coactivators in transcriptional activation be the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 433(2), pp.379-386.
- Hannich, J.T., Entchev, E.V., Mende, F., Boytchev, H., Martin, R., Zagoriy, V., Theumer, G., Riezman, I., Riezman, H., Knolker, H.J. and Kurzchalia, T.V., 2009. Methylation of the sterol nucleus by STRM-1 regulates dauer larva formation in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Developmental Cell*, 16(6), pp.833-843.
- Hansen, H.S. and Diep, T.A., 2009. N-acylethanolamines, anandamide and food intake. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 78(6), pp.553-560.
- Hansen, D.A., Esakky, P., Drury, A., Lamb, L. and Moley, K.H., 2014. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is important for proper seminiferous tubule architecture and sperm development in mice. *Biology of Reproduction*, 90(1), p.8.
- Hanus, L., Gopher, A., Almog, S. and Mechoulam, R., 1993. Two new unsaturated fatty acid ethanolamides in brain that bind to the cannabinoid receptor. *Journal of Medical Chemistry*, 36(20), pp.3032-3034.
- Hanus, L., Abu-Lafi, S., Fride, E., Breuer, A., Vogel, Z., Shalev, D.E., Kustanovich, I. and Mechoulam, R., 2001. 2-arachidonyl glyceryl ether, an endogenous agonist of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor. *Proceedings if the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(7), pp.3662-3665.
- Harstad, E.B., Guite, C.A., Thomae, T.L. and Bradfield, C.A., 2006. Liver deformation in *Ahr*-null mice: evidence for aberrant hepatic perfusion in early development. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 69(5), pp.1534-1541.
- Hasegawa, K., Miwa, S., Isomura, K., Tsutsumiuchi, K., Taniguchi, H. and Miwa, J., 2008. Acrylamide-responsive genes in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Toxicological Sciences*, 101(2), pp.215-225.
- Hashimshony, T., Wagner, F., Sher, N. and Yanai, I., 2012. CEL-Seq: single-cell RNA-Seq by multiplexed linear amplification. *Cell Reports*, 2(3), pp.666-673.
- He, J., Lee, J.H., Febbraio, M. and Xie, W., 2011. The emerging roles of fatty acid translocase/CD36 and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in fatty liver disease. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 236(10), pp. 1116-1121.
- Held, J.M., White, M.P., Fisher, A.L., Gibson, B.W., Lithgow, G.J. and Gill, M.S., 2006. DAF-12-dependent rescue of dauer formation in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by (25S)-cholestenoic acid. *Aging Cell*, 5(4), pp.283-291.
- Hellerer, T., Axang, C., Brackmann, C., Hillertz, P., Pilon, M. and Enejder, A., 2007. Monitoring of lipid storage in *Caenorhabditis elegans* using coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering (CARS) microscopy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of thte United States of America*, 104(37), pp.14658-14663.
- Hermann, G.J., Schroeder, L.K., Hieb, C.A., Kershner, A.M., Rabbitts, B.M., Fonarev P., Grant, B.D. and Priess, J.R., 2005. Genetic analysis of lysosomal trafficking in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 16, pp.3273-3288.
- Hernández-Ochoa, I., Barnett-Ringgold, K.R., Dehlinger, S.L., Gupta, R.K., Leslie, T.C., Roby, K.F. and Flaws, J.A., 2010. The ability of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor to regulate ovarian follicle growth and estradiol biosynthesis in mice depends on stage of sexual maturity. *Biology of Reproduction*, 83(5), pp.698-706.
- Hernández-Ochoa, I., Gao, L., Peretz, J., Basavarajappa, M.S., Bunting, S.L., Karman, B.N., Paulose, T. and Flaws, J.A., 2013. Follicle-stimulating hormone responsiveness in antral follicles from aryl hydrocarbon receptor knockout mice. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology*, 11, p.26.

- Hoang, H.D., Prasain, J.K., Dorand, D. and Miller, M.A., 2013. A heterogeneous mixture of F-series prostaglandins promotes sperm guidance in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* reproductive tract. *PLoS Genet*ics, 9(1), p.e1003271.
- Horikawa, M., Nomura, T., Hashimoto, T. and Sakamoto, K., 2008. Elongation and desaturation of fatty acids are critical in growth, lipid metabolism and ontogeny of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 144(2), pp.149-158.
- Horikawa, M. and Sakamoto, K., 2010. Polyunsaturated fatty acids are involved in regulatory mechanism of fatty acid homeostasis via *daf-2/insulin signaling in Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 323(2), pp.183-192.
- Hu, J., Zhang, Z., Shen, W.-J. and Azhar, S., 2010. Cellular cholesterol delivery, intracellular processing and utilization for biosynthesis of steroid hormones. *Nutrition & Metabolism*, 7, p.47.
- Huang, S.M., Bisogno, T., Trevisani, M., Al-Hayani, A., De Petrocellis, L., Fezza, F., Tognetto, M., Petros, T.J., Krey, J.F., Chu, C.J., Miller, J.D., Davies, S.N., Geppetti, P., Walker, J.M. and Di Marzo, V., 2002. An endogenous capsaicin-like substance with high potency at recombinant and native vanilloid VR1 receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(12), pp.8400-8405.
- Huang, X., Powell-Coffman, J.A. and Jin, Y., 2004. The AHR-1 aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its co-factor the AHA-1 aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator specify GABAergic neuron cell fate in *C. elegans. Development*, 131(4), pp.819-828.
- Hunt-Newbury, R., Viveiros, R., Johnsen R., Mah, A., Anastas, D., Fang, L., Halfnight, E., Lee, D., Lin, J., Lorch, A., McKay, S., Okada, H.M., Pan, J., Schulz, A.K., Tu, D., Wong, K., Zhao, Z., Alexeyenko, A., Burgling, T., Sonnhammer, E., Schnadel, R., Jones, S.J., Marra, M.A., Baillie, D.L. and Moerman, D.G., 2007. High-throughput in vivo analysis of gene expression in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *PLoS Biology*, 5(9), p.e237.
- Ibarguren, M., López, D.J. and Escribá, P.V., 2014. The effect of natural and synthetic fatty acids on membrane structure, microdomain organization, cellular functions and human health. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Biomembranes*, 1838(6), pp.1518-1528.
- Ichihara, S., Yamada, Y., Ichihara, G., Nakajima, T., Li, P., Kondo, T., Gonzalez, F.J. and Murohara, T., 2007. A role for the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in regulation of ischemiainduced angiogenesis. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*, 27(6), pp.1297-1304.
- Ikeo, K., Ishi-I, J., Tamura, T., Gojobori, T. and Tateno, Y., 2003. CIBEX: center for information biology gene expression database. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, 326(10-11), pp.1079-1082.
- Ikuta, T., Kobayashi, Y. and Kawajiri, K., 2004. Cell density regulates intracellular localization of aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(18), pp.19209-19216.
- Iliff, J.J., Jia, J., Nelsona, J., Goyagid, T., Klause, J. and Alkayeda, N.J., 2010. Epoxyeicosanoid signaling in CNS function and disease. *Prostaglandins & Other Lipid Mediators*, 91(3-4), pp.68-84.

- Jensen, V.L., Simonsen, K.T., Lee, Y.H., Park, D. and Riddle, D.L., 2010. RNAi screen of DAF-16/FOXO target genes in *C. elegans* links pathogenesis and dauer formation. *PLoS* ONE, 5(12), p.e15902.
- Jeon, M.S. and Esser, C., 2000. The murine IL-2 promoter contains distal regulatory elements responsive to the Ah receptor, a member of the evolutionarily conserved bHLH-PAS transcription factor family. *Journal of Immunology*, 165(12), pp.6975-6983.
- Jeong, M.H., Kawasaki, I. and Shim, Y.H., 2010. A circulatory transcriptional regulation among *daf-9*, *daf-12*, and *daf-16* mediates larval development upon cholesterol starvation in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Developmental Dynamics*, 239(7), pp.1931-1940.
- Jia, K., Albert, P.S. and Riddle, D.L., 2002. DAF-9, a cytochrome P450 regulating *C. elegans* larval development and adult longevity. *Development*, 129(1), pp.221-231.
- Johnsson, P., Ackley, A., Vidarsdottir, L., Lui, W.O., Corcoran, M., Grandér, D. and Morris, K.V., 2013. A pseudogene long-noncoding-RNA network regulates PTEN transcription and translation in human cells. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 20(4), pp.440-446.
- Jones, K.T. and Ashrafi, K., 2009. *Caenorhabditis elegans* as an emerging model for studying the basic biology of obesity. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 2(5-6), pp.224-229.
- Jones, G., Prosser, D.E. and Kaufmann, M., 2012. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1): its important role in the degradation of vitamin D. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 523(1), pp.9-18.
- Jones, L.M., Rayson, S.J., Flemming, A.J. and Urwin, P.E., 2013. Adaptive and specialised transcriptional responses to xenobiotic stress in *Caenorhabditis elegans* are regulated by nuclear hormone receptors. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), p.e69956.
- Jordt, S.-E. and Julius, D., 2002. Molecular basis for species-specific sensitivity to "hot" chili peppers. *Cell*, 108(3), pp.421-430.
- Jourdan, T., Djaouti, L., Demixieux, L., Gresti, J., Vergès, B. and Degrace, P., 2010. CB1 antagonism exerts specific molecular effects on visceral and subcutaneous fat and reverses liver steatosis in diet-induced obese mice. *Diabetes*, 59(4), pp.926-934.
- Jux, B., Kadow, S. and Esser, C., 2009. Langerhans cell maturation and contact hypersensitivity are impaired in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-null mice. *Journal of Immunology*, 182(11), pp.6709-6717.
- Jux, B., Kadow, S., Luecke, S., Rannug, A., Krutmann, J., et al., 2011. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor mediates UVB radiation-induced skin tanning. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 131(1), pp.203-210.
- Kadandale, P., Chatterjee, I. and Singson, A., 2009. Germline transformation of *Caenorhabditis elegans* by injection. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 518, pp.123-133.
- Kadow, S., Jux, B., Zahner, S.P., Wingerath, B., Chmill, S., Clausen, B.E., Hengstler, J. and Esser, C., 2011. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor is critical for homeostasis of invariant γδ T cells in the murine epidermis. *Journal of Immunology*, 187(6), pp.3104-3110.

- Kahn-Kirby, A.H., Dantzker, J.L., Apicella, A.J., Schafer, W.R., Browse, J., Bargmann, C.I. and Watts, J.L., 2004. Specific polyunsaturated fatty acids drive TRPV-dependent sensory signaling in vivo. *Cell*, 119(6), pp.889-900.
- Kaletta, T. and Hengartner, M.O., 2006. Finding function in novel targets: *C. elegans* as a model organism. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 5(5), pp.387-398.
- Kamath, R.S., Fraser, A.G., Dong, Y., Poulin, G., Durbin, R., Gotta, M., Kanapin, A., Le Bot, N., Moreno, S., Sohrmann, M., Welchman, D.P., Zipperlen, P. and Ahringer, J., 2003. Systematic functional analysis of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* genome using RNAi. *Nature*, 421(6920), pp.231-237.
- Kang, J.X., Wang, J., Wu, L. and Kang, Z.B., 2004. Transgenic mice: *fat-1* mice convert *n-6* to *n-3* fatty acids. *Nature*, 427(6974), p.504.
- Kang, J.X., 2007. Fat-1 transgenic mice: a new model for omega-3 research. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential Fatty Acids, 77(5-6), pp.263-267.
- Kapranov, P., Cawley, S.E., Drenkow, J., Bekiranov, S., Strausberg, R.L., Fodor, S.P.A. and Gingeras, T.R., 2002. Large-scale transcriptional activity in chromosomes 21 and 22. *Science*, 296(5569), pp.916-919
- Karp, X. and Ambros, V., 2011. The developmental timing regulator HBL-1 modulates the dauer formation decision in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genetics*, 187(1), pp.345-353.
- Kashyap, L., Perera, S. and Fisher, A.L., 2012. Identification of novel genes involved in sarcopenia through RNAi screening in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Journals of Gerontolology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 67(1), pp.56-65.
- Kawano, Y., Nishiumi, S., Tanaka, S., Nobutani, K., Miki, A., Yano, Y., Seo, Y., Kutsumi, H., Ashida, H., Azuma, T. and Yoshida, M., 2010. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor induces hepatic steatosis via the upregulation of fatty acid transport. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 504(2), pp.221-227.
- Kazlauskas, A., Poellinger, L. and Pongratz, I., 1999, Evidence that the co-chaperone p23 regulates ligand responsiveness of the dioxin (Aryl hydrocarbon) receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(19), pp.13519-13524.
- Kerley-Hamilton, J.S., Trask, H.W., Ridley, C.J., Dufour, E., Ringelberg, C.S., Nurinova, N., Wong, D., Moodie, K.L., Shipman, S.L., Moore, J.H., Korc, M., Shworak, N.W. and Tomlinson, C.R., 2012. Obesity is mediated by differential aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling in mice fed a Western diet. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 120(9), pp. 1252-1259.
- Kim, Y. and Sun, H., 2007. Functional genomic approach to identify novel genes involved in the regulation of oxidative stress resistance and animal lifespan. *Aging Cell*, 6(4), pp.489-503.
- Kimura, K.D., Tissenbaum, H.A., Liu, Y. and Ruvkun, G., 1997. *daf-2*, an insulin receptorlike gene that regulates longevity and diapause in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Science*, 277(5328), pp.942-946.

- Kinchen, J.M., Doukoumetzidis, K., Almendinger, J., Stergiou, L., Tosello-Trampont, A., Sifri, C.D., Hengartner, M.O. and Ravichandran, K.S., 2008. A pathway for phagosome maturation during engulfment of apoptotic cells. *Nature Cell Biology*, 10(5), pp.556-566.
- Klapper, M., Ehmke, M., Palgunow, D., Böhme, M., Matthäus, C., Bergner, G., Dietzek, B., Popp, J. and Döring, F., 2011 Fluorescence-based fixative and vital staining of lipid droplets in *Caenorhabditis elegans* reveal fat stores using microscopy and flow cytometry approaches. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 52(6), pp.1281-1293.
- Klass, M.R., 1977. Aging in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*: major biological and environmental factors influencing life span. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*, 6(6), pp.413-429.
- Kleemann, G., Jia, L. and Emmons, S.W., 2008. Regulation of *Caenorhabditis elegans* male mate searching behavior by the nuclear receptor DAF-12. *Genetics*, 180(4), pp.2111-2122.
- Klinge, C.M., Bowers, J.L., Kulakosky, P.C., Kamboj, K.K. and Swanson, H.I., 1999. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR)/AHR nuclear translocator (ARNT) heterodimer interacts with naturally occurring estrogen response elements. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 157(1-2), pp.105-119.
- Kniazeva, M., Sieber, M., McCauley, S., Zhang, K., Watts, J.L. and Han, M., 2003. Suppression of the ELO-2 FA elongation activity results in alterations of the fatty acid composition and multiple physiological defects, including abnormal ultradian rhythms, in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genetics*, 163(1), pp.159-169.
- Kniazeva, M., Crawford, Q.T., Seiber, M., Wang, C.-Y. and Han, M., 2004. Monomethyl branched-chain fatty acids play an essential role in *Caenorhabditis elegans* development. *PLoS Biology*, 2(9), pp.1446-1459.
- Kniazeva, M., Euler, T. and Han, M., 2008. A branched-chain fatty acid is involved in postembryonic growth control in parallel to the insulin receptor pathway and its biosynthesis is feedback-regulated in *C. elegans. Genes & Development*, 22(15), pp.2102-2110.
- Ko, H.P., Okino, S.T., Ma, Q. and Whitlock J.P.Jr., 1997. Transactivation domains facilitate promoter occupancy for the dioxin-inducible *CYP1A1* gene in vivo. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 17(7), pp.3497-3507.
- Konkel, A. and Schunck, W.-H., 2011. Role of cytochrome P450 enzymes in the bioactivation of polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1814(1), pp.210-222.
- Kosel, M., Wild, W., Bell, A., Rothe, M., Lindschau, C., Steinberg, C.E.W., Schunk W.-H. and Menzel, R., 2011. Eicosanoid formation by a cytochrome P450 isoform expressed in the pharynx of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Biochemical Journal*, 435(3), pp.689-700.
- Kraemer, B.C., Burgess, J.K., Chen, J.H., Thomas, J.H. and Schellenberg, G.D., 2006. Molecular pathways that influence human tau-induced pathology in *C. elegans. Human Molecular Genetics*, 15(9), pp.1483-1496.
- Kubagawa, H.M., Watts, J.L., Corrigan, C., Edmonds, J.W., Sztul, E., Browse, J. and Miller, M.A., 2006. Oocyte signals derived from polyunsaturated fatty acids control sperm recruitment *in vivo*. *Nature Cell Biology*, 8(10), pp.1143-1148.

- Kuhn, K., Baker, S.C., Chudin, E., Lieu, M.H., Oeser, S., Bennett, H., Rigault, P., Barker, D., McDaniel, T.K. and Chee, M.S., 2004. A novel, high-performance random array platform for quantitative gene expression profiling. *Genome Research*, 14(11), pp.2347-2356.
- Kulas, J., Schmidt, C., Rothe, M., Schunk, W.-H. and Menzel, R., 2008. Cytochrome P450dependent metabolism of eicosapentaenoic acid in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 472(1), pp.65-75.
- Kumar, M.B. and Perdew, G.H., 1999. Nuclear receptor coactivator SRC-1 interacts with the Q-rich subdomain of the AhR and modulates its transactivation potential. *Gene Expression*, 8(5-6), pp.273-286.
- Kumar, M.B., Tarpey, R.W. and Perdew, G.H., 1999. Differential recruitment of coactivator RIP140 by Ah and estrogen receptors. Absence of a role for LXXLL motifs. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(32), pp.22155-22164.
- Kunitomo, H., Uesugi, H., Kohara, Y. and Iino, Y., 2005. Identification of ciliated sensory neuron-expressed genes in *Caenorhabditis elegans* using targeted pull-down of poly(A) tails. *Genome Biology*, 6(2), p.R17.
- Kutscher, L.M. and Shamam, S., 2014. Forward and reverse mutagenesis in *C. elegans*. In: The *C. elegans* Research Community, ed., *Wormbook*, Available at <www.wormbook.org> [Accessed 27 Mar 2014].
- Kwon, J.Y., Hong, M., Choi, M.S., Kang, S., Duke, K., Kim, S., Lee, S. and Lee, J., 2004. Ethanol-response genes and their regulation analyzed by a microarray and comparative genomic approach in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genomics*, 83(4), pp.600-614.
- Lahvis, G.P., Lindell, S.L., Thomas, R.S., McCuskey, R.S., Murphy, C., Glover, E., Bentz, M., Southard, J. and Bradfield, C.A., 2000. Portosystemic shunting and persistent fetal vascular structures in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(19), pp.10442-10447.
- Lahvis, G.P., Pyzalski, R.W., Glover, E., Pitot, H.C., McElwee, M.K. and Bradfield, C.A., 2005. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is required for developmental closure of the ductus venosus in the neonatal mouse. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 67(3), pp.714-720.
- Laing, S.T., Ivens, A., Butler, V., Ravikumar, S.P., Laing, R., Woods, D.J. and Gilleard, J.S. 2012. The transcriptional response of *Caenorhabditis elegans* to Ivermectin exposure identifies novel genes involved in the response to reduced food intake. *PLoS ONE*, 7(2), p.e31367.
- Langmead, B., Trapnell, C., Pop, M. and Salzberg, S.L., 2009. Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. *Genome Biology*, 10(3), p.R25.
- Latchman, D.S., 1996. Inhibitory transcription factors. *International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 28(9), pp.965-974.
- Latchney, S.E., Hein, A.M., O'Banion, M.K., DiCicco-Bloom, E. and Opanashuk, L.A., 2013. Deletion or activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor alters adult hippocampal neurogenesis and contextual fear memory. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 125(3), pp.430-445.

- Lee, T.I. and Young, R.A., 2000. Transcription of eukaryotic protein-coding genes. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 34, pp.77-137.
- Lee, J., Nam, S., Hwang, S.B., Hong, M., Kwon, J.Y., Joeng, K.S., Im, S.H., Shim, J. and Park, M.C., 2004. Functional genomic approaches using the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* as a model system. *Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 37(1), pp.107-113.
- Lee, J.H., Wada, T., Febbraio, M., He, J., Matsubara, T., Lee, M.J., Gonzalez, F.J. and Xie, W., 2010. A novel role for the dioxin receptor in fatty acid metabolism and hepatic steatosis. *Gastroenterology*, 139(2), pp.653-663.
- Lee, C. and Riddick, D.S., 2012. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-dependence of dioxin's effects on constitutive mouse hepatic cytochromes P450 and growth hormone signaling components. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 90(10), pp.1354-1363.
- Lehner, B., Crombie, C., Tischler, J., Fortunato, A. and Fraser, A.G., 2006. Systematic mapping of genetic interactions in *Caenorhabditis elegans* identifies common modifiers of diverse signaling pathways. *Nature Genetics*, 38(8), pp.896-903.
- Lehtonen, M., Reisner, K., Auriola, S., Wong, G. and Callaway, J.C., 2008. Massspectrometric identification of anandamide and 2-arachidonoylglycerol in nematodes. *Chemistry & Biodiversity*, 5(11), pp.2431-2441.
- Lehtonen, M., Storvik, M., Malinen, H., Hyytiä, P., Lakso, M., Auriola, S., Wong, G. and Callaway, J.C., 2011. Determination of endocannabinoids in nematodes and human brain tissue by liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography B: Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences*, 879(11-12), pp.677-694.
- Leung, D., Saghatelian, A., Simon, G.M. and Cravatt, B.F., 2006. Inactivation of N-acyl phosphatidylethanolamine phospholipase D reveals multiple mechanisms for the biosynthesis of endocannabinoids. *Biochemistry*, 45(15), pp.4720-4726.
- Leung, M.C., Goldstone, J.V., Boyd, W.A., Freedman, J.H. and Meyer, J.N., 2010. *Caenorhabditis elegans* generates biologically relevant levels of genotoxic metabolites from aflatoxin B1 but not benzo[*a*]pyrene *in vivo. Toxicological Sciences*, 118(2), pp.444-453.
- Li, C., Nelson, L.S., Kim, K., Nathoo, A. and Hart, A.C., 1999. Neuropeptide gene families in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 897, pp.239-252.
- Liang, P. and Pardee, A.B., 1992. Differential display of eukaryotic messenger RNA by means of the polymerase chain reaction. *Science*, 257(5072), pp.967-971.
- Liang, P. and Pardee, A.B., 2003. Analysing differential gene expression in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 3, pp.869-876.
- Lin, T.M., Ko, K., Moore, R.W., Simanainen, U., Oberley, T.D. and Peterson, R.E., 2002. Effects of aryl hydrocarbon receptor null mutation and in utero and lactational 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin exposure on prostate and seminal vesicle development in C57BL/6 mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 68(2), pp.479-487.

- Link, C.D., Taft, A., Kapulkin, V., Duke, K., Kim, S., Fei, Q., Wood, D.E. and Sahagan, B.G., 2003. Gene expression analysis in a transgenic *Caenorhabditis elegans* Alzheimer's disease model. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 24(3), pp.397-413.
- Liu, H., Ramachandran, I. and Gabrilovich, D.I., 2013. Regulation of plasmacytoid dendritic cell development in mice by aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Immunology & Cell Biology*, 92(2), pp.200-203.
- Lo Verme, J., Fu, J., Astarita, G., La Rana, G., Russo, R., Calignano, A. and Piomelli, D., 2005. The nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- α mediates the anti-inflammatory actions of palmitoylethanolamide. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 67(1), pp.15-19.
- Lockhart, D.J., Dong, H., Byrne, M.C., Follettie, M.T., Gallo, M.V., Chee, M.S., Mittmann, M., Wang, C., Kobayashi, M., Horton, H. and Brown, E.L., 1996. Expression monitoring by hybridization to high-density oligonucleotide arrays. *Nature Biotechnology*, 14(13), pp.1675-1680.
- Lorbek, G., Lewinska, M. and Rozman, D., 2012. Cytochrome P450s in the synthesis of cholesterol and bile acids - from mouse models to human diseases. *FEBS Journal*, 279(9), pp.1516-1533.
- Lucanic, M., Held, J.M., Vantipalli, M.C., Klang, I.M., Graham, J.B., Gibson, B.W., Lithgow, G.J. and Gill, M.S., 2011. N-acylethanolamine signalling mediates the effect of diet on lifespan in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature*, 473(7346), pp.226-229.
- Lund, A.K., Goens, M.B., Kanagy, N.L. and Walker, M.K., 2003. Cardiac hypertrophy in aryl hydrocarbon receptor null mice is correlated with elevated angiotensin II, endothelin-1, and mean arterial blood pressure. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 193(2), pp.177-187.
- Lund, A.K., Peterson, S.L., Timmins, G.S. and Walker, M.K., 2005. Endothelin-1-mediated increase in reactive oxygen species and NADPH Oxidase activity in hearts of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) null mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 88(1), pp.265-273.
- Lund, A.K., Goens, M.B., Nuñez, B.A. and Walker, M.K., 2006. Characterizing the role of endothelin-1 in the progression of cardiac hypertrophy in aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) null mice. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 212(2), pp.127-135.
- Lund, A.K., Agbor, L.N., Zhang, N., Baker, A., Zhao, H., Fink, G.D., Kanagy, N.L. and Walker, M.K., 2008. Loss of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor induces hypoxemia, endothelin-1, and systemic hypertension at modest altitude. *Hypertension*, 51(3), pp.803-809.
- Lusska, A., Shen, E. and Whitlock, J.P.Jr., 1993. Protein-DNA interactions at a dioxin responsive enhancer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(9), pp.6575-6580.
- Ma, Q. and Whitlock, J.P.Jr., 1997. A novel cytoplasmic protein that interacts with the Ah receptor, contains tetratricopeptide repeat motifs, and augments the transcriptional response to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(14), pp.8878-8884.

- Maccarrone, M., Gasperi, V., Valeria Catani, M., Diep, T.A., Dainese, E., Hansen, H.S. and Avigliano, L., 2010. The endocannabinoid system and its relevance for nutrition. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 30, pp.423-440.
- Maeda, I., Kohara, Y., Yamamoto, M. and Sugimoto, A., 2001. Large-scale analysis of gene function in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by high-throughput RNAi. *Current Biology*, 11(3), pp.171-176.
- Mak, H.Y., Nelson, L.S., Basson, M., Johnson, C.D. and Ruvkun, G., 2006. Polygenic control of *Caenorhabditis elegans* fat storage. *Nature Genetics*, 38(3), pp.363-368.
- Marlowe, J.L., Knudsen, E.S., Schwemberger, S. and Puga, A., 2004. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor displaces p300 from E2F-dependent promoters and represses S phase-specific gene expression. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(28), pp.29013-29022.
- Marlowe, J.L. and Puga, A., 2005. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor, cell cycle regulation, toxicity, and tumorigenesis. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 96(6), pp.1174-1184.
- Maston, G.A., Evans, S.K. and Green, M.R., 2006. Transcriptional regulatory elements in the human genome. *Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics*, 7, pp.29-59.
- Matias, I. and Di Marzo, V., 2007. Endocannabinoids and the control of energy balance. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 18(1), pp.27-37.
- Matsuda, L.A., Lolait, S.J., Brownstein, M.J., Young, A.C. and Bonner, T.I., 1990. Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. *Nature*, 346(6284), pp.561-564.
- Matsumura, H., Ito, A., Saitoh, H., Winter, P., Kahl, G., Reuter, M., Krüger, D.H. and Terauchi, R., 2005. SuperSAGE. *Cellular Microbiology*, 7(1), pp.11-18.
- McElwee, J., Bubb, K. and Thomas, J.H., 2003. Transcriptional outputs of the *Caenorhabditis* elegans forkhead protein DAF-16. Aging Cell, 2(6), pp.111-121.
- McElwee, J.J., Schuster, E., Blanc, E., Thomas, J.H. and Gems, D., 2004. Shared transcriptional signature in *Caenorhabditis elegans* dauer larvae and long-lived *daf-2* mutants implicates detoxification system in longevity assurance. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(43), pp.44533-44543.
- McGhee, J.D., Sleumer, M.C., Bilenky, M., Wong, K., McKay, S.J., Goszczynski, B., Tian, H., Krich, N.D., Khattra, J., Holt, R.A., Baillie, D.L., Kohara, Y., Marra, M.A., Jones, S.J.M., Moerman, D.G. and Robertson, A.G., 2007. The ELT-2 GATA-factor and the global regulation of transcription in the *C. elegans* intestine. *Developmental Biology*, 302(2), pp.627-645.
- McKay, R.M. James P. McKay, J.P., Leon Avery, L. and Graff, J.M., 2003. C. elegans: a model for exploring the genetics of fat storage. *Developmental Cell*, 4(1), pp.131-142.
- McMillan, B.J. and Bradfield, C.A., 2004. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is activated by modified low-density lipoprotein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(4), pp.1412-1417.

- McPartland, J.M. and Glass, M., 2001. The nematocidal effects of Cannabis may not be mediated by cannabinoid receptors. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science*, 29(4), pp.301-307.
- McPartland, J.M. and Glass, M., 2003. Functional mapping of cannabinoid receptor homologs in mammals, other vertebrates, and invertebrates. *Gene*, 312, pp.297-303.
- McPartland, J.M., Matias, I., Di Marzo, V. and Glass, M., 2006. Evolutionary origins of the endocannabinoid system. *Gene*, 370, pp.64-74.
- Mechoulam, R., Ben-Shabat, S., Hanus, L., Ligumsky, M., Kaminski, N.E., Schatz, A.R., Gopher, A., Almog, S., Martin, B.R., Compton, D.R., Pertwee, R.G., Griffin, G., Bayewitch, M., Barg, J. and Vogel, Z., 1995. Identification of an endogenous 2monoglyceride, present in canine gut, that binds to cannabinoid receptors. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 50(1), pp.83-90.
- Mejia-Garcia, A., Sanchez-Ocampo, E.M., Galindo-Gomez, S., Shibayama, M., Reyes-Hernandez, O., Guzman-Leon, S., Gonzalez, F.J. and Elizondo, G., 2013. 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin enhances CCl4-induced hepatotoxicity in an aryl hydrocarbon receptor-dependent manner. *Xenobiotica*, 43(2), pp.161-168.
- Mello, C.C., Kramer, J.M., Stinchcomb, D. and Ambros, V., 1991. Efficient gene transfer in *C. elegans*: extrachromosomal maintenance and integration of transforming sequences. *EMBO Journal*, 10(12), pp.3959-3970.
- Menzel, R., Bogaert, T. and Achazi, R., 2001. A systematic gene expression screen on *Caenorhabditis elegans* cytochrome P450 genes reveals CYP35 as strongly xenobiotic inducible. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 395(2), pp.158-168.
- Menzel, R., Rödel, M., Kulas, J. and Steinberg, C.E.W., 2005. CYP35: Xenobiotically induced gene expression in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 438(1), pp.93-102.
- Menzel, R., Yeo, H. L., Rienau, S., Li, S., Steinberg, C.E.W. and Stürzenbaum, S.R., 2007. Cytochrome P450s and short-chain dehydrogenases mediate the toxicogenomic response of PCB52 in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 370(1), pp.1-13.
- Meyer, B.K., Pray-Grant, M.G., Vanden Heuvel, J.P. and Perdew, G.H., 1998. Hepatitis B virus X-associated protein 2 is a subunit of the unliganded aryl hydrocarbon receptor core complex and exhibits transcriptional enhancer activity. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 18(2), pp.978-988.
- Mimura, J., Yamashita, K., Nakamura, K., Morita, M., Takagi, T.N., Nakao, K., Ema, M., Sogawa, K., Yasuda, M., Katsuki, M. and Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., 1997. Loss of teratogenic response to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) in mice lacking the Ah (dioxin) receptor. *Genes to Cells*, 2(10), pp.645-654.
- Minami, K., Nakajima, M., Fujiki, Y., Katoh, M., Gonzalez, F.J. and Yokoi, T., 2008. Regulation of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 and lipoprotein lipase by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Journal of Toxicological Sciences*, 33(4), pp.405-413.

- Mirnics, K. and Pevsner, J., 2004. Progress in the use of microarray technology to study the neurobiology of disease. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(5), pp.434-439.
- Monk, S.A., Denison, M.S. and Rice, R.H., 2001. Transient expression of CYP1A1 in rat epithelial cells cultured in suspension. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 393(1), pp.154-162.
- Morgan, J.E. and Whitlock, J.P.Jr., 1992. Transcription-dependent and transcriptionindependent nucleosome disruption induced by dioxin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(23), pp.11622-11626.
- Motola, D.L., Cummins, C.L., Rottiers, V., Sharma, K.K., Li, T., Li, Y., Suino-Powell, K., Xu, H.E., Auchus, R.J., Antebi, A. and Mangelsdorf, D.J., 2006. Identification of ligands for DAF-12 that govern dauer formation and reproduction in *C. elegans. Cell*, 124(6), pp.1209-1223.
- Mukai, M. and Tischkau, S.A., 2007. Effects of tryptophan photoproducts in the circadian timing system: searching for a physiological role for aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Toxicological Sciences*, 95(1), pp.172-181.
- Mukai, M., Lin, T.M., Peterson, R.E., Cooke, P.S. and Tischkau, S.A., 2008. Behavioral rhythmicity of mice lacking AhR and attenuation of light-induced phase shift by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 23(3), pp.200-210.
- Mullaney, B.C. and Ashrafi, K., 2009. *C. elegans* fat storage and metabolic regulation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 1791(6), pp.474-478.
- Mulero-Navarro, S., Pozo-Guisado, E., Pérez-Mancera, P.A., Alvarez-Barrientos, A., Catalina-Fernández, I., Hernández-Nieto, E., Sáenz-Santamaria, J., Martínez, N., Rojas, J.M., Sánchez-García, I. and Fernández-Salguero, P.M., 2005. Immortalized mouse mammary fibroblasts lacking dioxin receptor have impaired tumorigenicity in a subcutaneous mouse xenograft model. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(31), pp.28731-28741.
- Munro, S., Thomas, K.L. and Abu-Shaar, M., 1993. Molecular characterization of a peripheral receptor for cannabinoids. *Nature*, 365(6441), pp.61-65.
- Murphy, C.T., McCarroll, S.A., Bargmann, C.I., Fraser, A., Kamath, R.S., Ahringer, J., Li, H. and Kenyon, C., 2003. Genes that act downstream of DAF-16 to influence the lifespan of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature*, 424(6946), pp.277-283.
- Murray, M., 2006. Altered CYP expression and function in response to dietary factors: potential roles in disease pathogenesis. *Current Drug Metabolism*, 7(1), pp.67-81.
- Nakahama, T., Kimura, A., Nguyen, N.T., Chinen, I., Hanieh, H., Nohara, K., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and Kishimoto, T., 2011. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor deficiency in T cells suppresses the development of collagen-induced arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(34), pp.14222-14227.
- Nakatsuru, Y., Wakabayashi, K., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Ishikawa, T., Kusama, K. and Ide, F., 2004. Dibenzo[A,L]pyrene-induced genotoxic and carcinogenic responses are dramatically suppressed in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice. *International Journal of Cancer*, 112(2), pp.179-183.

- Nathoo, A.N., Moeller, R.A., Westlund, B.A. and Hart, A.C., 2001. Identification of neuropeptide-like protein gene families in *Caenorhabditis elegans* and other species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(24), pp.14000-14005.
- Navid, F., Bruhs, A., Schuller, W., Fritsche, E., Krutmann, J., Schwarz, T. and Schwarz, A., 2013. The Aryl hydrocarbon receptor is involved in UVR-induced immunosuppression. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 133(12), pp.2763-2770.
- Nebert, D.W., Puga, A. and Vasiliou, V., 1993. Role of the Ah receptor and the dioxininducible [*Ah*] gene battery in toxicity, cancer, and signal transduction. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 685, pp.624-640.
- Nebert, D.W., Roe, A.L., Dieter, M.Z., Solis, W.A., Yang, Y. and Dalton, T.P., 2000. Role of the aromatic hydrocarbon receptor and [*Ah*] gene battery in the oxidative stress response, cell cycle control, and apoptosis. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 59(1), pp.65-85.
- Nebert, D.W. and Karp, C.L., 2008. Endogenous functions of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR): intersection of cytochrome P450 1 (CYP1)-metabolized eicosanoids and AHR biology. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(52), pp.36061-36065.
- Nebert, D.W., Wikvall, K. and Miller, W.L., 2013. Human cytochromes P450 in health and disease. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1612), p.20120431.
- Nelson, D.R., 1998. Metazoan cytochrome P450 evolution. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Pharmacology, Toxicology and Endocrinology*, 121(1-3), pp.15-22.
- Nelson, D.R., 2006. Cytochrome P450 nomenclature, 2004. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 320, pp.1-10.
- Nelson, D.R., 2009. The Cytochrome P450 homepage. Human Genomics, 4(1), pp.59-65.
- Nelson, D.R., Goldstone, J.V. and Stegeman, J.J., 2013. The cytochrome P450 genesis locus: the origin and evolution of animal cytochrome P450s. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1612), p.20120474.
- Nguyen, L.P. and Bradfield, C.A., 2008. The search of endogenous activators of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 21(1), pp.102-116.
- Oesch-Bartlomowicz, B., Huelster, A., Wiss, O., Antoniou-Lipfert, P., Dietrich, C., Arand, M., Weiss, C., Bockamp, E. and Oesch, F., 2005. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation by cAMP vs. dioxin: divergent signaling pathways. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(26), pp.9218-9223.
- Ogg, S., Paradis, S., Gottlieb, S., Patterson, G.I., Lee, L., Tissenbaum, H.A. and Ruvkun, G., 1997. The Fork head transcription factor DAF-16 transduces insulin-like metabolic and longevity signals in *C. elegans. Nature*, 389(6654), pp.994-999.
- Ohtake, F., Takeyama, K., Matsumoto, T., Kitagawa, H., Yamamoto, Y., Nohara, K., Tohyama, C., Krust, A., Mimura, J., Chambon, P., Yanagisawa, J., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and

Kato, S., 2003. Modulation of oestrogen receptor signalling by association with the activated dioxin receptor. *Nature*, 423(6939), pp.545-550.

- Ohtake, F., Baba, A., Takada, I., Okada, M., Iwasaki, K., Miki, H., Takahashi, S., Kouzmenko, A., Nohara, K., Chiba, T., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and Kato, S., 2007. Dioxin receptor is a ligand-dependent E3 ubiquitin ligase. *Nature*, 446(7135), pp.562-566.
- Ohtake, F., Baba, A., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and Kato, S., 2008. Intrinsic AhR function underlies cross-talk of dioxins with sex hormone signaling. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 370(4), pp.541-546.
- Ohtake, F., Fuji-Kuriyama, Y. and Kato, S., 2009. AhR acts as an E3 ubiquitin ligase to modulate steroid receptor functions. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 77(4), pp.474-484.
- Okamoto, Y., Morishita, J., Tsuboi, K., Tonai, T. and Ueda, N., 2004. Molecular characterization of a phospholipase D generating anandamide and its congeners. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(7), pp.5298-5305.
- O'Rourke, E.J., Soukas, A.A., Carr, C.E. and Ruvkun, G., 2009. *C. elegans* major fats are stored in vesicles distinct from lysosome-related organelles. *Cell Metabolism*, 10(5), pp.430-435.
- Overton, H.A., Babbs, A.J., Doel, S.M., Fyfe, M.C., Gardner, L.S., Griffin, G., Jackson, H.C., Procter, M.J., Rasamison, C.M., Tang-Christensen, M., Widdowson, P.S., Williams, G.M. and Reynet, C., 2006. Deorphanization of a G protein-coupled receptor for oleoylethanolamide and its use in the discovery of small-molecule hypophagic agents. *Cell Metabolism*, 3(3), pp.167-175.
- Park, S.K., Tedesco, P.M. and Johnson, T.E., 2009. Oxidative stress and longevity in *Caenorhabditis elegans* as mediated by SKN-1. *Aging Cell*, 8(3), pp.258-269.
- Pastuhov, S.I., Fujiki, K., Nix, P., Kanao, S., Bastiani, M., Matsumoto, K. and Hisamoto, N., 2012. Endocannabinoid-Goα signalling inhibits axon regeneration in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by antagonizing Gqα-PKC-JNK signalling. *Nature Communications*, 3, p.1136.
- Pelkonen, O., Turpeinen, M., Hakkola, J., Honkakoski, P., Hukkanen, J. and Raunio, H., 2008. Inhibition and induction of human cytochrome P450 enzymes: current status. *Archives of Toxicology*, 82(10), pp.667-715.
- Peltonen, J., Aarnio V., Heikkinen L., Lakso M. and Wong G., 2013. Chronic ethanol exposure increases cytochrome P-450 and decreases activated in blocked unfolded protein response gene family transcripts in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology*, 27(3), pp.219-228.
- Perdew, G.H., 1988. Association of the Ah receptor with the 90-kDa heat shock protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 263(27), pp.13802-13805.
- Perez, C.L. and Van Gilst, M.R., 2008. A 13C isotope labeling strategy reveals the influence of insulin signaling on lipogenesis in *C. elegans. Cell Metabolism*, 8(3), pp.266-274.
- Peters, J.M., Narotsky, M.G., Elizondo, G., Fernandez-Salguero, P.M., Gonzalez, F.J. and Abbott, B.D., 1999. Amelioration of TCDD-induced teratogenesis in aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR)-null mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 47(1), pp.86-92.

- Phillips, M.A., Enan, E., Liu, P.C.C. and Matsumura, F., 1995. Inhibition of 3T3-L1 adipose differentiation by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. *Journal of Cell Science*, 108(Pt 1), pp.395-402.
- Piano, F., Schetter, A.J., Morton, D.G., Gunsalus, K.C., Reinke, V., Kim, S.K. and Kemphues, K.J., 2002. Gene clustering based on RNAi phenotypes of ovary-enriched genes in *C. elegans. Current Biology*, 12(22), pp.1959-1964.
- Pink, R.C., Wicks, K., Caley, D.P., Punch, E.K., Jacobs, L. and Carter, D.R., 2011. Pseudogenes: pseudo-functional or key regulators in health and disease? *RNA*, 17(5), pp.792-798.
- Poland, A. and Knutson, J.C., 1982. 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin and related halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons: examination of the mechanism of toxicity. *Annual Review of Pharmacoogy and Toxicology*, 22, pp.517-554.
- Poliseno, L., Salmena, L., Zhang, J., Carver, B., Haveman, W.J. and Pandolfi, P.P., 2010. A coding-independent function of gene and pseudogene mRNAs regulates tumour biology. *Nature*, 465(7301), pp.1033-1038.
- Pollenz, R.S., 2002. The mechanism of AH receptor protein down-regulation (degradation) and its impact on AH receptor-mediated gene regulation. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 141(1-2), pp.41-61.
- Porter, A.C., Sauer, J.M., Knierman, M.D., Becker, G.W., Berna, M.J., Bao, J., Nomikos, G.G., Carter, P., Bymaster, F.P., Leese, A.B. and Felder, C.C., 2002. Characterization of a novel endocannabinoid, virodhamine, with antagonist activity at the CB1 receptor. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 301(3), pp.1020-1024.
- Powell-Coffman, J.A., Bradfield, C.A. and Wood, W.B., 1998. *Caenorhabditis elegans* orthologs of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its heterodimerization partner the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(6), pp.2844-2849.
- Praitis, V., Casey, E., Collar, D. and Austin, J., 2001. Creation of low-copy integrated transgenic lines in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genetics*, 157(3), pp.1217-1226.
- Pratt-Hyatt, M., Zhang, H., Snider, N.T. and Hollenberg, P.F., 2010. Effects of a commonly occurring genetic polymorphism of human CYP3A4 (Ile118Val) on the metabolism of anandamide. *Drug Metabolism & Disposition*, 38(11), pp.2075-2082.
- Puga, A., Ma, C. and Marlowe, J., 2009. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor cross-talks with multiple signal transduction pathways. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 77(4), pp.713-722.
- Qin, H. and Powell-Coffman, J.A., 2004. The *Caenorhabditis elegans* aryl hydrocarbon receptor, AHR-1, regulates neuronal development. *Developmental Biology*, 270(1), pp.64-75.
- Qin, H., Zhai, Z. and Powell-Coffman, J.A., 2006. The *Caenorhabditis elegans* AHR-1 transcription complex controls expression of soluble guanylate cyclase genes in the URX neurons and regulates aggregation behavior. *Developmental Biology*, 298(2), pp.606-615.

- Qiu, J., Heller, J.J., Guo, X., Chen, Z.M., Fish, K., Fu, Y.X. and Zhou, L., 2012. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates gut immunity through modulation of innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity*, 36(1), pp.92-104.
- Qiu, J., Guo, X., Chen, Z.M., He, L., Sonnenberg, G.F., Artis, D., Fu, Y.X. and Zhou, L., 2013. Group 3 innate lymphoid cells inhibit T-cell-mediated intestinal inflammation through aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling and regulation of microflora. *Immunity*, 39(2), pp.386-399.
- Rannug, A., Rannug, U., Rosenkranz, H. S., Winquist, L., Westerholm, R., Agurell, E., and Grafström, A.-K., 1987. Certain photooxidized derivatives of tryptophan bind with very high affinity to the Ah receptor and are likely to be endogenous signal substances. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262(32), pp.15422-15427.
- Rannug, U., Rannug, A., Sjoberg, U., Li, H., Westerholm, R., and Bergman, J., 1995. Structure elucidation of two tryptophan-derived, high affinity Ah receptor ligands. *Chemistry & Biology*, 2(12), pp.841-845.
- Rappleye, C.A., Tagawa, A., Le Bot, N., Ahringer, J. and Aroian R.V., 2003. Involvement of fatty acid pathways and cortical interaction of the pronuclear complex in *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryonic polarity. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 3, pp.1-15.
- Rashid, C.S., Carter, L.G., Hennig, B. and Pearson, K.J., 2013. Perinatal polychlorinated biphenyl 126 exposure alters offspring body composition. *Journal of Pediatric Biochemistry*, 3(1), pp.47-53.
- Rayner, T.F., Rocca-Serra, P., Spellman, P.T., Causton, H.C., Farne, A., Holloway, E., Irizarry, R.A., Liu, J., Maier, D.S., Miller, M., Petersen, K., Quackenbush, J., Sherlock, G., Stoeckert, C.J., White, J., Whetzel, P.L., Wymore, F., Parkinson, H., Sarkans, U., Ball, C.A. and Brazma, A., 2006. A simple spreadsheet-based, MIAME-supportive format for microarray data: MAGE-TAB. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 7, p.489.
- Reichert, K. and Menzel, R., 2005. Expression profiling of five different xenobiotics using a *Caenorhabditis elegans* whole-genome microarray. *Chemosphere*, 61(2), pp.229-237.
- Reisner, K., Asikainen, S., Vartiainen, S. and Wong, G., 2005. Developmental and biological insights obtained from gene expression profiling of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Current Genomics*, 6(2), pp.97-107.
- Reisner, K., Lehtonen, M., Storvik, M., Jantsen, T., Lakso, M., Callaway, J.C. and Wong, G., 2011. Trans fat diet causes decreased brood size and shortened lifespan in *Caenorhabditis elegans delta*-6-desaturase mutant *fat-3*. *Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology*, 25(5), pp.269-279.
- Reyes, H., Reisz-Porszasz, S. and Hankinson, O., 1992. Identification of the Ah receptor nuclear translocator protein (Arnt) as a component of the DNA binding form of the Ah receptor. *Science*, 256(5060), pp. 1193-1195.
- Reyes-Hernández, O.D., Mejía-García, A., Sánchez-Ocampo, E.M., Cabañas-Cortés, M.A., Ramírez, P., Chávez-González, L., Gonzalez, F.J. and Elizondo, G., 2010. *Ube2l3* gene expression is modulated by activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor: implications for p53 ubiquitination. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 80(6), pp.932-940.

- Rieckher, M., Kourtis, N., Pasparaki, A. and Tavernara, N., 2009. Transgenesis in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. In: E.J. Cartwright, ed. 2009. *Transgenesis Techniques, Methods in Molecular Biology*, vol. 561. New York: Humana Press, pp.21-39.
- Robert, V. and Bessereau, J.-L., 2007. Targeted engineering of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* genome following Mos1-triggered chromosomal breaks. *EMBO Journal*, 26(1), pp.170-183.
- Robles, R., Morita, Y., Mann, K.K., Perez, G.I., Yang, S., Matikainen, T., Sherr, D.H., Tilly, J.L., 2000. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor, a basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor of the PAS gene family, is required for normal ovarian germ cell dynamics in the mouse. *Endocrinology*, 41(1), pp.450-453.
- Robson, PJ., 2013. Therapeutic potential of cannabinoid medicines. *Drug Testing and Analysis*, 6(1-2), pp.24-30.
- Rockwell, C.E., Snider, N.T., Thompson, J.T., Vanden Heuvel, J.P. and Kaminski, N.E., 2006. Interleukin-2 suppression by 2-arachidonyl glycerol is mediated through peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ independently of cannabinoid receptors 1 and 2. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 70(1), pp.101-111.
- Rodríguez-Sosa, M., Elizondo, G., López-Durán, R.M., Rivera, I., Gonzalez, F.J. and Vega, L., 2005. Over-production of IFN-γ and IL-12 in AhR-null mice. *FEBS Letters*, 579(28), pp.6403-6410.
- Rogers, C., Reale, V., Kim, K., Chatwin, H., Li, C., Evans, P. and de Bono, M., 2003. Inhibition of *Caenorhabditis elegans* social feeding by FMRFamide-related peptide activation of NPR-1. *Nature Neuroscience*, 6(11), pp.1178-1185.
- Roh, J.Y., Lee, J. and Choi, J., 2006. Assessment of stress-related gene expression in the heavy metal-exposed nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*: a potential biomarker for metalinduced toxicity monitoring and environmental risk assessment. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 25(11), pp.2946-2956.
- Roh, J.Y., Jung, I.-H., Lee, J.-Y. and Choi, J., 2007. Toxic effects of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate on mortality, growth, reproduction and stress-related gene expression in the soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Toxicology*, 237(1-3), pp.126-133.
- Roh, J.Y., Park, Y.K., Park, K. and Choi, J., 2010. Ecotoxicological investigation of CeO₂ and TiO₂ nanoparticles on the soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* using gene expression, growth, fertility, and survival as endpoints. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 29(2), pp.167-172.
- Roh, J.Y. and Choi, J., 2011. *Cyp35a2* gene expression is involved in toxicity of fenitrothion in the soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Chemosphere*, 84(10), pp.1356-1361.
- Roman, A.C., Carvajal-Gonzalez, J.M., Rico-Leo, E.M. and Fernandez-Salguero, P.M., 2009. Dioxin receptor deficiency impairs angiogenesis by a mechanism involving VEGF-A depletion in the endothelium and transforming growth factor-β overexpression in the stroma. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(37), pp.25135-25148.

- Rosenfeld, M.G., Lunyak, V.V. and Glass, C.K., 2006. Sensors and signals: a coactivator/corepressor/epigenetic code for integrating signal-dependent programs of transcriptional response. *Genes & Development*, 20(11), pp.1405-1428.
- Ross, A.C. and Zolfaghari, R., 2011. Cytochrome P450s in the regulation of cellular retinoic acid metabolism. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 31, pp.65-87.
- Rowlands, J.C., Mcewan, I.J. and Gustafsson, J.-Å., 1996. Trans-activation by the human aryl hydrocarbon receptor and aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator proteins: direct interactions with basal transcription factors. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 50(3), pp.538-548.
- Roy, P.J., Stuart, J.M., Lund, J. and Kim, S.K., 2002. Chromosomal clustering of muscleexpressed genes in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature*, 418(6901), pp.975-979.
- Rual, J.F., Ceron, J., Koreth, J., Hao, T., Nicot, A.S., Hirozane-Kishikawa, T., Vandenhaute, J., Orkin, S.H., Hill, D.E., van den Heuvel, S. and Vidal, M., 2004. Toward improving *Caenorhabditis elegans* phenome mappingwith an ORFeome-based RNAi library. *Genome Research*, 14(10B), pp. 2162-2168.
- Ruaud, A.F. and Bessereau, J.L., 2006. Activation of nicotinic receptors uncouples a developmental timer from the molting timer in *C. elegans*. *Development*, 133(11), pp.2211-2222.
- Sadek, C.M. and Allen-Hoffmann, B.L., 1994a. Cytochrome P450IA1 is rapidly induced in normal human keratinocytes in the absence of xenobiotics. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(23), pp.16067-16074.
- Sadek, C.M. and Allen-Hoffmann, B.L., 1994b. Suspension-mediated induction of Hepa 1c1c7 *Cypa1a-1* expression is dependent on the Ah receptor signal transduction pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(50), pp.31505-31509.
- Sagredo, C., Øvrebø, S., Haugen, A., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Baera, R., Botnen, I.V. and Mollerup, S., 2006. Quantitative analysis of benzo[*a*]pyrene biotransformation and adduct formation in Ahr knockout mice. *Toxicology Letters*, 167(3), pp.173-182.
- Saha, S., Sparks, A.B., Rago, C., Akmaev, V., Wang, C.J., Vogelstein, B., Kinzler, K.W. and Velculescu, V.E., 2002. Using the transcriptome to annotate the genome. *Nature Biotechnology*, 20(5), pp.508-512.
- Samuelson, A.V., Carr, C.E. and Ruvkun, G., 2007. Gene activities that mediate increased life span of *C. elegans* insulin-like signaling mutants. *Genes & Development*, 21(22), pp.2976-2994.
- Sanger, F., Nicklen, S. and Coulson, A.R., 1977. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 74(12), pp.5463-5467.
- Sato, S., Shirakawa, H., Tomita, S., Ohsaki, Y., Haketa, K., Tooi, O., et al., 2008. Low-dose dioxins alter gene expression related to cholesterol biosynthesis, lipogenesis, and glucose metabolism through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated pathway in mouse liver. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 229(1), pp.10-19.

- Sauzeau, V., Carvajal-González, J.M., Riolobos, A.S., Sevilla, M.A., Menacho-Márquez, M., Román, A.C., Abad, A., Montero, M.J., Fernández-Salguero, P. and Bustelo, X.R., 2011. Transcriptional factor aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ahr) controls cardiovascular and respiratory functions by regulating the expression of the Vav3 proto-oncogene. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 286(4), pp.2896-2909.
- Saviozzi, S. and Calogero, R.A., 2003. Microarray probe expression measures, data normalization and statistical validation. *Comparative and Functional Genomics*, 4(4), pp.442-446.
- Savouret, J.F., Antenos, M., Quesne, M., Xu, J., Milgrom, E. and Casper, R.F., 2001, 7ketocholesterol is an endogenous modulator for the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(5), pp.3054-3059.
- Schafer, W.R., 2005. Egg-laying. In: The *C. elegans* Research Community, ed., *WormBook*, Available at http://www.wormbook.org [Accessed 10 Oct 2013].
- Schäfer, P., Müller, M., Krüger, A., Steinberg, C.E.W. and Menzel, R., 2009. Cytochrome P450-dependent metabolism of PCB52 in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 488(1), pp.60-68.
- Schena, M., Shalon, D., Davis, R.W., Brown, P.O., 1995. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. *Science*, 270(5235), pp.467-470.
- Schena, M., Shalon, D., Heller, R., Chai, A., Brown, P.O. and Davis, R.W., 1996. Parallel human genome analysis: microarray-based expression monitoring of 1000 genes. *Proceedigns of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(20), pp.10614-10619.
- Schmid, P.C., Zuzarte-Augustin, M.L. and Schmid, H.H.O., 1985. Properties of rat liver N-acylethanolamine amidohydrolase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 260(26), pp.14145-14149.
- Schmidt, J.V., Su, G.H., Reddy, J.K., Simon, M.C. and Bradfield, C.A., 1996. Characterization of a murine *Ahr* null allele: involvement of the Ah receptor in hepatic growth and development. *Proceedigns of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(13), pp.6731-6736.
- Sekine, H., Mimura, J., Oshima, M., Okawa, H., Kanno, J., Igarashi, K., Gonzalez, F.J., Ikuta, T., Kawajiri, K. and Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., 2009. Hypersensitivity of aryl hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice to lipopolysaccharide-induced septic shock. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 29(24), pp.6391-6400.
- Sharma, K.K., Wang, Z., Motola, D.L., Cummins, C.L., Mangelsdorf, D.J. and Auchus, R.J., 2009. Synthesis and activity of dafachronic acid ligands for the *C. elegans* DAF-12 nuclear hormone receptor. *Molecular Endocrinology*, 23(5), pp.640-648.
- Shaye, D.D. and Greenwald, I., 2011. OrthoList: a compendium of *C. elegans* genes with human orthologs. *PLoS ONE*, 6(5), p.e20085.

- Shi, L.Z., Faith, N.G., Nakayama, Y., Suresh, M., Steinberg, H. and Czuprynski, C.J., 2007. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor is required for optimal resistance to *Listeria monocytogenes* infection in mice. *Journal of Immunology*, 179(10), pp.6952-6962.
- Shimada, T., Hiramatsu, N., Hayakawa, K., Takahashi, S., Kasai, A., Tagawa, Y., Mukai, M., Yao, J., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and Kitamura, M., 2009. Dual suppression of adipogenesis by cigarette smoke through activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 296(4), pp.E721-E730.
- Shimizu, Y., Nakatsuru, Y., Ichinose, M., Takahashi, Y., Kume, H., Mimura, J., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y. and Ishikawa, T., 2000. Benzo[*a*]pyrene carcinogenicity is lost in mice lacking the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Proceedigns of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(2), pp.779-782.
- Shiraki, T., Kondo, S., Katayama, S., Waki, K., Kasukawa, T., Kawaji, H., Kodzius, R., Watahiki, A., Nakamura, M., Arakawa, T., Fukuda, S., Sasaki, D., Podhajska, A., Harbers, M., Kawai, J., Carninci, P. and Hayashizaki, Y., 2003. Cap analysis gene expression for high-throughput analysis of transcriptional starting point and identification of promoter usage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 100(26), pp.15776-15781.
- Sikorski, T.W. and Buratowski, S., 2009. The basal initiation machinery: beyond the general transcription factors. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 21(3), pp.344-351.
- Simmer, F., Moorman, C., van der Linden, A.M., Kuijk, E., ven den Berghe, P.V.E., Kamath, R.S., Fraser, A., Ahringer, J. and Plasterk, R.H.A., 2003. Genome-wide RNAi of *C. elegans* using the hypersensitive *rrf-3* strain reveals novel gene functions. *PLoS Biology*, 1(1), pp.77-84.
- Singh, K.P., Garrett, R.W., Casado, F.L. and Gasiewicz, T.A., 2011. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-null allele mice have hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells with abnormal characteristics and functions. *Stem Cells and Development*, 20(5), pp.769-784.
- Singh, K.P., Bennett, J.A., Casado, F.L., Walrath, J.L., Welle, S.L. and Gasiewicz, T.A., 2014. Loss of aryl hydrocarbon receptor promotes gene changes associated with premature hematopoietic stem cell exhaustion and development of a myeloproliferative disorder in aging mice. *Stem Cells and Development*, 23(2), pp.95-106.
- Smith, C.J., Watson, J.D., Spencer, W.C., O'Brien, T., Cha, B., Albeg, A., Treinin, M. and Miller, D.M.3rd., 2010. Time-lapse imaging and cell-specific expression profiling reveal dynamic branching and molecular determinants of a multi-dendritic nociceptor in *C. elegans*. *Developmental Biology*, 345(1), pp.18-33.
- Smith, C.J., O'Brien, T., Chatzigeorgiou, M., Clay Spencer, W.C., Feingold-Link, E., Husson, S.J. Hori, S. Mitani, S., Gottschalk, A., Schafer, W.R. and Miller, D.M., 2013. Sensory neuron fates are distinguished by a transcriptional switch that regulates dendrite branch stabilization. *Neuron*, 79(2), pp.266-280.
- Snider, N.T., Kornilov, A.M., Kent, U.M. and Hollenberg, P.F., 2007. Anandamide metabolism by human liver and kidney microsomal cytochrome P450 enzymes to form hydroxyeicosatetraenoic and epoxyeicosatrienoic acid ethanolamides. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 321(2), pp.590-597.

- Snider, N.T., Sikora, M.J., Sridar, C., Feuerstein, T.J., Rae, J.M. and Hollenberg, P.F., 2008. The endocannabinoid anandamide is a substrate for the human polymorphic cytochrome P450 2D6. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 327(2), pp.538-545.
- Snider, N.T., Nast, J.A., Tesmer, L.A. and Hollenberg, P.F., 2009. A cytochrome P450derived epoxygenated metabolite of anandamide is a potent cannabinoid receptor 2selective agonist. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 75(4), pp.965-972.
- Sogawa, K., Numayama-Tsuruta, K., Matsushita, N., Miura, C., Nikawa, J., Gotoh, O., Kikuchi, Y. and Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., 2004. A novel induction mechanism of the rat CYP1A2 gene mediated by Ah receptor-Ernt heterodimer. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 318(3), pp.746-755.
- Solak, K.A., Wijnolts, F.M., Pralong, F.P., Blaauboer, B.J., van den Berg, M., Westerink, R.H. and van Duursen, M.B., 2013. *In vitro* neuroendocrine effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) in the AhR-expressing hypothalamic rat GnV-3 cell line. *Toxicology*, 311(3), pp.124-134.
- Sönnichsen, B., Koski, L.B., Walsh, A., Marschall, P., Neumann, B., Brehm, M., Alleaume, A.-M., Artelt, J., Bettencourt, P., Cassin, E., Hewitson, M., Holz, C., Khan, M., Lazik, S., Martin, C., Nitzsche, B., Ruer, M., Stamford, J., Winzi, M., Heinkel, R., Röder, M., Finell, J., Häntsch, H., Jones, S.J.M., Jones, M., Piano, F., Gunsalus, K.C., Oegema, K., Gönczy, P., Coulson, A., Hyman, A.A. and Ecgeverri, C.J., 2005. Full-genome RNAi profiling of early embryogenesis in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature*, 434(7032), pp.462-469.
- Soukas, A.A., Kane, E.A., Carr, C.E., Melo, J.A. and Ruvkun, G., 2009. Rictor/TORC2 regulates fat metabolism, feeding, growth, and life span in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genes & Development*, 23(4), pp.496-511.
- Spector, A.A. and Yorek, M.A., 1985. Membrane lipid composition and cellular function. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 26(9), pp.1015-1035.
- Spencer. W.C., Zeller, G., Watson, J.D., Henz, S.R., Watkins, K.L., McWhirter, R.D., Petersen, S., Sreedharan, V.T., Widmer, C., Jo, J., Reinke, V., Petrella, L., Strome, S., Von Stetina, S.E., Katz, M., Shaham, S., Rätsch, G. and Miller, D.M.3rd., 2011. A spatial and temporal map of *C. elegans* gene expression. *Genome Research*, 21(2), pp.325-341.
- Srinivasan, S., Sadegh, L., Elle, I.C., Christensen, A.G.L., Faergeman, N.J. and Ashrafi, K., 2008. Serotonin regulates *C. elegans* fat and feeding through independent molecular mechanisms. *Cell Metabolism*, 7(6), pp.533-544.
- Stark, K., Dostalek, M. and Guengerich, F.P., 2008. Expression and purification of orphan cytochrome P450 4X1 and oxidation of anandamide. *FEBS Journal*, 275(14), pp.3706-3717.
- Stinchcomb, D.T., Shaw, J.E., Carr, S.H. and Hirsh, D., 1985. Extrachromosomal DNA transformation of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 5(12), pp.3484-3496.
- Strömstedt, M., Rozman, D. and Waterman, M.R., 1996. The ubiquitously expressed human CYP51 encodes lanosterol 14α-demethylase, a cytochrome P450 whose expression is regulated by oxysterols. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 329(1), pp.73-81.

- Sulston, J.E., Schierenberg, E., White, J.G. and Thomson, J.N., 1983. The embryonic cell lineage of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Developmental Biology*, 100(1), pp.64-119.
- Tabara, H., Grishok, A. and Mello, C., 1998. RNAi in *C. elegans*: soaking in the genome sequence. *Science*, 282(5388), pp.430-431.
- Takayama, J., Faumont, S., Kunitomo, H., Lockery, S,R. and Iino, Y., 2009. Single-cell transcriptional analysis of taste sensory neuron pair in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(1), pp.131-142.
- Talaska, G., Ginsburg, D., LaDow, K., Puga, A., Dalton, T. and Warshawsky, D., 2006. Impact of *Cyp1a2* or *Ahr* gene knockout in mice: implications for biomonitoring studies. *Toxicology Letters*, 162(2-3), pp.246-249.
- Tan, Z., Chang, X., Pugam A. and Xia, Y., 2002. Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) by aromatic hydrocarbons: role in the regulation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) function. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 64(5-6), pp.771-780.
- Tang, L., Nogales, E. and Ciferri, C., 2010. Structure and function of SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complexes and mechanistic implications for transcription. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, 102(2-3), pp.122-128.
- Taubert, S., Van Gilst, M.R., Hansen, M. and Yamamoto, K.R., 2006. A Mediator subunit, MDT-15, integrates regulation of fatty acid metabolism by NHR-49-dependent and independent pathways in *C. elegans. Genes & Development*, 20(9), pp.1137-1149.
- Thackaberry, E.A., Gabaldon, D.M., Walker, M.K. and Smith, S.M., 2002. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor null mice develop cardiac hypertrophy and increased hypoxia-inducible factor- 1α in the absence of cardiac hypoxia. *Cardiovascular Toxicology*, 2(4), pp.263-274.
- The *C. elegans* Sequencing Consortium, 1998. Genome sequence of the nematode *C. elegans*: a platform for investigating biology. *Science*, 282(5396), pp.2012-2018.
- The ENCODE Project Consortium, Bernstein, B.E., Birney, E., Dunham, I., Green, E.D., Gunter, C. and Snyder, M., 2012. An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. *Nature*, 489(7414), pp.57-74.
- Thomas, J.H., 2007. Rapid birth-death evolution specific to xenobiotic cytochrome P450 genes in vertebrates. *PLoS Genetics*, 3(5), p.e67.
- Tian, Y., Ke, S., Denison, M.S., Rabson, A.B. and Gallo, M.A., 1999. Ah Receptor and NF-кB interactions, a potential mechanism for dioxin toxicity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(1), pp.510-515.
- Tijet, N., Boutros, P.C., Moffat, I.D., Okey, A.B., Tuomisto, J. and Pohjanvirta, R., 2006. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates distinct dioxin-dependent and dioxin-independent gene batteries. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 69(1), pp.140-153.
- Timmons, L. and Fire, A., 1998. Specific interference by ingested dsRNA. *Nature*, 395(6705), p.854.

- Timmons, L., Court, D.L. and Fire, A., 2001. Ingestion of bacterially expressed dsRNAs can produce specific and potent genetic interference in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Gene*, 263(1-2), pp.103-112.
- Tobin, D.M., Madsen, D.M., Kahn-Kirby, A., Peckol, E.L., Moulder, G., Barstead, R., Maricq, A.V. and Bargmann, C.I., 2002. Combinatorial expression of TRPV channel proteins defines their sensory functions and subcellular localization in *C. elegans* neurons. *Neuron*, 35(2), pp.307-318.
- Tompkins, L.M. and Wallace, A.D., 2007. Mechanisms of cytochrome P450 induction. *Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Toxicology*, 21(4), pp.176-181.
- Trapnell, C., Williams, B.A., Pertea, G., Mortazavi, A., Kwan, G., van Baren, M.J., Salberg, S.L., Wold, B.J. and Pachter, L., 2010. Transcript assembly and quantification by RNA-Seq reveals unannotated transcripts and isoform switching during cell differentiation. *Nature Biotechnology*, 28(5), pp.511-515.
- Ueda, N., Tsuboi, K. and Uyama, T., 2010, Enzymological studies on the biosynthesis of Nacylethanolamines. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 1801(12), pp.1274-1285.
- Van Gilst, M.R., Hadjivassiliou, H., Jolly, A. and Yamamoto, K.R., 2005a. Nuclear hormone receptor NHR-49 controls fat consumption and fatty acid composition in *C. elegans. PLoS Biology*, 3(2), pp.0301-0312.
- Van Gilst, M.R., Hadjivassiliou, H. and Yamamoto, K.R., 2005b. A Caenorhabditis elegans nutrient response system partially dependent on nuclear receptor NHR-49. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102(38), pp.13496-13501.
- Vaquerizas, J.M., Kummerfeld, S.K., Teichmann, S.A. and Luscombe, N.M., 2009. A census of human transcription factors: function, expression and evolution. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10(4), pp.252-263.
- Vasquez, A., Atallah-Yunes, N., Smith, F.C., You, X., Chase, S.E., Silverstone, A.E. and Vikstrom, K.L., 2003. A role for the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in cardiac physiology and function as demonstrated by AhR knockout mice. *Cardiovascular Toxicology*, 3(2), pp.153-163.
- Velculescu, V.E., Zhang, L., Vogelstein, B. and Kinzler, K.W., 1995. Serial analysis of gene expression. *Science*, 270(5235), pp.484-487.
- Veldhoen, M., Hirota, K., Christensen, J., O'Garra, A. and Stockinger, B., 2009. Natural agonists for aryl hydrocarbon receptor in culture medium are essential for optimal differentiation of Th17 T cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206(1), pp.43-49.
- Villalobos-Molina, R., Vázquez-Cuevas, F.G., López-Guerrero, J.J., Figueroa-García, M.C., Gallardo-Ortiz, I.A., Ibarra, M., Rodríguez-Sosa, M., Gonzalez, F.J. and Elizondo, G., 2008. Vascular α_{1D}-adrenoceptors are overexpressed in aorta of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor null mouse: role of increased angiotensin II. *Autonomic and Autacoid Pharmacology*, 28(2-3), pp.61-67.

- Von Stetina, S.E., Watson, J.D., Fox, R.M., Olszewski, K.L., Spencer W.C., Roy, P.J. and Miller D.M., 2007. Cell-specific microarray profiling experiments reveal a comprehensive picture of gene expression in the *C. elegans* nervous system. *Genome Biology*, 8(7), p.R135.
- Vorderstrasse, B.A., Steppan, L.B., Silverstone, A.E. and Kerkvliet, N.I., 2001. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-deficient mice generate normal immune responses to model antigens and are resistant to TCDD-induced immune suppression. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 171(3), pp.157-164.
- Wahlang, B., Falkner, K.C., Gregory, B., Ansert, D., Young, D., Conklin, D.J., Bhatnagar, A., McClain, C.J. and Cave, M., 2013. Polychlorinated biphenyl 153 is a diet-dependent obesogen that worsens nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in male C57BL6/J mice. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 24(9), pp.1587-1595.
- Walisser, J.A., Bunger, M.K., Glover, E. and Bradfield, C.A., 2004. Gestational exposure of Ahr and Arnt hypomorphs to dioxin rescues vascular development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the Unites States of America*, 101(47), pp.16677-16682.
- Wang, S. and Hankinson, O., 2002. Functional involvement of the Brahma/SWI2-related gene 1 protein in cytochrome P4501A1 transcription mediated by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(14), pp.11821-11827.
- Wang, S., Ge, K., Roeder, R.G. and Hankinson, O., 2004. Role of Mediator in transcriptional activation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(14), pp.13593-13600.
- Wang, H., Dey, S.K. and Maccarrone, M., 2006. Jekyll and Hyde: two faces of cannabinoid signaling in male and female fertility. *Endocrine Reviews*, 27(5), pp.427-448.
- Wang, K., Chen, S., Xie, W. and Wan, X.-J.Y., 2008. Retinoids induce cytochrome P450 3A4 through RXR/VDR-mediated pathway. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 75(11), pp.2204-2213.
- Wang, Z., Gerstein, M. and Snyder, M., 2009. RNA-seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 10(1), pp.57-63.
- Watanabe, H., Vriens, J., Prenen, J., Droogmans, G., Voets, T. and Nilius, B., 2003. Anandamide and arachidonic acid use epoxyeicosatrienoic acids to activate TRPV4 channels. *Nature*, 424(6947), pp.434-438.
- Watanabe, Y., Nazuka, N., Tezuka, M. and Shimba, S., 2010. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor functions as a potent coactivator of E2F1-dependent transcription activity. *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 33(3), pp.389-397.
- Watts, J.L. and Browse, J., 2000. A palmitoyl-CoA-specific ∆9 fatty acid desaturase from *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 272(1), pp.263-269.
- Watts, J.L. and Browse, J., 2002. Genetic dissection of polyunsaturated fatty acid synthesis in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(9), pp.5854-5859.

- Watts, J.L., Phillips, E., Griffing, K.R. and Browse, J., 2003. Deficiencies in C20 polyunsaturated fatty acids cause behavioral and developmental defects in *Caenorhabditis elegans fat-3* mutants. *Genetics*, 163(2), pp.581-589.
- Watts, J.L. and Browse, J., 2006. Dietary manipulation implicates lipid signaling in the regulation of germ cell maintenance in *C. elegans. Developmental Biology*, 292(2), pp.381-392.
- Watts, J.L., 2008. Fattening up without overeating. Cell Metabolism, 8(2), pp.95-96.
- Waxman, D.J., 1988. Interactions of hepatic cytochromes P-450 with steroid hormones: Regioselectivity and stereoselectivity of steroid metabolism and hormonal regulation of rat P-450 enzyme expression. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 37(1), pp.71-84.
- Waxman, D.J., Attisano, P.F., Guengerich, P.F. and Lapenson, D.P., 1988. Human liver microsomal steroid metabolism: identification of the major microsomal steroid 6βhydroxylase cytochrome P450 enzyme. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 263, pp. 242-436.
- Waxman, D.J., Pampori, N.A., Ram, P.A., Agrawal, A.K. and Shapiro, B.H., 1991. Interpulse interval in circulating growth hormone patterns regulates sexually dimorphic expression of hepatic cytochrome P450. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 88, pp.6868-6872.
- Wei, Y.D., Bergander, L., Rannug, U. and Rannug, A., 2000. Regulation of CYP1A1 transcription via the metabolism of the tryptophan-derived 6-formylindolo[3,2b]carbazole. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 383(1), pp.99-107.
- Werck-Reichhart, D., Feyereisen, R., 2000. Cytochromes P450: a success story. *Genome Biology*, 1(6), pp.3003.1-3003.9.
- Whetzel, P.L., Parkinson, H., Causton, H.C., Fan, L., Fostel, J., Fragoso, G., Game, L., Heiskanen, M., Morrison, N., Rocca-Serra, P., Sansone, S.A., Taylor, C., White, J., Stoeckert, C.J.Jr., 2006. The MGED Ontology: a resource for semantics-based description of microarray experiments. *Bioinformatics*, 22(7), pp.866-873.
- Whitlock, J.P.Jr., 1999. Induction of cytochrome P4501A1. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 39, pp.103-125.
- Wincent, E., Amini, N., Luecke, S., Glatt, H., Bergman, J., Crescenzi, C., Rannug, A. and Rannug, U., 2009. The suggested physiologic aryl hydrocarbon receptor activator and cytochrome P4501 substrate 6-formylindolo[3,2-b]carbazole is present in humans. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 284(5), pp.2690-2696.
- Wikvall, K., 2001. Cytochrome P450 enzymes in the bioactivation of vitamin D to its hormonal form. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 7(2), pp.201-209.
- Wolkenhauer, O., Möller-Levet, C. and Sanchez-Cabo, F., 2002. The curse of normalization. *Comparative and Functional Genomics*, 3(4), pp.375-379.
- Wood, A.J., Lo, T.W., Zeitler, B., Pickle, C.S., Ralston, E.J., Lee, A.H., Amora, R., Miller, J.C., Leung, E., Meng, X., Zhang, L., Rebar, E.J., Gregory, P.D., Urnov, F.D. and Meyer, B.J.,

2011. Targeted genome editing across species using ZFNs and TALENs. *Science*, 333(6040), p.307.

- Wren, J.F., Kille, P., Spurgeon, D.J., Swain, S., Sturzenbaum, S.R. and Jager, T., 2011. Application of physiologically based modelling and transcriptomics to probe the systems toxicology of aldicarb for *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Ecotoxicology*, 20(2), pp.397-408.
- WormBase, 2011. WS235 Release notes. Available at http://wiki/wormbase.org/index.php/WS235> [Accessed 28 Mar 2014].
- Xu, C.X., Wang, C., Krager, S.L., Bottum, K.M. and Tischkau, S.A., 2013. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation attenuates Per1 gene induction and influences circadian clock resetting. *Toxicologal Sciences*, 132(2), pp.368-378.
- Yang, F., Vought, B. W., Satterlee, J. S., Walker, A. K., Jim, Z. Y. S., Watts, J. L., Debeaumont, R., Mako Saito, R., Hyberts, S.G., Yang, S., Macol, C., Iyer, L., Tjian, R., van den Heuvel, S., Hart, A.C., Wagner, G. and Naar, A.M., 2006. An ARC/Mediator subunit required for SREBP control of cholesterol and lipid homeostasis. *Nature*, 442(7103), pp.700-704.
- Yoshinari, K., Takagi, S., Yoshimasa, T., Sugatani, J. and Miwa, M., 2006. Hepatic CYP3A expression is attenuated in obese mice fed a high-fat diet. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 23(6), pp.1188-1200.
- Yu, M., Ives, D., Ramesha, C.S., 1997a. Synthesis of prostaglandin E2 ethanolamide from anandamide by cyclooxygenase-2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(34), pp.21181-21186.
- Yu, S., Avery, L., Baude, E.J. and Garbers, D.L., 1997b. Guanylyl cyclase expression in specific sensory neurons: a new family of chemosensory receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(7), pp.3384-3387.
- Zaher, H., Fernandez-Salguero, P.M., Letterio, J., Sheikh, M.S., Fornace, A.J. Jr., Roberts, A.B. and Gonzalez, F.J., 1998. The involvement of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the activation of transforming growth factor-β and apoptosis. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 54(2), pp.313-321.
- Zhang, Q.Y., Dunbar, D. and Kaminsky, L., 2000. Human cytochrome P-450 metabolism of retinals to retinoic acids. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals*, 28(3), pp.292-297.
- Zhang, Y., Ma, C., Delohery, T., Nasipak, B., Foat, B.C., Bounoutas, A., Bussemaker, H.J., Kim, S.K. and Chalfie, M., 2002. Identification of genes expressed in *C. elegans* touch receptor neurons. *Nature*, 418(6895), pp.331-335.
- Zhang, S.O., Box, A.C., Xu, N., Le Men, J., Yu, J., Guo, F., Trimble, R. and Yi Mak, H., 2010. Genetic and dietary regulation of lipid droplet expansion in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(10), pp.4640-4645.
- Zhang, P., Zhang, Y., Dou, H., Yin, J., Chen, Y., Pang, X., Vajta, G., Bolund, L., Du, Y. and Ma, R.Z., 2012. Handmade cloned transgenic piglets expressing the nematode *fat-1* gene. *Cell Reprogramming*, 14(3), pp.258-266.

- Zhang, J., Li, X., Jevince, A.R., Guan, L., Wang, J., Hall, D.H., Huang, X. and Ding, M., 2013. Neuronal target identification requires AHA-1-mediated fine-tuning of Wnt signaling in *C. elegans. PLoS Genetics*, 9(6), p.e1003618.
- Zhou, Y., Tung, H.Y., Tsai, Y.M., Hsu, S.C., Chang, H.W., Kawasaki, H., Tseng, H.C., Plunkett, B., Gao, P., Hung, C.H., Vonakis, B.M. and Huang, S.K., 2013. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor controls murine mast cell homeostasis. *Blood*, 121(16), pp.3195-3204.
- Zimmermann, C.R., Orr, W.C., Leclerc, R.F., Barnard, E.C. and Timberlake, W.E., 1980. Molecular cloning and selection of genes regulated in *Aspergillus* development. *Cell*, 21(3), pp.709-715.
- Zygmunt, P.M., Petersson, J., Andersson, D.A., Chuang, H., Sørgård, M., Di Marzo, V., Julius, D. and Högestätt, E.D., 1999. Vanilloid receptors on sensory nerves mediate the vasodilator action of anandamide. *Nature*, 400(6743), pp.452-457.

VUOKKO AARNIO

Functions of AHR-1 and CYP-35A Subfamily Genes in Caenorhabditis elegans

Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) is a transcription factor aberrantly activated by some toxins. Its target genes include cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes. In this thesis, *Caenorhabditis elegans* is used to demonstrate a role for the AHR ortholog AHR-1 in neuronal function, growth and metabolism. Moreover, AHR-1 and *Caenorhabditis elegans* CYP-35A subfamily members are shown to take part in the regulation of fatty acid diversity and possibly lipid signaling. Many of the roles presented here appear conserved in mammals and may help to understand mechanisms of action of toxins.



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences

ISBN 978-952-61-1507-8